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PART I

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
In addition to historical information, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the United

States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are statements that do not directly relate to any historical or
current fact. When used herein, words such as "expects," "anticipates," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," "plans," "intends," “future,” “will,” “would,”
“could,” “can,” “may,” "target," "goal" and similar words are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Examples of forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, statements we make concerning the financial condition and results of operations and our expectations as to our future
growth, prospects, financial outlook and business strategy for fiscal 2024 or future fiscal years, our plans to spin off and merge with Amentum our
Critical Missions Solutions (“CMS”) business and a portion of our Divergent Solutions business in a proposed transaction that is intended to be tax-
free to stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes, our and our stockholders respective ownership percentages of the combined company, the
amount of cash payment and value to be derived from the disposition of Jacobs’ stake in the combined company, the expected timing, structure and
tax treatment of the proposed transaction, the ability of the parties to complete the proposed transaction, and the potential benefits and synergies of
the proposed transaction, including the future financial and operating results and strategic benefits, and any assumptions underlying any of the
foregoing. Although such statements are based on management’s current estimates and expectations and/or currently available competitive,
financial, and economic data, forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain, and you should not place undue reliance on such statements as
actual results may differ materially. We caution the reader that there are a variety of risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from what is contained, projected or implied by our forward-looking statements. Such factors include uncertainties as to the
structure and timing of the proposed transaction, the impact of the proposed transaction on Jacobs’ and the combined company’s businesses if the
transaction is completed, including a possible impact on Jacobs’ credit profile, and a possible decrease in the trading price of Jacobs' and/or the
combined company’s shares, the possibility that the proposed transaction, if completed, may not qualify for the expected tax treatment, the ability to
obtain all required regulatory approvals, the possibility that closing conditions for the proposed transaction may not be satisfied or waived, on a timely
basis or otherwise, the risk that any consents or approvals required in connection with the proposed transaction may not be received, the risk that the
proposed transaction may not be completed on the terms or in the time-frame expected by the parties, unexpected costs, charges or expenses
resulting from the proposed transaction, business and management strategies and the growth expectations of the combined company, the inability of
Jacobs’ and the combined company to retain and hire key personnel, customers or suppliers while the proposed transaction is pending or after it is
completed, and the ability of the Company to eliminate all stranded costs, as well as other factors related to our business, such as our ability to fully
execute on our three-year corporate strategy, including our ability to invest in the tools needed to implement our strategy, competition from existing
and future competitors in our target markets, our ability to achieve the cost-savings and synergies contemplated by our recent acquisitions within the
expected time frames or to achieve them fully and to successfully integrate acquired businesses while retaining key personnel, the impact of any
pandemic, and any resulting economic downturn on our results, prospects and opportunities, measures or restrictions imposed by governments and
health officials in response to the pandemic, the timing of the award of projects and funding and potential changes to the amounts provided for, under
the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, as well as other legislation related to governmental spending, any changes in U.S. or foreign tax laws,
statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances that may adversely impact our future financial positions or results of operations, financial market risks that
may affect the Company, including by affecting the Company's access to capital, the cost of such capital and/or the Company's funding obligations
under defined benefit pension and postretirement plans, as well as general economic conditions, including inflation and the actions taken by monetary
authorities in response to inflation, changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates, changes in capital markets, instability in the
banking industry, or the impact of a possible recession or economic downturn on our results, prospects and opportunities, and geopolitical events and
conflicts, among others. The impact of such matters includes, but is not limited to, the possible reduction in demand for certain of our product
solutions and services and the delay or abandonment of ongoing or anticipated projects due to the financial condition of our clients and suppliers or to
governmental budget constraints or changes to governmental budgetary priorities; the inability of our clients to meet their payment obligations in a
timely manner or at all; potential issues and risks related to a significant portion of our employees working remotely; illness, travel restrictions and
other workforce disruptions that have and could continue to negatively affect our supply chain and our ability to timely and satisfactorily complete our
clients’ projects; and the inability of governments in certain of the countries in which we operate to effectively mitigate the financial or other impacts of
any future pandemics or infectious disease outbreaks on their economies and workforces and our operations therein. The foregoing factors and
potential future developments are inherently uncertain, unpredictable and, in many cases, beyond our control. For a description of these and
additional factors that may occur that could cause actual results to differ from our forward-looking statements, see Item 1A—Risk Factors below. We
undertake no obligation to release publicly any revisions or updates to any forward-looking statements. We encourage you to read carefully the risk
factors described herein and in other documents we file from time to time with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references herein to "Jacobs" or the "Registrant" are to Jacobs Solutions Inc. and its predecessors,
and references to the "Company", "we", "us" or "our" are to Jacobs Solutions Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. On August 29, 2022, Jacobs
Engineering Group Inc. (JEGI), the predecessor to Jacobs Solutions
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Inc., implemented a holding company structure, which resulted in Jacobs Solutions Inc. becoming the parent company of, and successor issuer to,
JEGI (the "Holding Company Reorganization"). For purposes of this Annual Report, references to the "Company", "we", "us" or "our" or our
management or business at any point prior to August 29, 2022 (the "Holding Company Implementation Date") refer to JEGI and its consolidated
subsidiaries as the predecessor to Jacobs Solutions Inc.

On May 9, 2023, the Company announced our intention to spin-off our Critical Mission Solutions business into an independent publicly traded
company to Jacobs’ stockholders. On November 20, 2023, Jacobs entered into a definitive agreement to spin-off and combine our CMS and Cyber
and Intelligence government services (part of Divergent Solutions ("DVS")) businesses with Amentum, in a Reverse Morris Trust transaction intended
to be tax-free to Jacobs’ shareholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The transaction, which is expected to close in fiscal year 2024, is subject
to regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions. CMS and DVS are each a reportable segment and are reported in our continuing
operations for the 12 months ended September 29, 2023.

Item 1.     BUSINESS

Creating a More Connected, Sustainable World

At Jacobs, we’re challenging today to reinvent tomorrow by solving the world’s most critical problems for thriving cities, resilient environments,
mission-critical outcomes, operational advancement, scientific discovery and cutting-edge manufacturing, turning abstract ideas into realities that
transform the world for good. Leveraging a talent force of approximately 60,000, Jacobs provides a full spectrum of professional services including
consulting, technical, engineering, scientific and project delivery for the government and private sector.

Over the last seven years, Jacobs has been on a transformation journey, starting with a re-emphasis on business excellence, our culture and brand,
and evolving our portfolio to create an inclusive, technology-forward company producing the critical solutions of tomorrow. This transformation
included acquiring a 65% stake in PA Consulting Group Limited ("PA Consulting") in fiscal 2021. Acquisitions of Buffalo Group, BlackLynx and
StreetLight further positioned us as a leader in high-value government services and technology-enabled solutions.

Our brand promise: "Challenging today. Reinventing tomorrow." signals our transition to a global technology-forward solutions company. We began
trading as “J” on the New York Stock Exchange in December 2019, and in March 2021 our Global Industry Classifications Standard code changed to
Research & Consulting Services. Our Focus 2023 Transformation Office drove further innovation, delivering value-creating solutions for our clients
and leveraging an integrated digital and technology strategy to improve our efficiency and effectiveness, ultimately freeing up valuable time and
resources for reinvestment in our people.

Boldly Moving Forward

In March 2022, Jacobs launched a three-year strategy that builds on our success over the preceding three years and takes advantage of a new lens
crafted from the incredible pace of change in the world and in our markets. We’re now focused on broadening our leadership in high growth sectors
aligned with long-term secular trends, such as infrastructure renewal and investment, and the global transition to more sustainable ways of living. Our
strategy is driven by our purpose and values and reflects our vision of becoming a company like no other. An extensive evaluation of global trends,
capabilities and markets to understand the largest opportunities, projected spend and growth rates identified three growth accelerators: Climate
Response, Consulting & Advisory and Data Solutions, which cut across our entire organization and markets creating connections among global
market trends, the solutions we deliver and our company purpose. Our three growth accelerators are delivering significant value for our clients,
positioning Jacobs for high-margin growth while advancing sustainability and social value in the communities where we serve.

We know we have a pivotal role to play across the entire Climate Response value chain – focusing on end-to-end solutions in energy transition,
decarbonization, adaptation and resilience, and regenerative and nature-based climate solutions. Today our clients are facing a rapidly changing
world - navigating multifaceted challenges such as the increasing pace of technological change, budget and supply chain limitations, global climate
change events and complex geopolitical conditions. Through our Consulting & Advisory capabilities, we deepen our involvement with our clients to
help them conceptualize, shape and realize their future. We also harness our Data Solutions, providing data and digital capabilities,
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products and tools to help our clients operate more efficiently in a safe environment and capitalize on their data more than ever before. We're
empowering innovation and ingenuity to unlock better outcomes.

We believe our deep global knowledge in our core sectors, applied together with the latest advances in technology, are why customers large and
small choose to partner with Jacobs. In fiscal 2022, we operated in two lines of business (LOBs): Critical Mission Solutions and People & Places
Solutions, and a third business segment as a result of our majority investment in PA Consulting. As part of our strategy, starting in fiscal 2023 Jacobs
formed a new enabling platform, Divergent Solutions (DVS), which serves as the core foundation for developing and delivering innovative, next-
generation cloud, cyber, data and digital technologies - further strengthening our ability to drive value for our clients.

Jacobs holds leading positions across our sectors in the Engineering News Record (ENR)'s rankings for Advanced Manufacturing, Cities & Places,
Energy & Environment, Health & Life Sciences and Infrastructure. In fiscal 2023, we ranked № 1 on ENR's list of Top 500 design firms for the sixth
consecutive year, № 1 on ENR's Top 50 Program Management Firms for the third consecutive year, and № 1 on ENR's Top 20 Firms in Combined
Design and CM-PM Professional Services Revenue.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. (the predecessor parent company) created a new holding company, Jacobs
Solutions Inc., which became the new parent of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Jacobs Solutions Inc. is now more closely aligning our public identity
with a global technology-forward solutions company. As a result of the transaction, the predecessor company’s then-current stockholders
automatically became stockholders of Jacobs Solutions Inc., on a one-for-one basis, with the same number of shares and same ownership
percentage of the Company’s common stock that they held in the predecessor company immediately prior to the transaction.
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Challenging today. Reinventing tomorrow
Our values continue to guide our behaviors, relationships and outcomes — allowing us to act as one company and unify us worldwide when
interacting with our clients, employees, communities and shareholders.

• We do things right. We always act with integrity — taking responsibility for our work, caring for our people and staying focused on safety
and sustainability. We make investments in our clients, people and communities, so we can grow together.

• We challenge the accepted. We know that to create a better future, we must ask difficult questions. We always stay curious and are not
afraid to try new things.

• We aim higher. We do not settle — always looking beyond to raise the bar and deliver with excellence. We are committed to our clients
by bringing innovative solutions that lead to profitable growth and shared success.

• We live inclusion. We put people at the heart of our business. We embrace different perspectives, collaborating to make a positive
impact. Through a strong focus on inclusion, with a diverse team of visionaries, thinkers and doers, we build trust — in each other and
across our company.
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We do things right
Jacobs' ethics and Code of Conduct are rooted in our values and provide the standards and support to help us successfully navigate issues, make
the right decisions and conduct our business with the integrity that reflects our heritage and ethical reputation. We hold our suppliers and business
partners to the same standards.

From the way we operate our business, to the sustainable solutions we co-create with clients and other organizations, we look for ways to make a
positive environmental, societal and economic impact for our people, businesses, governments and communities around the world.

Aligned with the United Nations' (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), PlanBeyond® is our approach to integrating sustainability throughout
our operations and client solutions — planning beyond today for a more sustainable future for everyone. We identified six core SDGs that are material
to our business, where we can have the most influence and impact, and we remain committed to contribute toward all 17 of the UN SDGs. We also
continue to remain agile as our business evolves. Given the level of interconnectedness, complexity and pace of change in our world and company,
we recognize that other SDGs are of elevated importance to Jacobs, too. Notably these include, SDG 7 - Affordable and Clean Energy; SDGs 14 and
15 - Life Below Water and Life on Land, respectively; and SDG 5 - Gender Equality.

Industry Leadership on Climate Response

Jacobs identified Climate Response as one of three core growth accelerators within our fiscal 2022 to 2024 Company Strategy – aligning positive
societal impact with long-term business growth.

Our key ambitions focus on driving positive impact through our operations and client solutions - including achieving net zero across the value chain by
2040 and contributing to the UN SDGs across all of our solutions by 2025. Our net-zero targets are approved by the Science Based Targets initiative
and our carbon neutrality status is in line with the international standard PAS 2060. Detailed in our Carbon Neutrality Commitment, starting in 2020
and throughout fiscal 2021, we achieved 100% low-carbon electricity, and we also became carbon neutral for our operations and business travel in
2020. We continue to maintain these commitments.
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In fiscal 2023, Jacobs launched our inaugural Sustainability Linked Bonds (SLBs) further reflecting our industry leadership and commitment to
incorporating sustainability into the Company's financing strategy. The SLBs' performance is underpinned by two Key Performance Indicators, one
that is directly linked to Gender Equality and Reduced Inequalities (UN SDG 5 and UN SDG 10) and the other to Climate Action (UN SDG 13).

Our ESG Disclosures Report shares our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) performance, reported in alignment with the Sustainability
Accounting Standards Board framework. We have sustained industry leading ISS Prime Status for our ESG corporate rating – this is awarded to
companies with an ESG performance above the sector-specific Prime threshold, which means that we fulfil ambitious absolute performance
requirements. In fiscal 2023, Jacobs was included in the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index 2022, reinforcing our position as a global sustainability
leader. The Dow Jones Sustainability World Index tracks the financial performance of leading sustainability-driven companies worldwide. Jacobs is
one of only 325 organizations globally to make the list, out of the more than 10,000 publicly traded companies that are invited to participate in the
assessment.

We received the World Environment Center’s prestigious 2023 Gold Medal Award recognizing our international corporate achievement in sustainable
development. We also earned a place on CDP's “A” List for climate for the first time and received a gold medal in the EcoVadis Sustainability Ratings.

Supporting our Communities

We focus on putting our values into practice. Around the world, our people craft solutions that affect the way people live; helping to improve social,
environmental and economic resiliency.

Every year, we invest in local communities not only where our employees live and work, but globally, collaborating with charities and not-for-profit
organizations to make a positive impact and live our values. Through Collectively℠, our global giving and volunteering program, employees can
support eligible charities with Jacobs matching donations to a certain level, request a company donation to a charity of their choice that is aligned with
our values and strategic causes, and receive paid volunteer time and rewards.

In fiscal 2023, we donated over $3.2 million to 2,700+ charities across 29 countries. Our people tracked approximately 21,000 volunteer hours and
completed nearly 1,700 engagement activities.

Social Value and Equity Advisory

Supporting UN SDG 10: Reduced Inequalities, we integrate social value and equity considerations and innovations into the solutions we deliver for
our clients. We work with our clients to help them realize social value opportunities through their projects and services by embedding social,
economic and environmental benefit generation in what they do. Our blueprint for creating social value through infrastructure investments sets the
overarching framework for the solutions we provide to help clients create social value and contribute to a more inclusive economy.

Social value is a fast-evolving field, and its successful delivery requires a wide range of specialisms. Our partner and fully owned subsidiary
Simetrica-Jacobs specializes in social value, wellbeing research and impact evaluation, and has contributed to internationally endorsed methods set
out by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and government-produced guidelines, including the U.K. Government’s
HM Treasury Green Book. We help clients understand how they can transform local, city and regional decision-making – identifying innovative,
inclusive and ethical investments that will drive social change, spread prosperity and meet the growing challenges facing communities.
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As global challenges to our security, wellbeing and ability to operate evolve, BeyondZero® continues to drive a safer, more secure, healthier and
more resilient future for our Jacobs family. Aligning with UN SDG 3: Good Health & Wellbeing, we stay focused on managing Health, Safety and
Environment (HSE) and security risks effectively and leveraging our Culture of Caring℠ to deliver the best outcomes for our people, the environment,
our clients, our communities and our shareholders. Through our Mental Health Matters program, we empower our workforce, so they know
they work in an environment where their mental health and wellbeing is the top priority and where everyone can "bring their best whole self to work."

We challenge the accepted

To us, everything we do – whether tackling water scarcity, aging infrastructure, access to life-saving therapies or sophisticated cyberattacks – is more
than a job. We work every day to make the world better for all.

Supporting UN SDG 9: Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure, we foster a culture of technology and innovation to support the advancement of
society. For us, innovation means creating and delivering value and Beyond If  is our global innovation program instilling and sustaining our
innovation culture. It represents our creativity and agility to challenge the accepted, with the domain expertise to push beyond our boundaries and
deliver for today and into tomorrow. We act to turn ideas into reality and create outcomes that deliver value for our clients and society at large.

We aim higher
We take on some of the world’s biggest challenges, bringing a different way of thinking to everything we do, challenging the status quo and
questioning what others might accept. We craft solutions that affect the way people live. From delivering vital infrastructure to help communities adapt
and thrive to retrofitting vaccine facilities to protect public health, we solve for better, never losing sight of our responsibility to each other.

BeyondExcellence℠ is our global approach to quality, performance excellence, continual improvement and recognizing those who set the new
standard in delivering for our clients. With a core set of processes in place, BeyondExcellence gives us a framework to deliver value on our projects
through good governance, assurance and improvement.

We live inclusion

At Jacobs, we’re building an inclusive and diverse culture to provide a solid foundation for selecting, developing and retaining the best and brightest
minds at Jacobs — a culture we call TogetherBeyond℠. We’re taking tangible action to drive meaningful, measurable change both in our company
and in the communities we serve. Creating a culture of belonging where everyone can thrive – where our differences are harnessed to bring the
innovative, extraordinary solutions to life that our clients demand from us. We also recognize that our Inclusion & Diversity (I&D) and holistic wellbeing
efforts are key components of the "S" in ESG — the social value and equity considerations for our people as well as the communities we serve.

SM

Page 9



Our eight Jacobs Employee Networks (JENs) promote inclusion and equality, not only within Jacobs but with our clients, potential recruits and within
the communities that we serve. The JENs are employee-led and organized, partnering with leadership to shape an inclusive organization and ensure
everyone feels that they belong.
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We maintain agile and disciplined capital deployment
M&A and Divestitures

Consistent with our profitable growth strategy, Jacobs pursues acquisitions, divestitures, strategic investments and other transactions to maximize
long-term value by continuing to reshape our portfolio to higher value solutions and accelerating profitable growth strategy. The Company has
recently made, or announced its intention to make, the following acquisitions, strategic investments and divestitures:

• On May 9, 2023, the Company announced our intention to spin-off our Critical Mission Solutions business into an independent publicly traded
company to Jacobs’ stockholders. On November 20, 2023, Jacobs entered into a definitive agreement to spin-off and combine our CMS and
Cyber and Intelligence government services (part of Divergent Solutions ("DVS")) businesses with Amentum, in a Reverse Morris Trust
transaction intended to be tax-free to Jacobs’ shareholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The transaction, which is expected to close
in fiscal year 2024, is subject to regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.

• On February 4, 2022, Jacobs acquired StreetLight Data, Inc. ("StreetLight"). StreetLight is a pioneer of mobility analytics who uses its data
and machine learning resources to shed light on mobility and enable users to solve complex transportation problems.

• On November 19, 2021, Jacobs acquired BlackLynx, Inc. ("BlackLynx"), a provider of high-performance software, to complement Jacobs'
portfolio of cyber, intelligence and digital solutions.

• On March 2, 2021, Jacobs completed the strategic investment of a 65% interest in PA Consulting, a UK-based leading innovation and
transformation consulting firm.

• On November 24, 2020, Jacobs completed the acquisition of Buffalo Group, a leader in advanced cyber and intelligence solutions.

Share Repurchases

During fiscal 2023, the Company repurchased $265.7 million in shares.

Shareholder Dividends

During fiscal 2023, the Company paid dividends of $0.23 per share in the first quarter and $0.26 per share in the second, third and fourth quarters.
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Operating Segments
The services we provided to our markets in fiscal 2023 fall into the following two lines of business (LOB): Critical Mission Solutions (CMS) and People
& Places Solutions (P&PS). Our LOBs, our business unit Divergent Solutions (DVS), which operates as an integrated offering to both LOBs, and a
majority investment in PA Consulting, constitute the Company’s operating segments. 

For additional information regarding our segments, including information about our financial results by segment and financial results by geography,
see Note 19 - Segment Information of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Mission Solutions (CMS)
In fiscal 2023, Jacobs’ Critical Mission Solutions line of business provided a full spectrum of solutions for clients to address evolving challenges like
digital transformation and modernization, national security and defense, space exploration, digital asset management, the clean energy transition,
and nuclear decommissioning and cleanup. Our core capabilities include systems and software development and application integration services and
consulting; enterprise level IT operations and mission IT services; engineering, design and construction of specialized technical facilities and systems;
testing and mission integration; enterprise operations and maintenance; program management; research, development, test and evaluation services;
specialized training and mission operations; environmental remediation; and other highly technical consulting solutions to government agencies as
well as commercial clients in the U.S. and international markets.

We leverage our deep experience to support clients in the Aerospace, Automotive, Telecommunications, Intelligence, Defense and Energy sectors to
develop lasting solutions in the communities where we live and work.

Our clients include the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD), the Combatant Commands, the U.S. Intelligence Community, NASA, the U.S. Department
of Energy (DoE), EDF Nuclear Generation, the U.K. Ministry of Defence, the U.K. Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA), and the Australian
Department of Defence, as well as private sector clients mainly in the aerospace, automotive, motorsports, energy and telecom sectors.

Serving mission-critical sectors

The U.S. Government is the world’s largest buyer of technical services, and in fiscal 2023, approximately 70% of CMS’s revenue was earned from
serving the DoD, Intelligence Community, DoE and other U.S. Federal Civilian governmental entities.

Trends affecting our government clients include an evolving external threat environment including digital transformation and IT modernization;
national security and defense infrastructure modernization; space exploration and domain dominance; intelligent asset management to improve
capability and extend the life of aging facilities; research and development of nuclear fission and fusion energy technologies and solutions to
accelerate the global clean energy transition; and decommissioning and remediation of legacy nuclear sites, all of which are driving demand for our
highly technical solutions.

We are also witnessing an increase in the capabilities of unmanned aircraft and hypersonic weapons, which is impacting both offensive and defensive
spending priorities among our clients and is a driver for next generation solutions such as C5ISR (command, control, communications, computer,
combat systems, intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance) and advanced aeronautical and aerothermal testing, respectively. Additionally, we
have seen an increase in space exploration initiatives both from the U.S. government, such as NASA’s Artemis program to return to the moon in
2024, as well as the commercial sector.

Within nuclear energy and as part of our Climate Response, our customers have decades-long initiatives to manage and upgrade existing energy
infrastructure, construct new nuclear power plants as well as small and advanced modular reactors, and decommission and remediate end-of-life
assets. Our customers also manage critical nuclear facilities supporting national security objectives.

Our international clients, which accounted for 22% of fiscal 2023 revenue, have also increased demand for our IT and advanced infrastructure
solutions, defense and nuclear energy capabilities.

In fiscal 2023, approximately 8% of CMS’s revenue was from U.S. commercial sectors, including telecommunications, which anticipates a large
cellular infrastructure build-out from 4G to 5G technology. Like our government services clients, our commercial clients are seeking ways to improve
capabilities, reduce maintenance costs and optimize their facilities
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with network connected facilities and equipment. They also look to CMS for advanced research and development systems and facilities that enable
advanced product development.

On May 9, 2023, the Company announced our intention to spin-off our Critical Mission Solutions business into an independent publicly traded
company to Jacobs’ stockholders. On November 20, 2023, Jacobs entered into a definitive agreement to spin-off and combine our Critical Mission
Solutions and Cyber and Intelligence government services businesses (part of Divergent Solutions ("DVS")) with Amentum, in a Reverse Morris Trust
transaction intended to be tax-free to Jacobs’ shareholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The transaction, which is expected to close in fiscal
year 2024, is subject to regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.

People & Places Solutions (P&PS)
In fiscal 2023, Jacobs' People & Places Solutions line of business provided end-to-end solutions for our clients’ most complex challenges related to
climate change, energy transition, connected mobility, integrated water management and biopharmaceutical manufacturing. In doing so, we combine
deep experience in the following sectors - Advanced Manufacturing, Cities & Places, Energy & Environment, Transportation and Water.

Our core skills revolve around consulting, planning, architecture, design, engineering, infrastructure delivery services including project, program and
construction management and long-term operation of facilities. Solutions are delivered as standalone professional service engagements,
comprehensive program management partnerships, and selective progressive design-build and construction management at-risk delivery services.
Increasingly, we use data science and technology-enabled expertise to deliver positive and enduring outcomes for the clients and communities we
serve.

Our clients include national, state and local governments in the U.S., Europe, U.K., Middle East, and Asia Pacific, and multinational and local private
sector clients throughout the world.

Serving broad industry sectors that support people and places

Infrastructure modernization; climate change; urbanization and population growth; water, food and energy security; strengthening global supply
chains; and digital transformation are driving new challenges and opportunities for our clients. These drivers require holistic, integrated and
sustainable solutions that draw on our significant knowledge in the markets we serve. For example, an airport is now a smart city with extensive
operational, cybersecurity, sustainability and autonomous mobility requirements. Major projects and programs now require advanced analytics to plan
for climate adaptation, just and equitable inclusion, and next-generation mobility services. The future of major utilities (water, power/energy,
telecommunications) is highly technology-enabled, using digital twins, predictive analytics and smart metering technology to maximize services in the
most carbon and commercially efficient manner while protecting the natural environment and the security of supply.

This increase in technology-enabled solutions is a key factor in our growth strategy - both organic and through our recent acquisitions and strategic
investments. Our business model is evolving to include proprietary software and analytics to solve modern challenges. A key example of this is the
addition of StreetLight's on-demand analytics which are transforming transportation and infrastructure solutions, enabling smarter, more impactful
investments.

The combination of these attributes results in a significant effort to modernize infrastructure around the globe. Key examples include advising
transportation agencies in major cities as they decarbonize vehicle fleets, including the electrification of New York City’s bus fleet – the largest in
North America – and San Francisco. We design and deliver battery and vehicle manufacturing facilities for private clients across North America and
Europe. In the Energy & Power space, we are supporting the buildout of enabling infrastructure supporting the development of offshore wind assets,
especially in the northeast United States. Our knowledge in the environmental, water and wastewater, solid waste, aviation and infrastructure markets
has made us a top-ranked environmental consultant and we have supported clients with PFAS assessment and remediation at thousands of sites.
Finally, we have long-standing partnerships with the world’s leading life sciences firms, designing and delivering advanced facilities that manufacture
critical life-changing vaccines and therapies.

A strong foundation of innovative solutions, a culture of sustainability and inclusion, a focus on climate response and resilience, and an expansive
consulting and advisory mindset are woven into every project we deliver for the benefit of people, places and the planet in the communities we serve.
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Divergent Solutions (DVS)
Jacobs’ business unit and operating segment, Divergent Solutions, serves as the core foundation for developing and delivering innovative, next-
generation cloud, cyber, data and digital technologies. DVS further strengthens our ability to drive value for clients of both LOBs by leveraging a full
spectrum of cyber, data analytics, systems and software application integration services across Jacobs. Our core capabilities include global strategic
alliances, innovation collaboration, next-generation technologies, software and data as a service, and data and secure solutions, all aligned to the
three high-growth verticals of Transportation, Water and National Security. DVS clients include government agencies and commercial clients in the
U.S. and international markets. The Reverse Morris Trust transaction announced on November 20, 2023 includes portions of DVS, including the
Cyber & Intelligence business.

PA Consulting (PA)
Jacobs invested in a 65% stake in PA Consulting, the company that is bringing ingenuity to life. PA accelerates new growth ideas from concept,
through design and development and to commercial success, and revitalizes organizations, building leadership, culture, systems and processes to
make innovation a reality. PA’s team of approximately 4,000 strategists, innovators, designers, consultants, digital experts, scientists, engineers and
technologists work across seven sectors: consumer and manufacturing, defense and security, energy and utilities, financial services, government,
health and life sciences, and transport to make a positive impact alongside the clients it supports.

PA has a diverse mix of private and public sector clients. Private sector clients include global household names like Unilever and Pret A Manger; and
start-ups like PulPac, which is converting plant fibers into sustainable packaging, and Hydrow, with its award-winning indoor rowing machine. Public
sector clients include national and local government entities like the U.K.’s Ministry of Defence and National Health Service, the Swedish Payments
Authority (Utbetalningsmyndigheten), and the U.K.’s Hampshire County Council.

In a fast-moving, complex world, we’re deploying the collective strengths of Jacobs and PA to create significant opportunities for our clients to adapt,
innovate and transform. Alongside Copenhagen Metro – one of the most advanced public transport systems in Europe – we’re providing strategic
management and technical services to support its operations and maintenance. We’ve also been selected by the U.K. Department for Transport to
provide technical and commercial advice on its portfolio of rail and other transport mode agreements, major projects and programs, and its policy and
strategic work in transport.

Significant Customers
The following table sets forth the percentage of total revenues earned directly or indirectly from agencies of the U.S. federal government for each of
the last three fiscal years:

2023 2022  2021
31% 31%  33%

Given the percentage of total revenue derived directly from the U.S. federal government, the loss of U.S. federal government agencies as customers
could have a material adverse effect on the Company. In addition, any or all of our government contracts could be terminated, we could be
suspended or debarred from all government contract work, or payment of our costs could be disallowed. Approximately 64% of revenue derived
directly from the U.S. federal government is in the CMS segment. For more information on risks relating to our government contracts, see Item 1A -
Risk Factors.

Contracts
While there is considerable variation in the pricing provisions of the contracts we undertake, our contracts generally fall into two broad categories:
cost-reimbursable and fixed-price. The following table sets forth the percentages of total revenues represented by these types of contracts for each of
the last three fiscal years:
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2023 2022  2021
Cost-reimbursable 74% 74% 76%
Fixed-price, limited risk 21% 21% 18%
Fixed-price, at risk 5% 5% 6%

In accordance with industry practice, most of our contracts (including those with the U.S. federal government) are subject to termination at the
discretion of the client, which is discussed in greater detail in Item 1A - Risk Factors. In such situations, our contracts typically provide for
reimbursement of costs incurred and payment of fees earned through the date of termination.

Cost-Reimbursable Contracts

Cost-reimbursable contracts generally provide for reimbursement of costs incurred plus an amount of profit. The profit element may be in the form of
a simple mark-up applied to the labor costs incurred or it may be in the form of a fee, or a combination of a mark-up and a fee. The fee element can
also take several forms. The fee may be a fixed amount; it may be an amount based on a percentage of the costs incurred; or it may be an incentive
fee based on targets, milestones, or performance factors defined in the contract.

Fixed-Price Contracts

Fixed-price contracts include both “lump sum bid” contracts and “negotiated fixed-price” contracts. Under lump sum bid contracts, we typically bid
against competitors based on client-furnished specifications. This type of pricing presents certain inherent risks, including the possibility of
ambiguities in the specifications received, problems with new technologies, and economic and other changes that may occur over the contract period.
Additionally, it is not unusual for lump sum bid contracts to lead to an adversarial relationship with clients, which is contrary to our relationship-based
business model. Accordingly, lump sum bid contracts are not our preferred form of contract. In contrast, under a negotiated fixed-price contract, we
are selected as the contractor first and then we negotiate a price with our client. Negotiated fixed-price contracts frequently exist in single-
responsibility arrangements where we perform some portion of the work before negotiating the total price of the project. Thus, although both types of
contracts involve a firm price for the client, the lump sum bid contract provides the greater degree of risk to us in our services contracts as well as
construction. However, because of economies that may be realized during the contract term, both negotiated fixed-price and lump sum bid contracts
may offer greater profit potential than other types of contracts. The Company carefully manages the risk inherent in these types of contracts. In recent
years, most of our fixed-price work has been either negotiated fixed-price contracts or lump sum bid contracts for design and/or project services,
rather than turnkey construction.

Competition
We compete with many companies across the world including technology consulting, federal IT services, aerospace, defense and engineering firms.
Typically, no single company or companies dominate the markets in which we provide services, and in many cases we partner with our competitors or
other companies to jointly pursue projects. AECOM, Booz Allen, CACI, KBR, Leidos, ManTech, Parsons, SAIC, Tetra Tech, WSP, General Dynamics,
Northrop Grumman, Accenture, Altair, Stantec, Montrose, Capgemini, Cognizant, DXC Technology, Fluor, 3LHarris, EPAM Systems, Globant, Endava,
Exponent, IBM, Infosys, Deloitte, KPMG, PwC, Perficient, Procure, ICF International, TTEC and Huron are some of our competitors. We compete
based on the following factors, among others: technical capabilities, reputation for quality, price of services, safety record, availability of qualified
personnel, and ability to timely perform work and contract terms.

Our People

Our people and our culture are fundamental to what truly makes Jacobs. Authentic leadership and a commitment to living our core values every day
creates a culture of trust, respect and empowerment across our business to help us deliver the best outcomes for all our stakeholders. Together, we
deliver extraordinary solutions for a better tomorrow and live by our employee value statement: "Jacobs. A world where you can." Our strategy further
connects our people to our purpose and helps us continue to evolve our culture to support, empower and enable our talent to thrive.

Attracting, Engaging and Developing our Workforce
As of September 29, 2023, we had a workforce of approximately 60,000 people worldwide, including a contingent workforce of approximately 2,900
people. This represents an increase of 2% in our total workforce year-over-year. The
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breakdown of our employees by region is as follows:

Region
Percentage of Global

Workforce
Americas 55 %
Europe (including U.K) 26 %
Asia Pacific (including India) 15 %
Middle East and Africa 4 %
(1) Excludes contingent workforce

The success of Jacobs is dependent on our ability to hire, retain, engage and leverage highly qualified employees, across the full spectrum of
technical, professional, scientific and consulting disciplines.

By fostering learning and unlocking career opportunities for our people, we attract and retain the best talent to deliver for our clients and fuel long-
term growth for Jacobs. Our global learning and development resources help our talent grow and develop their careers while also sharing expertise
and specialized skills. Our global graduate development program and our local apprenticeships transition our future talent into our community with the
skills, networks and knowledge necessary to create the foundation for a successful career at Jacobs. We provide our interns with practical, relevant
“real life experience” to help support their professional goals. In fiscal 2023, close to 2,600 graduates, interns and apprentices were welcomed to our
global team.

Our people can pursue different careers and lifelong professional opportunities at Jacobs. We promote and foster agile careers enabling employees
to develop new skills and accelerate learning in different areas of our business. Our Jacobs Go! Program provides inter-regional and international six-
month secondments to enhance employee experience and support their connectivity across Jacobs. In fiscal 2023, we also introduced our Returnship
Program for talented professionals looking to refresh skills and reignite careers after an extended career break. As an employer of choice for diverse
talent, these programs enable us to bring more innovative thought and solutions into our teams to support our clients.

Having established a baseline for our organizational health with a comprehensive Culture Survey in 2021, we are conducting shorter, periodic pulse
surveys with employees to continually evaluate progress in priority areas and identify new opportunities for growth. In the most recent pulse survey,
our people generally fed back that they feel included, have a sense of personal accomplishment and are likely to recommend Jacobs to a friend. We
continue to make improvements in all areas including ensuring that advancement is fair and transparent.

Our unique employee experience platform – e3: engage. excel. elevate. – is not just a tool but a mindset enabling our employees to develop through
continuous feedback and celebrations, aligning priorities, learning new skills and increasing knowledge. As of October 23, 2023, 87% of our
employees have participated in their current annual conversation about their priorities and accomplishments. Employees also took the time to submit
approximately 27,000 celebrations to recognize the work and commitment of colleagues across the business.

In addition, in fiscal 2023, 263 of our Jacobs leaders completed Amplif(i)3, a program with top-notch educators, to strengthen inspirational leadership
and development of inclusive, innovative teams to enhance strategy engagement and execution across our global organization. Another successful
leadership program has been our award-winning CEO Leadership Roundtable series which helps our people leaders and influencers to strengthen
their leadership capabilities and grow as inspiring, impactful leaders. This past year, 8,577 Jacobs' people leaders were invited to programs led by
CEO Bob Pragada. They engaged on topics such as how leaders can focus on the most important actions to lead people, and how they lead through
times of professional and enterprise change. The program received a prestigious "Gold" Brandon Hall Group HCM Excellence Award.

We foster and encourage robust mentoring. Employees can request a mentor through e3 in our mentor match programs. Our eight Jacobs Employee
Networks (JENs) offer mentoring programs that connect members with leaders who understand the unique challenges of their journeys and provide
insight and guidance for those looking to elevate their careers. Our Board of Directors is also engaged with our JENs and leadership programs,
participating in panel discussions and mentoring events within the Company, and at industry events.

Focus on Inclusion and Diversity

(1)
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TogetherBeyond is our approach to living inclusion every day and enabling diversity and equity globally. Integral to our strategy and how our culture
continues to evolve, our TogetherBeyond approach supports a workplace where our people are curious, embrace different perspectives and harness
new ideas to bring the innovative, extraordinary solutions clients demand from us. We know that if our people feel connected and valued and that
they belong, then there is no limit to who they can be and what we can achieve together. Whether they connect through our JENs, our Communities
of Practice, or in other ways, our people can collaborate and drive pivotal initiatives within Jacobs that directly impact our clients and create a
workplace where everyone thrives.

Through TogetherBeyond, we tackle topics that are important to our employees such as equality, conscious inclusion and allyship. While providing
training and resources to our people is important, equally effective are the regular authentic and courageous conversations our grassroots employee
networks are creating around these topics. Through our JENs and other internal communities, our people play a critical role in attracting new talent
into our business, helping to shape our recruiting strategies and policies, our science, technology, engineering, arts and math (STEAM) programs,
and our accessibility practices.

Tangible leadership commitment and accountability helps drive our culture at Jacobs. At fiscal year-end 2023, our Board's independent directors were
55% diverse (race and gender), and our Executive Leadership Team was 71% diverse, based on self-reported data.

We hold leaders accountable to making sure that broad-based-diversity is reflected in their actions, their teams and the way we operate. Each year,
our people leaders commit to meaningful inclusion and diversity (I&D) actions. Our Senior Vice Presidents and above sign our annual I&D
commitment statement. Inclusive behaviors and outcomes are a formal component of all our leaders’ performance and compensation reviews, and all
leaders at Vice President level and above are encouraged to mentor junior members of staff, including those who have a different background from
themselves. This framework supports our essential I&D priorities – such as recruiting, developing and retaining outstanding veteran talent, advancing
the rights of LGBTQ+ people and creating an environment where people living with disabilities participate fully and meaningfully – and ensures that
we are propelling a new generation of visionary thinkers throughout our company. We also issued our new industry-leading Sustainability-Linked
Bond Framework, where the interest rates payable on the bonds are tied to Jacobs' commitment to increase gender diversity in leadership positions
by 2028.

An important component of these priorities is our “Be Seen @ Jacobs” data disclosure campaign which allows employees globally to confidentially
and voluntarily report the demographic data they want to report. This helps us enhance our data reporting, giving us a holistic overview of all our
talent in the business and the ability to identify and address any pay gaps or inequities that may exist.

As of September 29, 2023, our U.S. employees had the following race and ethnicity demographics based on self-reported data:
September 29, 2023

All U.S. Employees (1)
White 66.9 %
Hispanic / Latin 9.9 %
Black 8.1 %
Asian 7.9 %
Multiracial 2.8 %
American Indian or Alaska Native 0.5 %
Native Hawaiian / Other Pacific Islander 0.3 %
Not provided 3.6 %

(1) Includes U.S. employee population only (excludes contingent and craft employees)

Our focus on creating equal opportunities within Jacobs continues as we deliver on the commitments laid out in our Global Action Plan for Advancing
Justice and Equality (the "Action Plan") launched in fiscal 2020.

℠ 
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In the Action Plan, we continue to work toward our five-year target of investing $10 million by 2025 to support charitable donations aligned with the
Action Plan pillars, further STEAM outreach efforts to historically underrepresented groups, increase our support of diverse suppliers, and strengthen
our commitment to developing and hiring the best diverse talent. In fiscal 2023, we invested more than $1.7 million toward this commitment. We are
supporting several Historically Black Colleges or Universities (HBCUs), including Howard University where the Jacobs Equity and Advancement
Program, a scholarship program and student engagement plan, provides monetary supplement to STEAM education, as well as opportunities for
research, mentorship and continued STEAM outreach. We've also donated $1 million to support SEED School of LA County in South Los Angeles
supporting at risk students. Additionally, we’re supporting the Cowrie Scholarship Foundation’s mission to graduate 100 disadvantaged Black Britons
through U.K. universities in the next decade and we're working with 20/20 to help racially underrepresented people to access career and business
development opportunities. We're also partnering with Tent’s LGBTQ+ Refugee Mentorship Initiative, pairing Jacobs mentors with LGBTQ+ refugees
fleeing persecution. In fiscal 2023, we ranked in the top 75 employers of Social Mobility Foundation's Employer Index 2023.

Another key success story driven by the Action Plan is our ongoing commitment to supplier diversity, part of the Action Plan’s goal to “contribute to
structural change in the broader society”. We are focusing on intentionally working with small or disadvantaged businesses across the globe,
inclusive of minority and veteran owned businesses, and are working on quantifying diverse supplier spend. While industry benchmarks for supplier
diversity currently average around 7.2% of total spend, in fiscal 2023 we spent $2.18 billion on diverse, minority-owned and disadvantaged
businesses, representing approximately 34.35% of our total supply chain spend.

As of September 29, 2023, our global employees had the following gender demographics based on self-reported data:
September 29, 2023

Women Men
All employees 31.0% 69.0%
(1) Excludes contingent workforce and craft employees

Total U.S. diversity (ethnicity & female) was 48.9% (excludes contingent workers and craft employees). In partnership with our Women’s Network, we
deliver various workforce diversity initiatives to elevate the value of women in the workplace, while fostering the next generation of professional
women. Strategic efforts include tools and resources to support gender-balanced interview teams, flexible working arrangements, improved caregiver
leave, and “Bridge the Gap”, a program that actively supports parents returning to work. We are in constant communication with our employees about
their healthcare needs.

In fiscal 2023, we were named one of The Times Top 50 Employers for Gender Equality 2023, the U.K.’s most highly profiled and well-established
listing of employers striving for gender equality in the workplace.

In fiscal 2023, our U.S. university hiring demographics show hires of 39% female, 57% male, and 4% undisclosed or non-binary gender, as well as
45% ethnically diverse employees. Overall U.S. hiring at Jacobs is at 37% for ethnically diverse employees (excludes contingent workers and craft
employees) in 2023.

Our ACE employee network connects and empowers members living with disability, health challenges or neurodiversity, and those who provide care
to others. ACE embraces the social model of disability which aims to identify and remove the social, digital, and physical barriers that create exclusion
in the workplace and society in general. We again earned the top score of 100 in the 2023 Disability Equality Index, a joint initiative of the American
Association of People with Disabilities and Disability:IN, the leading nonprofit resource for business disability inclusion worldwide.

Through our Careers Network, we empower every employee to maximize their potential and make Jacobs the industry leader and workplace of
choice. The network organizes and supports career-enriching development and networking opportunities in all our geographies.

Our One World employee network continues to celebrate cultures around the globe and to foster global connectivity, nurturing and supporting our
diverse employees and clients across all ethnicities and cultures.

We supported our Prism network to drive inclusion of our LGBTQ+ family by continuing to review healthcare plans to ensure they are inclusive, train
HR specialists on transgender guidelines and establish gender-neutral restrooms. In fiscal 2023, we received the People First and Large Firm of the
Year awards from Consult Australia and were named to the Straits

(1)
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Times’ Singapore’s Best Employers for 2023. We again ranked No. 6 in Stonewall’s U.K. Workplace Equality Index (WEI) Top 100 Employers List for
LGBTQIA+ People and retained Stonewall’s Gold Award.

Through VetNet, our employee network for veterans, their families and current military reserve members, we continue to work to recruit, develop and
retain the best military and veteran talent, partnering with key organizations like Hiring Our Heroes. We were proud to be honored as a 2023 VETS
Indexes 4 Star Employer, recognizing our commitment to recruiting, hiring, retaining, developing and supporting veterans and the military-connected
community.

Looking ahead, we will continue to focus on inclusion, belonging and diversity by:
• Continuing progress through our global Action Plan for Advancing Justice and Equality
• Striving to achieve our aspirational goals of creating a more gender-balanced and a more racially/ethnically diverse workforce around the

globe to more closely reflect the labor markets and communities in which we live and serve
• Amplifying our culture of belonging and helping all employees see the various communities they can engage with at Jacobs so that everyone

has a sense of belonging
• Following through on our priority areas identified through our global employee culture pulse surveys
• Identifying, developing and promoting allies across Jacobs
• Continue our data sharing campaign and enhance data reporting
• Continue to grow the diversity of talent for early career to experience staff through our graduates, interns, apprentices and STEAM education

opportunities
• Increase measurement and diversification of our supply chain to improve our impact.

Our Employees’ Wellbeing and Resilience

We believe in a comprehensive approach to our employees’ resilience that covers physical, emotional, financial and social dimensions. Our
programs, tools and benefits prioritize our people, equipping them with the resources and support they need to excel in all aspects of life. Our new
global financial counseling benefit is designed to help our employees manage their finances confidently and be financially resilient, both in the present
and the future. Additionally, our partnership with Carrot provides inclusive fertility healthcare and family-forming benefits for all paths to parenthood.
We've also expanded our parental leave policies in the U.S. to further support our growing families.

We support the emotional resilience of our people and communities through our "One Million Lives" initiative, developed with global mental health
professionals, where we offer a free and accessible mental health check-in tool. Since its launch in December 2020 to fiscal year end 2023, over
40,000 check-ins have been completed. Our e3 Learning platform empowers employees with self-guided learning opportunities in wellbeing and
related topics. To ensure continued mental wellbeing, we have a network of dedicated Positive Mental Health Leads and an employee volunteer
community of 2,036 Positive Mental Health Champions, with one in every 29 employees being an active champion.

Organizationally, as global challenges to our security, wellbeing and ability to operate evolve, we stay focused on managing risks effectively and
building our resilience by leveraging our Culture of Caring℠ to deliver the best outcomes for our people, the environment and our company. Our
BeyondZero® program continues to drive a safer, more secure, healthier, and more resilient future for our Jacobs family, our communities and the
environment. Our business continuity program to assure business delivery and resilience continues to prove its effectiveness in an ever-changing
operational environment. Jacobs’ Strategic Risk Analysis capability is a coordinated program for the identification, collation and analysis of threat
intelligence and information. It enables relevant reporting among operational and strategic contextualization for effective guidance, strategic
contemplation and critical business decision-making processes. Despite numerous climate-related and other global events, Jacobs has successfully
maintained business continuity throughout our operations. The physical resilience of our employees at work is demonstrated though our commitment
to safety excellence with another year of zero employee fatalities at work and a total recordable incident rate  of 0.20, compared to the North
American Industry Classification System’s most recently reported aggregate rate of 0.60.

Our enhanced Global Travel Assistance program in partnership with our Global Assistance & Response provider, International SOS, helps keep our
employees safe and healthy while traveling or on assignment outside their home country.

Even in challenging global circumstances, our dedication to humanitarian efforts remains resolute. Our employees actively support humanitarian relief
through Collectively, our global giving and volunteering program, which enables them to make donations and volunteer their time to natural and
climate-related disaster recovery and relief campaigns, water security

1
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and scarcity, and the impacts of conflicts around the world. Jacobs proudly extends our Employee Assistance Program to support Ukrainian refugees
who are hosted by Jacobs employees as household members.

Information About Our Executive Officers

The information required by Paragraph (a), and Paragraphs (c) through (g) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K (except for information required by
Paragraph (e) of that Item to the extent the required information pertains to our executive officers) and Item 405 of Regulation S-K is set forth under
the caption “Members of the Board of Directors” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

The following table presents the information required by Paragraph (b) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K.
Name  Age  Position with the Company  Year Joined the Company

Steven J. Demetriou  65  Executive Chair  2015
Robert V. Pragada 55 Chief Executive Officer and Director 2016
Claudia Jaramillo  51  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer  2022
Steve Arnette  56  Executive Vice President and President, Critical Mission Solutions  1995
Joanne E. Caruso 63 Executive Vice President, Chief Legal and Administrative Officer 2012
Patrick X. Hill 50 Executive Vice President and President, People & Places Solutions 1998
Shannon Miller 47 Executive Vice President and President, Divergent Solutions 1998
William B. Allen, Jr.  59  Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer  2016

All of the officers listed in the preceding table serve in their respective capacities at the pleasure of the Board of Directors of the Company.

Mr. Demetriou joined the Company in August 2015, and served as Chair and CEO until January 2023, when he assumed the Executive Chair
position. Mr. Demetriou served as Chairman and CEO of Aleris Corporation for 14 years, a global downstream aluminum producer based in
Cleveland, Ohio. Over the course of his career, he has gained broad experience with companies in a range of industries including metals, specialty
chemicals, oil & gas, manufacturing and fertilizers.

Mr. Pragada rejoined the Company in February 2016 after serving as President and Chief Executive Officer of The Brock Group since August
2014. From March 2006 to August 2014 Mr. Pragada served in executive and senior leadership capacities with the Company. Mr. Pragada most
recently served as President and Chief Operating Officer, until he succeeded Mr. Demetriou as Chief Executive Officer and was elected as a Director
of the Company in January 2023.

Ms. Jaramillo joined the Company in July 2022 as Executive Vice President, Strategy and Corporate Development. Prior to that, Ms. Jaramillo spent
more than 20 years at Schlumberger Limited, a global energy company, where she served in multiple executive roles in both operations and
corporate finance, most recently as Vice President & Group Treasurer until June 2022. In August 2023, Ms. Jaramillo assumed the role of Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer.

Mr. Arnette joined the Company in 1995. Mr. Arnette's career at Jacobs spans more than 25 years in several senior leadership positions, crossing
multiple sectors and operations. Most recently he led CMS's largest business unit as Senior Vice President of Advanced Engineering, Research &
Operations, serving public and private sector clients around the globe with solutions for complex, mission-essential programs and projects in
aerospace, automotive, defense and telecommunications sectors.

Ms. Caruso joined the Company in 2012. Prior to becoming Executive Vice President, Chief Legal and Administrative Officer, Ms. Caruso was Senior
Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, and previously held the positions of Senior Vice

1 As of October 15, 2023 and recorded in accordance with OSHA record keeping requirements, but subject to change thereafter due to possible injury/illness classification changes. The TRIR calculation uses the US OSHA formula
of ‘Number of Incidents x 200,000 / total number of hours worked in a year’. The 200,000 is the benchmark established by OSHA because it represents the total number of hours 100 employees would log in 50 weeks based on a
40-hour work week.
2 Cited on September 14th, 2023 via U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics - Incidence rates of non-fatal occupational injuries
and illnesses by industry and case types, 2021 for NAICS code 54133
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President, Global Human Resources and Vice President, Global Litigation. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Caruso was a partner in two
international law firms, Howrey LLP and Baker & Hostetler LLP.

Mr. Hill joined the Company through the SKM acquisition, where he started in 1998. Mr. Hill has served in several senior leadership positions crossing
multiple sectors and operations throughout Australia, New Zealand, Asia, Europe, the Middle East and the United States. Prior to his appointment as
President – People & Places Solutions, Mr. Hill jointly led People & Places Solutions with day-to-day responsibilities for Jacobs' Buildings and
Infrastructure global operations outside of North America.

Ms. Miller joined the Company in 1998. During her almost 25-year career at Jacobs, Ms. Miller has had a rich and varied global journey in operations,
sales and functional roles leading cultural and digital transformation for both the company and its markets, including technology, resources,
infrastructure, pharmaceutical and consumer products. Most recently Ms. Miller served as Jacobs’ Chief Growth Officer and lead for Enterprise Risk
Management.

Mr. Allen joined the Company in October 2016. Mr. Allen served as Vice President, Finance and Principal Accounting Officer at LyondellBasell
Industries, N.V. from 2013 to 2016. Prior to that, he was with Albemarle Corporation, where he served as Vice President, Corporate Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer from 2009 to 2013 after serving in CFO roles for their Catalysts and Fine Chemistry businesses from 2005 to 2009.

Additional Information

Jacobs was founded in 1947 and incorporated as a Delaware corporation in 1987. We are headquartered in Dallas, Texas, USA. The SEC maintains
a site on the Internet that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the
SEC. The SEC’s website is http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and download the various reports we file with, or furnish to, the SEC free of charge
from our website at www.jacobs.com.

Item 1A.    RISK FACTORS

We operate in a changing global environment that involves numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The risks described below highlight some of the factors that have affected
and could affect us in the future. We may also be affected by unknown risks or risks that we currently think are immaterial. If any such events actually
occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Summary Risk Factors
The following is a summary of some of the risks and uncertainties that could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and

results of operations. You should read this summary together with the more detailed description of each risk factor contained below.

Risks Related to Our Operations
• We engage in a highly competitive business. If we are unable to compete effectively, we could lose market share and our business and

results of operations could be negatively impacted.
• Our results of operations depend on the award of new contracts and the timing of the award of these contracts and economic conditions.

Demand for our services may be impacted by continuing inflation, rising or continued high interest rates, and/or construction costs.
• We may be unable to realize the benefits of implementing our three-year corporate strategy.
• Project sites are inherently dangerous workplaces. Failure to maintain safe work sites exposes us to significant financial losses and

reputational harm, as well as civil and criminal liabilities.
• The nature of our contracts, particularly any fixed-price contracts, subjects us to risks of cost overruns. We may experience losses if costs

increase above budgets or estimates or the project experiences delays.
• Our failure to meet performance requirements or contractual schedules could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of

operations.
• The contracts in our backlog may be adjusted, canceled or suspended by our clients and, therefore, our backlog is not necessarily indicative

of our future revenues or earnings.
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• Contracts with the U.S. federal government and other governments and their agencies pose additional risks compared to contracts with
private sector clients.

• Our services expose us to significant monetary damages or even criminal violations and our insurance policies may not provide adequate
coverage.

• The outcome of pending and future claims and litigation could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations and damage our reputation.

• A reduction in the amount of available governmental funding could materially affect our results of operations.
• We are dependent on third parties to complete many of our contracts.
• Employee, agent or partner misconduct, or our overall failure to comply with laws or regulations, could weaken our ability to win contracts,

which could result in reduced revenues and profits.
• Cybersecurity or privacy breaches, or systems and information technology interruption or failure could adversely impact our ability to operate

or expose us to significant financial losses and reputational harm.
• If we do not have adequate indemnification for our nuclear services, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of

operations.
• Our actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions used to prepare our financial statements.
• Our benefit plan expenses and obligations may fluctuate depending on various factors, including inflation, changes in levels of interest rates,

and pension plan asset performance.
• Our businesses could be materially and adversely affected by events outside of our control.
• Our continued success is dependent upon our ability to hire, retain, and utilize qualified personnel while managing the risks associated with

sustained remote working arrangements.
• Our professional reputation and relationships with government agencies are critical to our business, and any harm to our reputation or

relationships could decrease the amount of business that government agencies do with us, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

• Our focus on new growth areas entails risks, including those associated with new relationships, clients, talent needs, capabilities, service
offerings, and maintaining our collaborative culture and core values.

• If we, or our subsidiaries or companies in which we have made strategic investments, lose, or experience a significant reduction in, business
from one or a few customers, it could have a material adverse impact on us.

Risks Related to International Operations
• Our international operations are exposed to additional risks and uncertainties, including unfavorable political developments and weak foreign

economies.
• Foreign exchange risks may affect our ability to realize a profit from certain projects.
• Our global presence could give rise to material fluctuations in our income tax rates.

Risks Related to Acquisitions, Investments, Joint Ventures and Divestitures
• Our use of joint ventures, partnerships and strategic investments in entities exposes us to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside

of our control.
• An impairment charge on our goodwill or intangible assets could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of

operations.
• Our business strategy relies in part on acquisitions and strategic investments to sustain our growth and we may make minority investments

as well, all of which present certain risks and uncertainties.
• Our transaction to combine CMS and portions of DVS with Amentum may not be completed on the currently contemplated timeline or at all

and may not achieve the intended benefits.

Risks Related to Regulatory Compliance
• Past and future environmental, health, and safety laws could impose significant additional costs and liabilities.
• If we fail to comply with any governmental requirements, our business may be adversely affected.
• We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws.
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Risks Related to Climate Change
• Climate change and related environmental issues, including market or regulatory responses to climate change, could have a material

adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
• We may be unable to achieve our climate commitments and targets.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Credit Markets
• We rely in part on liquidity from our credit facilities to fund our business. Restrictions in our credit facilities and other indebtedness could

adversely impact our business. Our businesses may be adversely affected by disruptions or lack of liquidity in the credit markets, including
reduced access to credit and higher costs of obtaining credit.

• Maintaining adequate bonding and letter of credit capacity is necessary for us to successfully win some contracts.
• Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase and our net

income and cash flows to correspondingly decrease.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock and Corporate Structure
• Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly, which could have a material negative effect on the price of our common stock.
• There can be no assurance that we will pay dividends on our common stock.
• In the event we issue stock as consideration for certain acquisitions we may make, we could dilute share ownership, and if we receive stock

in connection with a divestiture, the value of stock is subject to fluctuation.
• We are a holding company. Substantially all of our business is conducted through our subsidiaries. We depend on the performance of our

subsidiaries and their ability to make distributions to us to fund our operations.

Risks Related to Our Operations

We engage in a highly competitive business. If we are unable to compete effectively, we could lose market share and our business and
results of operations could be negatively impacted.

We face intense competition to provide technical, professional and construction management services to clients. The markets we serve are
highly competitive and we compete against a large number of regional, national and multinational companies. The extent and type of our competition
varies by industry, geographic area and project type. Our projects are frequently awarded through a competitive procurement process. We are
constantly competing for project awards based on pricing, schedule and the breadth and technical sophistication of our services. Competition can
place downward pressure on our contract prices and profit margins, which increases the risk that, among other things, we may not realize profit
margins at the same rates as we have seen in the past or may become responsible for costs or other liabilities we have not accepted in the past. If
we are unable to compete effectively, we may experience a loss of market share or reduced profitability or both, which could have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our results of operations depend on the award of new contracts and the timing of the award of these contracts.

Our revenues depend on new contract awards. Delays in the timing of the awards or cancellations of such projects as a result of economic
conditions, material and equipment pricing and availability or other factors could impact our long-term projected results. It is particularly difficult to
predict whether or when we will receive large-scale projects as these contracts frequently involve a lengthy and complex procurement and selection
process, which is affected by a number of factors, such as market conditions or governmental and environmental approvals. Since a significant
portion of our revenues is generated from such projects, our results of operations and cash flows can fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter
depending on the timing of our contract awards and the commencement or progress of work under awarded contracts. Furthermore, many of these
contracts are subject to financing contingencies and, as a result, we are subject to the risk that the customer will not be able to secure the necessary
financing for the project.

The uncertainty of our contract award timing can also present difficulties in matching workforce size with contract needs. In some cases, we
maintain and bear the cost of a ready workforce that is larger than necessary under existing contracts in anticipation of future workforce needs for
expected contract awards. When an expected contract award is delayed or not received, we incur additional costs resulting from reductions in staff or
redundancy of facilities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Demand for our services is impacted by economic downturns, reductions in government or private spending and times of political
uncertainty.

We provide full spectrum technical and professional solutions to clients operating in a number of sectors and industries, including programs
for various national governments, including the U.S. federal government; aerospace; automotive; pharmaceuticals and biotechnology; infrastructure;
environmental; nuclear decommissioning; buildings; smart cities; energy and power; water; transportation; telecom and other general industrial and
consumer businesses and sectors. These sectors and industries and the resulting demand for our services have been, and we expect will continue to
be, subject to significant fluctuations due to a variety of factors beyond our control, including economic conditions and changes in client spending,
particularly during periods of economic or political uncertainty. Consequently, our results have varied, and may continue to vary, depending upon the
demand for future projects in the markets and the locations in which we operate.

Uncertain global economic, socioeconomic and political conditions may negatively impact our clients’ ability and willingness to fund their
projects, including their ability to raise capital and pay, or timely pay, our invoices. These factors may also cause our clients to reduce their capital
expenditures, alter the mix of services purchased, seek more favorable pricing and other contract terms and otherwise slow their spending on our
services. For example, in the public sector, declines in state and local tax revenues as well as other economic declines may result in lower state and
local government spending. In addition, under such conditions, many of our competitors may be more inclined to take greater or unusual risks or
accept terms and conditions in contracts that we might not deem acceptable. These conditions may reduce the demand for our services, which may
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, uncertain economic, socioeconomic and political conditions may make it difficult for our clients, our vendors, and us to accurately
forecast and plan future business activities. We cannot predict the outcome of changing trade policies or other unanticipated socioeconomic or
political conditions, nor can we predict the timing, strength or duration of any economic recovery or downturn worldwide or in our clients’ markets. In
addition, our business has traditionally lagged recoveries in the general economy and, therefore, may not recover as quickly as the economy at large.
Weak economic conditions could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, if a
significant portion of our clients or projects are concentrated in a specific geographic area or industry, our business may be disproportionately affected
by regional conflicts, negative trends or economic downturns in those specific geographic areas or industries.

Continuing inflation, rising or continued high interest rates, and/or construction costs could reduce the demand for our services as well as
decrease our profit on our existing contracts, in particular with respect to our fixed-price contracts.

Rising inflation, interest rates, and/or construction costs could reduce the demand for our services. In addition, we bear all of the risk of high
inflation with respect to those contracts that are fixed-price. Because a significant portion of our revenues are earned from cost-reimbursable type
contracts (approximately 74.1% during fiscal 2023), the effects of inflation on our financial condition and results of operations over the past few years
have been generally minor. However, if we continue to experience inflationary pressures, inflation may have a larger impact on our results of
operations in the future, particularly if we expand our business into markets and geographic areas where fixed-price and lump-sum work is more
prevalent. Therefore, continued inflation, rising or continued high interest rates and/or construction costs could have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to realize the benefits of implementing our three-year corporate strategy.

This is a transformative time for the Company. In fiscal 2022, we launched our new three-year corporate strategy after identifying three
growth accelerators to achieve our vision for future growth: Climate Response, Consultancy & Advisory and Data Solutions. During the first quarter of
fiscal 2023, we created a new operating segment, Divergent Solutions, which, consistent with our corporate strategy, is aligned to our data solutions
growth accelerator. Developing a new business carries certain inherent risks, including potential diversion of management’s time and other resources
from our previously-established revenue streams, the need for additional capital and other resources to expand this new business, and inefficient
integration of operational and management systems and controls. Our success growing and developing the solutions offered by this new business will
depend on a variety of factors, some of which may be outside of our control. There can be no assurance that this new operating segment will produce
the revenues, earnings or business synergies that we anticipate. Additionally, we cannot guarantee that our corporate strategy will be successful in
achieving our financial growth targets or that we will deliver our anticipated results. The failure to successfully implement our corporate strategy could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Project sites are inherently dangerous workplaces. Failure to maintain safe work sites by us, the owner or others working at the project
site can lead to our employees or others becoming injured, disabled or even losing their lives, and exposes us to significant financial
losses and reputational harm, as well as civil and criminal liabilities.

Project sites often put our employees and others in close proximity with large pieces of mechanized equipment, moving vehicles, chemical
and manufacturing processes and hazardous and highly regulated materials, in a challenging environment and often in geographically remote
locations. We may be responsible for safety on some project sites, and, accordingly, we have an obligation to implement effective safety procedures.
The failure by us or others working at such sites to implement safety procedures or the implementation of ineffective procedures, or the failure to
implement and follow appropriate safety procedures, subjects our employees and others to the risk of injury, disability or loss of life, and subjects us
to risk that the completion or commencement of our projects may be delayed and we may be exposed to litigation or investigations. Unsafe work sites
also have the potential to increase employee turnover, increase the cost of a project to our clients and raise our operating and insurance costs.

We are also subject to regulations dealing with occupational health and safety. Although we maintain functional groups whose primary
purpose is to ensure we implement effective HSE work procedures throughout our organization, including project sites and maintenance sites, the
failure to comply with such regulations could subject us to liability. In addition, despite the work of our functional groups, we cannot guarantee the
safety of our personnel or that there will be no damage to or loss of our work, equipment or supplies.

Our safety record is critical to our reputation. Many of our clients require that we meet certain safety criteria to be eligible to bid for contracts
and many contracts provide for automatic termination or forfeiture of some or all of our contract fees or profit in the event we fail to meet certain
measures.

For all of the foregoing reasons, if we fail to maintain adequate safety standards, we could suffer harm to our reputation, reduced profitability
or the loss of projects or clients, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The nature of our contracts, particularly any fixed-price contracts, subjects us to risks of cost overruns. We may experience reduced
profits or losses if costs increase above budgets or estimates or the project experiences delays.

For fiscal 2023, approximately 25.9% of our revenues were earned under fixed-price contracts. Both fixed-price and many cost-reimbursable
contracts require us to estimate the total cost of the project in advance of our performance. For fixed-price contracts, we may benefit from any cost-
savings, but we bear greater risk of paying some, if not all, of any cost overruns. Fixed-price contracts are established in part on proposed designs,
which may be partial or incomplete, cost and scheduling estimates that are based on a number of assumptions, including those about future
economic conditions, commodity and other materials pricing and cost and availability of labor (including the cost of any related benefits or
entitlements), equipment and materials and other exigencies. Cost overruns can occur, leading to reduced profits or, in some cases, a loss for that
project for a variety of reasons, including if the design or the estimates prove inaccurate or if circumstances change due to, among other things,
unanticipated technical problems, difficulties in obtaining permits or approvals, changes in local laws or labor conditions, weather or other delays
beyond our control, changes in the costs of equipment or raw materials, our vendors’ or subcontractors’ inability or failure to perform, or changes in
general economic conditions and inflationary pressures. We may present change orders and claims to our clients, subcontractors and vendors for,
among other things, additional costs exceeding the original contract price. If we fail to properly document the nature of our claims and change orders
or are otherwise unsuccessful in negotiating reasonable settlements with our clients, subcontractors and vendors, we will likely incur cost overruns,
reduced profits or, in some cases, result in a loss for a project. These risks are exacerbated for projects with long-term durations because there is an
increased risk that the circumstances on which we based our original estimates will change in a manner that increases costs. The occurrence of
significant costs overruns could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our failure to meet performance requirements or contractual schedules could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Many of our contracts require us to satisfy specific progress or performance milestones in order to receive payment from the customer. As a
result, we often incur significant costs for engineering, materials, components, equipment, labor or subcontractors prior to receipt of payment from a
customer, which may impact our liquidity. In some circumstances, we may incur penalties if we do not achieve project completion by a scheduled
date. In some cases, the occurrence of delays may be due to factors outside of our control, such as due to supply chain shortages.
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Our contracts that are fundamentally cost reimbursable in nature may also present a risk to the extent the final cost on a project exceeds the
amount the customer expected or budgeted. Like fixed-price contracts, the expected cost of cost-reimbursable projects is based in part on partial
design and our estimates of the resources and time necessary to perform such contracts. A portion of the fee is often linked to these estimates and
the related final cost and schedule objectives, and if for whatever reason these objectives are not met, the project may be less profitable than we
expect or even result in losses.

The contracts in our backlog may be adjusted, canceled or suspended by our clients and, therefore, our backlog is not necessarily
indicative of our future revenues or earnings.

Backlog represents estimates of the total dollar amount of revenues we expect to record in the future as a result of performing work under
contracts that have been awarded to us. As of the end of fiscal 2023, our backlog totaled approximately $29.1 billion. There is no assurance that
backlog will actually be realized as revenues in the amounts reported or, if realized, will result in profits. In accordance with industry practice,
substantially all of our contracts, including our U.S. government work, are subject to cancellation, termination, or suspension at the discretion of the
client, and may be subject to changes in the scope of services to be provided, as well as adjustments to the costs relating to the contracts. In the
event of a project cancellation, we would generally have no contractual right to the total revenue reflected in our backlog. Projects can remain in
backlog for extended periods of time because of the nature of the project and the timing of the particular services required by the project. The risk of
contracts in backlog being canceled or suspended generally increases during periods of widespread economic slowdowns or in response to changes
in commodity prices.

In some markets, there is a continuing trend toward cost-reimbursable contracts with incentive-fee arrangements. Typically, our incentive fees
are based on such things as achievement of target completion dates or target costs, overall safety performance, overall client satisfaction and other
performance criteria. If we fail to meet such targets or achieve the expected performance standards, we may receive a lower, or even zero, incentive
fee resulting in lower gross margins. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the contracts in backlog, assuming they produce the revenues currently
expected, will generate gross margins at the rates we have realized in the past.

Contracts with the U.S. federal government and other governments and their agencies pose additional risks compared to contracts with
private sector clients.

We depend on contracts with the U.S. federal government and other governments and their agencies. The U.S. federal government
represented approximately 31% of our total revenue in fiscal 2023. These contracts, which are a significant source of our revenue and profit, are
subject to additional risks compared to contracts with private sector clients:

• Some of our contracts are long-term government contracts, which are only funded on an annual basis. In addition, public-supported
financing, such as state and local municipal bonds, may be only partially raised at the beginning of a program, with additional funding
normally only committed as appropriations are made in each fiscal year. If appropriations for funding are not made in subsequent years of a
multiple-year contract, we may not be able to realize all of our anticipated revenue and profits from that project. U.S. government shutdowns
or any related under-staffing of the government departments or agencies that interact with our business could result in program cancellations,
disruptions and/or stop work orders, could limit the government’s ability to effectively progress programs and make timely payments, and
could limit our ability to perform on our existing U.S. government contracts and successfully compete for new work. Governments are typically
under no obligation to maintain funding at any specific level, and funds for government programs may even be eliminated. The U.S.
government may also shift its spending focus away from areas, such as defense and space exploration, and toward other areas in which we
do not currently provide services.

• Our contracts with governmental agencies are subject to audit, investigations and proceedings which could result in adjustments to
reimbursable contract costs or, if we are charged with wrongdoing, possible temporary or permanent suspension from participating in
government programs, and a variety of penalties can be imposed on us including monetary damages and criminal and civil penalties.

• Governmental agencies may modify, curtail or terminate our contracts at any time prior to their completion and, if we do not replace them, we
may suffer a decline in revenue. In addition, for some assignments, the U.S. government may attempt to “insource” the services to
government employees rather than outsource to a contractor.

• Most government contracts are awarded through a rigorous competitive process, which may emphasize price over other qualitative factors.
The U.S. federal government has increasingly relied upon multiple-year contracts with
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multiple contractors that generally require those contractors to engage in an additional competitive procurement process for each task order
issued under a contract. This process may result in us facing significant additional pricing pressure and uncertainty and incurring additional
costs.

• We may not be awarded government contracts because of existing policies designed to protect small businesses and under-represented
minorities.

• Government contracts are subject to specific procurement regulations and a variety of other socio-economic requirements, which affect how
we transact business with our clients and, in some instances, impose additional costs on our business operations. For example, for contracts
with the U.S. federal government, we must comply with the Federal Acquisition Regulation, the Truth in Negotiations Act, the Cost Accounting
Standards, and numerous regulations governing environmental protection and employment practices. Government contracts also contain
terms that expose us to heightened levels of risk and potential liability than non-government contracts. This includes, for example, unlimited
indemnification obligations.

• Many of our federal government contracts require us to have security clearances, which can be difficult and time consuming to obtain. If our
employees or our facilities are unable to obtain or retain the necessary security clearances, our clients could terminate or not renew existing
contracts or award us new contracts, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be negatively impacted.

These various uncertainties, restrictions, and regulations including oversight audits by government authorities as well as profit and cost
controls, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our services expose us to significant monetary damages or even criminal violations and our insurance policies may not provide adequate
coverage.

We provide services that are subject to professional standards and qualifications, including providing services that are based on our
professional engineering expertise, as well as our other professional credentials. These services must comply with various professional standards,
duties and obligations regulating the performance of such services. Our engineering practice, for example, involves professional judgments regarding
the planning, design, development, construction, operations and management of industrial facilities and public infrastructure projects. We also issue
reports and opinions to clients based on our professional expertise, such as issuing opinions and reports to government clients in connection with
securities offerings. While we do not generally accept liability for consequential damages in our contracts, and although we have adopted a range of
insurance, risk management and risk avoidance programs designed to reduce potential liabilities, we may be deemed to be responsible for these
professional judgments, recommendations or opinions if they are later determined to be inaccurate, or if a catastrophic event or other failure occurs at
one of our project sites or completed projects. Any unfavorable legal ruling against us could result in substantial monetary damages, disqualification
to perform services in the future, or even criminal violations.

Such events could result in significant professional or product liability and warranty or other claims against us that could be highly publicized
and have reputational harm, especially if public safety is impacted. We could also be liable to third parties, including through class actions, even if we
are not contractually bound to those third parties. These liabilities could exceed our insurance limits or the fees we generate, may not be covered by
insurance at all due to various exclusions in our coverage and could impact our ability to obtain insurance in the future. Further, even where coverage
applies, the policies have limits and deductibles or retentions, which results in our assumption of exposure for certain amounts with respect to any
claim filed against us. In addition, indemnification from clients or subcontractors may not be available. An uninsured claim, either in part or in whole,
as well as any claim covered by insurance but subject to a policy limit, high deductible and/or retention, if successful and of a material magnitude,
could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The outcome of pending and future claims and litigation could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations and damage our reputation.

We are a party to claims and litigation in the normal course of business, including litigation inherited through acquisitions. Since we engage in
engineering and construction activities for large facilities and projects where design, construction or systems failures at any such facility or project can
result in substantial injury or damage to employees or others, and expose us to substantial claims and litigation and investigations relating to, among
other things, personal injury, loss of life, business interruption, property damage, or pollution and environmental damage. We can also be exposed to
claims if we agreed that a project will achieve certain performance standards or satisfy certain technical
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requirements and those standards or requirements are not met. In many of our contracts with clients, subcontractors and vendors, we agree to retain
or assume potential liabilities for damages, penalties, losses and other exposures relating to projects that could result in claims that greatly exceed
the anticipated profits relating to those contracts. In addition, while clients and subcontractors may agree to indemnify us against certain liabilities,
such third parties may refuse or be unable to pay us.

With a workforce of approximately 60,000 people globally, we are also party to labor and employment claims in the normal course of
business. Certain of these claims relate to allegations of harassment and discrimination, pay equity, denial of benefits, wage and hour violations,
whistleblower protections, concerted protected activity, and other employment protections, and may be pursued on an individual or class action basis
depending on applicable laws and regulations. Some of such claims may be insurable, while other such claims may not.

In addition, claims received from subcontractors or made by us for change orders can be the subject of lengthy negotiations, arbitration or
litigation proceedings, which could result in the investment of significant amounts of working capital pending the resolution of the relevant change
orders and claims. A failure to promptly recover on these types of claims could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity and financial results.
Additionally, irrespective of how well we document the nature of our claims and change orders, the cost to prosecute and defend claims and change
orders can be significant.

Litigation and regulatory proceedings are subject to inherent uncertainties and unfavorable rulings can and do occur. Pending or future claims
against us could result in professional liability, product liability, criminal liability, warranty obligations, default under our credit agreements and other
liabilities which, to the extent we are not insured against a loss or our insurer fails to provide coverage, could have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations and damage our reputation.

Unavailability or cancellation of insurance coverage could increase our overall risk exposure as well as disrupt the management of our
business operations.

We maintain insurance coverage from third-party insurers as part of our overall risk management strategy and because some of our contracts
require us to maintain specific insurance coverage limits. Catastrophic events, litigation claims, and other market factors can result in decreased
coverage limits, coverage that is more limited, increased premium costs or higher deductibles and/or retentions. If any of our third-party insurers fail,
suddenly cancel our coverage or otherwise are unable to provide us with adequate insurance coverage, then our overall risk exposure and our
operational expenses could increase, and the management of our business operations could be disrupted. In addition, there can be no assurance
that any of our existing insurance coverage will be renewable upon the expiration of the coverage period or that future coverage will be affordable at
the required limits.

We have also elected to retain a portion of losses that may occur through the use of various deductibles, retentions and limits under these
programs. As a result, we may be subject to future liability for which we are only partially insured, or completely uninsured.

A reduction in the amount of available governmental funding could materially affect our results of operations.

Historically, we have benefited from both domestic and international government investment programs that provide funding for our services,
and we expect to continue to benefit from bills such as the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, the CHIPS and Science Act and the Inflation
Reduction Act. While spending and stimulus bills are expected to provide funding in many of the markets in which we operate, we may not be able to
obtain the expected benefits from these bills or similar bills in the future. In addition, the timing of funding awards under these bills is uncertain. A
reduction in the amount of governmental funding available could materially affect our results of operations.

We are dependent on third parties to complete many of our contracts.

Third-party subcontractors we hire perform a significant amount of the work performed under our contracts. We also rely on third-party
equipment manufacturers or suppliers to provide much of the equipment and materials used for projects. If we are unable to hire qualified
subcontractors or find qualified equipment manufacturers or suppliers, our ability to successfully complete a project will be impaired. If we are not able
to locate qualified third-party subcontractors or the amount we are required to pay for subcontractors or equipment and supplies exceeds what we
have estimated, especially in a lump sum or a fixed-price contract, we may suffer losses on these contracts. If a subcontractor, supplier, or
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manufacturer fails to provide services, supplies, parts or equipment as required under a contract for any reason, or fails to provide such services,
supplies, parts or equipment in accordance with applicable quality standards as required by the contract or regulation, we will be required to source
these services, equipment, parts or supplies from other third parties on a delayed basis or on less favorable terms, which could impact contract
profitability and/or could result in claims against us for damages. We are subject to disputes with our subcontractors from time to time relating to,
among other things, the quality and timeliness of work performed, customer concerns about the subcontractor, or our failure to extend existing task
orders or issue new task orders under a contract. In addition, faulty workmanship, equipment or materials would likely impact the overall project,
which could result in claims against us for failure to meet required project specifications.

In an uncertain or downturn economic environment, third parties may find it difficult to obtain sufficient financing to help fund their operations.
The inability to obtain financing could adversely affect a third party’s ability to provide materials, equipment or services which could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, a failure by a third party subcontractor, supplier or
manufacturer to comply with applicable laws, regulations or client requirements could negatively impact our business and, for government clients,
could result in fines, penalties, suspension or even debarment being imposed on us, which could have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

Employee, agent or partner misconduct, or our overall failure to comply with laws or regulations, could weaken our ability to win contracts,
which could result in reduced revenues and profits.

We are subject to the risk of misconduct, fraud, non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, or other improper activities by one of
our employees, agents or partners, which could have a significant negative impact on our business and reputation. Such misconduct includes the
failure to comply with government procurement regulations, regulations regarding the protection of classified information, regulations prohibiting
bribery and other corrupt practices, regulations regarding the pricing of labor and other costs in government contracts, regulations on lobbying or
similar activities, regulations pertaining to the internal controls over financial reporting, regulations pertaining to export control, environmental laws,
employee wages, pay and benefits, and any other applicable laws or regulations. For example, we routinely provide services that may be highly
sensitive or that relate to critical national security matters; if a security breach were to occur, our ability to procure future government contracts could
be severely limited. The precautions we take to prevent and detect these activities may not be effective and we could face unknown risks or losses.
Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations, or acts of misconduct subjects us to the risk of fines and penalties, cancellation of contracts,
loss of security clearance and suspension or debarment from contracting, any of which could damage our reputation, weaken our ability to win
contracts and result in reduced revenues and profits and could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Cybersecurity or privacy breaches, or systems and information technology interruption or failure could adversely impact our ability to
operate or expose us to significant financial losses and reputational harm.

We are subject to certain risks related to interruptions, errors and delays in our information technology systems. In the event we are unable to
maintain or improve the efficiency and efficacy of our systems, the operation of such systems could result in the material loss, corruption, or release
of data. In addition, our computer and communication systems and operations could be damaged or interrupted by natural disasters, force majeure
events, telecommunications failures, power loss, acts of war or terrorism, computer viruses, malicious code, physical or electronic security breaches,
intentional or inadvertent user misuse or error or similar events or disruptions. Any of these or other events could have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition, protection of intellectual property and results of operations, as well as those of our clients.

Our information technology systems, which have grown over time, including through acquisitions, have, and will continue to experience
threats, including unauthorized access, computer hackers, computer viruses, malicious code, ransomware, phishing, organized cyber-attacks and
other security problems and system disruptions, including unauthorized access to and disclosure of our and our clients’ proprietary or classified
information. Such tactics have caused, and may also seek to cause in the future, payments due to or from the Company to be misdirected to
fraudulent accounts, which may not be recoverable by the Company.
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While we have security measures and technology in place designed to protect our and our clients’ proprietary or classified information, there
can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent all threats to our computer systems. In addition, the rapid evolution and increased adoption of
artificial intelligence technologies may intensify our cybersecurity risks. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage
systems change frequently, become more sophisticated and generally are not identified until they are launched against a target, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. As a result, we may be required to expend significant resources to
protect against the threat of system disruptions and security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by these disruptions and breaches. Any of
these events could damage our reputation, cause us to incur significant liability and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We continuously evaluate the need to upgrade and/or replace our systems and network infrastructure to protect our computing environment,
to stay current on vendor supported products and to improve the efficiency of our systems and for other business reasons, including due to the rapid
evolution and increased adoption of artificial intelligence and machine learning technologies and especially as we continue to operate under a hybrid
working model under which employees can work and access the Company’s technology infrastructure remotely. The implementation of new systems
and information technology could adversely impact our operations by imposing substantial capital expenditures, demands on management time and
risks of delays or difficulties in transitioning to new systems. In addition, our systems implementations may not result in productivity improvements at
the levels anticipated. Systems implementation disruption and any other information technology disruption, if not anticipated and appropriately
mitigated, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, laws and regulations governing data privacy and the unauthorized disclosure of personal data, including the European Union
General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR"), the United Kingdom Data Protection Act, the California Consumer Privacy Act, the California Privacy
Rights Act, and other emerging U.S. state and global privacy laws pose increasingly complex compliance challenges and potentially elevate costs
and may require changes to our business practices resulting from the variation of regulatory requirements and increased enforcement frequency.
Failure to comply with these laws and regulations, including related regulatory enforcement and/or private litigation resulting from a potential privacy
breach, could result in governmental investigations, significant fines and penalties, damages from private causes of action, or reputational harm.
Additionally, we are subject to laws, rules, and regulations regarding cross-border transfers of personal data, including laws relating to transfer of
personal data outside the European Economic Area. If we cannot rely on existing mechanisms for transferring personal data, we may be unable to
transfer personal data of employees and clients in those regions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and operating results.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property or that of our clients.

Our technology and intellectual property provide us, in certain instances, with a competitive advantage. Although we seek to protect our
property through registration, licensing, contractual arrangements, security controls and similar mechanisms, we may not be able to successfully
preserve our rights and they could be invalidated, circumvented, challenged or become obsolete. Trade secrets are generally difficult to protect. Our
employees and contractors are subject to confidentiality obligations, but this protection may be inadequate to deter or prevent misappropriation of our
confidential information and/or infringement of our intellectual property. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries in which we operate do not
protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the U.S. If we are unable to protect and maintain our intellectual property rights or if there are
any successful intellectual property challenges or infringement proceedings against us, our ability to differentiate our service offerings could be
reduced. Litigation to determine the scope of intellectual property rights, even if ultimately successful, could be costly and could divert leadership’s
attention away from other aspects of our business.

We also hold licenses from third parties which may be utilized in our business operations. If we are no longer able to license such technology
on commercially reasonable terms or otherwise, our business and financial performance could be adversely affected.

If our intellectual property rights or work processes become obsolete, we may not be able to differentiate our service offerings and some of
our competitors may be able to offer more attractive services to our customers. Our competitors may independently attempt to develop or obtain
access to technologies that are similar or superior to our technologies.
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Our clients or other third parties may also provide us with their technology and intellectual property. There is a risk we may not sufficiently
protect our or their information from improper use or dissemination and, as a result, could be subject to claims and litigation and resulting liabilities,
loss of contracts or other consequences that could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Assertions by third parties of infringement, misappropriation or other violations by us of their intellectual property rights could result in
significant costs and substantially harm our business, financial condition and operation results.

In recent years, there has been significant litigation involving intellectual property rights in technology industries. We may face from time to
time, allegations that we or a supplier or customer have violated the rights of third parties, including patent, trademark, and other intellectual property
rights. If, with respect to any claim against us for violation of third-party intellectual property rights, we are unable to prevail in the litigation or retain or
obtain sufficient rights or develop non-infringing intellectual property or otherwise alter our business practices on a timely or cost-efficient basis, our
business, financial condition or results of operations may be adversely affected.

Any infringement, misappropriation or related claims, whether or not meritorious, are time consuming, divert technical and management
personnel, and are costly to resolve. As a result of any such dispute, we may have to develop non-infringing technology, pay damages, enter into
royalty or licensing agreements, cease utilizing products or services, or take other actions to resolve the claims. These actions, if required, may be
costly or unavailable on terms acceptable to us.

If we do not have adequate indemnification for our nuclear services, it could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

The Price-Anderson Nuclear Industries Indemnity Act, commonly called the Price-Anderson Act (“PAA”), is a U.S. federal law, which, among
other things, regulates radioactive materials and the nuclear energy industry, including liability and compensation in the event of nuclear related
incidents. The PAA provides certain protections and indemnification to nuclear energy plant operators and U.S. Department of Energy (“DoE”)
contractors. The PAA protections and indemnification apply to us as part of our services to the U.S. nuclear energy industry and DoE for new facilities,
maintenance, modification, decontamination and decommissioning of nuclear energy, weapons and research facilities.

We offer similar services in other jurisdictions outside the U.S. For those jurisdictions, varying levels of nuclear liability protection is provided
by international treaties, and/or domestic laws, such as the Nuclear Liability and Compensation Act of Canada and the Nuclear Installations Act of the
United Kingdom, insurance and/or assets of the nuclear installation operators (some of which are backed by governments) as well as under
appropriate enforceable contractual indemnifications and hold-harmless provisions. These protections and indemnifications, however, may not cover
all of our liability that could arise in the performance of these services. To the extent the PAA or other protections and indemnifications do not apply to
our services, the cost of losses associated with liability not covered by the available protections and indemnifications, or by virtue of our loss of
business because of these added costs could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions used to prepare our financial statements.

In preparing our financial statements, our leadership is required under U.S. GAAP to make estimates and assumptions as of the date of the
financial statements. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported values of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Areas requiring significant estimates by our leadership include:

• Recognition of contract revenue, costs, profit or losses in applying the principles of percentage of completion accounting;
• Estimated amounts for expected project losses, warranty costs, contract close-out or other costs;
• Recognition of recoveries under contract change orders or claims;
• Collectability of billed and unbilled accounts receivable and the need and amount of any allowance for doubtful accounts;
• Estimates of other liabilities, including litigation and insurance revenues/reserves and reserves necessary for self-insured risks;
• Accruals for estimated liabilities, including litigation reserves;
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• Valuation of assets acquired, and liabilities, goodwill, and intangible assets assumed, in acquisitions and ongoing assessment of
impairment;

• Valuation estimates for redeemable noncontrolling interests calculations;
• Valuation of stock-based compensation;
• The determination of liabilities under pension and other post-retirement benefit programs; and
• Income tax provisions and related valuation allowances.

Our actual business and financial results could differ from our estimates of such results, which could have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition and results of operations.

Impairment of long-lived assets or restructuring activities may require us to record a significant charge to earnings.

Our long-lived assets, including our lease right-of-use assets, equity investments and others, are subject to periodic testing for impairment.
Failure to achieve sufficient levels of cash flow at the asset group level has resulted in, and could result in additional, impairment of our long-lived
assets. Further changes in the business environment could lead to changes in the scope of operations of our business. These changes, including the
closure of one or more offices, could result in restructuring and/or asset impairment charges.

Our benefit plan expenses and obligations may fluctuate depending on various factors, including inflation, changes in levels of interest
rates, and pension plan asset performance.

We have various employee benefit plan obligations that require us to make contributions to satisfy, over time, our underfunded benefit
obligations, which are generally determined by calculating the projected benefit obligations minus the fair value of plan assets. For example, as of
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, our defined benefit pension and post-retirement benefit plans were underfunded by $61.5 million and
$81.2 million, respectively. See Note 13- Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional disclosure. We may have to contribute additional cash to meet any
underfunded benefit obligations associated with retirement and post-retirement benefit plans we manage or for which we have contribution or funding
obligations. If we are required to contribute a significant amount of the deficit for underfunded benefit plans, our cash flows could be materially and
adversely affected.

Additionally, we provide health care and other benefits to our employees. In recent years, costs for health care have increased more rapidly
than general inflation in the U.S. economy. If this trend in health care costs continues, our cost to provide such benefits could increase, which could
have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

We are also a participating employer in various Multi-Employer Pension Plans ("MEPPs") associated with some of the work we perform on a
union basis, which MEPPs are managed by third party trusts and over which we have no control, including as to how the MEPPs are managed or
financial investment decisions are made. If any of these MEPPs is underfunded, we could face the imposition of underfunded liability or withdrawal
liability at a materially adverse level.

Our businesses could be materially and adversely affected by events outside of our control.

Extraordinary or force majeure events beyond our control, such as natural or human caused disasters, could negatively impact our ability to
operate. As an example, from time to time we face unexpected severe weather conditions which may result in weather-related delays that are not
always reimbursable under a fixed-price contract; evacuation of personnel and curtailment of services; increased labor and material costs in areas
resulting from weather-related damage and subsequent increased demand for labor and materials for repairing and rebuilding; inability to deliver
materials, equipment and personnel to job sites in accordance with contract schedules; and loss of productivity. We may remain obligated to perform
our services after any such natural or human caused event, unless a force majeure clause or other contractual provision provides us with relief from
our contractual obligations. If we are not able to react quickly to such events, or if a high concentration of our projects is in a specific geographic
region that suffers from a natural or human caused catastrophe, our operations may be significantly affected, which could have a material adverse
impact on our operations. In addition, if we cannot complete our contracts on time, we may be subject to potential liability claims by our clients which
may reduce our profits.
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Our continued success is dependent upon our ability to hire, retain, and utilize qualified personnel.

The success of our business is dependent upon our ability to hire, retain and utilize qualified personnel, including engineers, architects,
designers, craft personnel and corporate leadership professionals who have the required experience and expertise at a reasonable cost. The market
for these and other personnel is competitive. From time to time, it may be difficult to attract and retain qualified individuals with the expertise, and in
the timeframe, demanded by our clients, or to replace such personnel when needed in a timely manner. In certain geographic areas, for example, we
may not be able to satisfy the demand for our services because of our inability to successfully hire and retain qualified personnel. Furthermore, some
of our personnel hold government granted clearance that may be required to obtain government projects. If we were to lose some or all of these
personnel, they would be difficult to replace. Loss of the services of, or failure to recruit, qualified technical and leadership personnel could limit our
ability to successfully complete existing projects and compete for new projects.

In addition, in the event that any of our key personnel retire or otherwise leave the Company, we need to have appropriate succession plans
in place and to successfully implement such plans, which requires devoting time and resources toward identifying and integrating new personnel into
leadership roles and other key positions. If we cannot attract and retain qualified personnel or effectively implement appropriate succession plans, it
could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Remote working arrangements may increase our costs and adversely impact our culture and ability to effectively train our personnel.

As many of our employees work remotely, we must adopt new techniques and tools to effectively train and integrate new hires and preserve
our culture. Failure to effectively train our employees could create challenges for us in maintaining high levels of employee awareness of, and
compliance with, our internal procedures and external regulatory compliance requirements, in addition to increasing our recruiting, training and
supervisory costs, while failure to preserve our culture for any reason could harm our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit
personnel, innovate and operate effectively and execute on our business strategy.

Negotiations with labor unions and possible work actions could disrupt operations and increase labor costs and operating expenses.

A certain portion of our work force has entered into, and additional portions may in the future enter into, collective bargaining agreements,
which on occasion may require renegotiation. The outcome of future negotiations relating to union representation or collective bargaining agreements
may not be favorable to the Company in that they may increase our operating expenses and lower our net income as a result of higher wages or
benefit expenses. In addition, negotiations with unions diverts management attention and could disrupt operations, which may adversely affect our
results of operations. If we are unable to negotiate acceptable collective bargaining agreements, we may have to address the threat of union-initiated
work actions, including work slowdowns and strikes. Depending on the nature of the threat or the type and duration of any work action, these actions
could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our professional reputation and relationships with government agencies are critical to our business, and any harm to our reputation or
relationships could decrease the amount of business that governments do with us, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

A significant portion of our revenue is earned directly or indirectly from various government agencies. If our reputation or relationships with
these agencies were harmed, our future revenue and growth prospects would be materially and adversely affected. Our reputation and relationship
with these government agencies is a key factor in maintaining and growing revenue under our government contracts. Negative press reports
regarding poor contract performance, employee misconduct, information security breaches, engagements in or perceived connections to politically or
socially sensitive activities, or other aspects of our business, or regarding government contractors generally, could harm our reputation. In addition, to
the extent our performance under a contract does not meet a government agency’s expectations, the client might seek to terminate the contract prior
to its scheduled expiration date, provide a negative assessment of our performance to government-maintained contractor past-performance data
repositories, fail to award us additional business under existing contracts or otherwise, and direct future business to our competitors. If our reputation
or relationships with these agencies are negatively affected, or if we are suspended or debarred from contracting with government agencies for any
reason, such actions would decrease the amount of business that the government agency does with us, which would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our focus on new growth areas for our business entails risks, including those associated with new relationships, clients, talent needs,
capabilities, service and product offerings, and maintaining our collaborative culture and core values.

We are focused on growing our presence in our addressable markets by: expanding our relationships with existing clients, developing new
clients by leveraging our core competencies, further developing our existing capabilities and service offerings, creating new capabilities and solutions
offerings to address our clients' emerging needs, and undertaking business development efforts focused on identifying near-term developments and
long-term trends that may pose significant challenges for our clients. These efforts entail inherent risks associated with innovation and competition
from other participants in those areas, potential failure to help our clients respond to the challenges they face, our ability to comply with uncertain
evolving legal standards applicable to certain of our offerings, including those in the cybersecurity area, and, with respect to potential international
growth, risks associated with operating in foreign jurisdictions, such as compliance with applicable foreign and U.S. laws and regulations that may
impose different and, occasionally, conflicting or contradictory requirements, and the economic, legal, and political conditions in the foreign
jurisdictions in which we operate. As we attempt to develop new relationships, clients, capabilities, and service and product offerings, these efforts
could harm our results of operations due to, among other things, a diversion of our focus and resources and actual costs, opportunity costs of
pursuing these opportunities in lieu of others and a failure to reach a profitable return on our investments in new technologies, capabilities, and
businesses, including expenses on research and development investments, and these efforts could ultimately be unsuccessful.

The needs of our customers change and evolve regularly. Our success depends upon our ability to identify emerging technological trends;
develop technologically advanced, innovative, and cost-effective products and services; and market these products and services to our customers.
For example, one of our business strategies is to invest in, develop and promote innovative climate response technologies and solutions in order to
meet the demands of our public and private sector clients. A misalignment between the technologies and solutions we identify to invest in, develop
and promote and our clients’ needs may adversely impact our results of operations and reputation. Although we have strategies to mitigate this risk,
we cannot assure you that we will identify the most effective technologies and solutions to invest in, promote or develop. Additionally, as we diversify
and expand our product offerings, there is also an increased risk that one or more of our product offerings could fail to meet specifications in a
particular application, or could be perceived by our customers to contain defects, which could result in our being liable for damages and losses that
arise from such products. Products with defects, or which are otherwise incompatible with intended end uses, may also result in us having to recall
such products, or provide additional services under the product warranty, which may impact our profitability. A failure of our products and solutions to
meet specifications may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, or financial condition.

Our success also depends on our continued access to suppliers of important technologies and components. The possibility exists that our
competitors might develop new capabilities or service offerings that might cause our existing capabilities and service offerings to become obsolete. If
we fail in our new capabilities development efforts or our capabilities or services fail to achieve market acceptance more rapidly than our competitors,
our ability to procure new contracts could be negatively impacted, which would negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, with the growth of our U.S. and international operations, we provide client services and undertake business development efforts in
numerous and disparate geographic locations, both domestically and internationally. Our ability to effectively serve our clients is dependent upon our
ability to successfully leverage our operating model across all of these and any future locations, maintain effective management controls over all of
our locations to ensure, among other things, compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, and instill our core values in all of our personnel
at each of these and any future locations. Any inability to ensure any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations.

Fluctuations in commodity prices may affect our customers’ investment decisions and therefore subject us to risks of cancellation, delays
in existing work, or changes in the timing and funding of new awards.

Commodity prices can affect our customers in a number of ways. For example, for those customers that produce commodity products such
as oil, gas, batteries or fertilizers, fluctuations in price can have a direct effect on their profitability and cash flow and, therefore, their willingness to
continue to invest or make new capital investments. Furthermore, declines in commodity prices can negatively impact our business in regions whose
economies are substantially dependent on commodity prices, such as the Middle East. To the extent commodity prices decline or fluctuate and our
customers defer new investments or cancel or delay existing projects, the demand for our services decreases, which may have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Commodity prices can also strongly affect the costs of projects. Rising commodity prices can negatively impact the potential returns on
investments that are planned, as well as those in progress, and result in customers deferring new investments or canceling or delaying existing
projects. Cancellations and delays have affected our past results and may continue to do so in significant and unpredictable ways and could have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we, or any of our subsidiaries or companies in which we have made strategic investments, lose, or experience a significant reduction in,
business from one or a few customers, it could have a material adverse impact on us.

A few clients have in the past, and may in the future, account for a significant portion of our revenue and/or backlog, or the revenue and/or
backlog for our subsidiaries or companies in which we have made strategic investments, in any one year or over a period of several consecutive
years. For example, in fiscal 2023, 2022 and 2021, approximately 31%, 31% and 33%, respectively, of our revenue was earned directly or indirectly
from agencies of the U.S. federal government. Although we have long-standing relationships with many of our significant clients, our clients may
unilaterally reduce, delay or cancel their contracts at any time. If we, or any of our subsidiaries or companies in which we have made strategic
investments, lose, or experience a significant reduction in business from a significant client could have a material adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Related to International Operations

Our international operations are exposed to additional risks and uncertainties, including unfavorable political developments and weak
foreign economies.

For fiscal 2023, approximately 33% of our revenue was earned from clients outside the U.S. Our business is dependent on the continued
success of our international operations, and we expect our international operations to continue to account for a significant portion of our total
revenues. Our international operations are subject to a variety of risks, including:

• Recessions and other economic crises in other regions, such as Europe, Asia or other specific foreign economies and the impact on our
costs of doing business in those countries;

• Difficulties in staffing and managing foreign personnel and operations, including challenges related to logistics, communications and
professional licensure of our international workforce;

• Unexpected changes in foreign government policies and regulatory requirements;
• Potential non-compliance with a wide variety of laws and regulations, including anti-corruption, export control and anti-boycott laws and

similar non-U.S. laws and regulations;
• Potential non-compliance with regulations and evolving industry standards regarding consumer protection and data use and security,

including the General Data Protection Regulation approved by the European Union and the Data Protection Act approved by the United
Kingdom;

• Lack of developed legal systems to enforce contractual rights;
• Expropriation and nationalization of our assets in a foreign country;
• Renegotiation or nullification of our existing contracts;
• The adoption of new, and the expansion of existing, trade or other restrictions;
• Embargoes, duties, tariffs or other trade restrictions, including sanctions;
• Geopolitical developments that impact our or our clients’ ability to operate in a foreign country;
• Changes in labor conditions;
• Acts of war, aggression between nations, civil unrest, force majeure, and terrorism;
• The ability to finance efficiently our foreign operations;
• Social, political, and economic instability;
• Changes to tax policy;
• Currency exchange rate fluctuations;
• Limitations on the ability to repatriate foreign earnings; and
• U.S. government policy changes in relation to the foreign countries in which we operate.
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The lack of a well-developed legal system in some of these countries may make it difficult to enforce our contractual rights. In addition,
military action, geopolitical shifts or continued unrest, particularly in the Middle East, could disrupt our operations in the region and elsewhere and
may also impact the supply or pricing of oil, increase our security costs and cost of compliance with local laws, and present risks to our reputation.
Additionally, recent events, including changes in U.S. trade policies and responsive changes in policy by foreign jurisdictions and similar geopolitical
developments, the U.K.'s exit from the E.U., commonly referred to as “Brexit," and uncertainty in the E.U., Asia and elsewhere, have increased levels
of political and economic unpredictability globally, and may increase the volatility of global financial markets and the global and regional economies.

In addition, our globally connected talent force collaborates to deliver solutions for clients, agnostic of geography. This relies upon client
procurement models that are open to global professional service provision. Increased nationalization and heightened “buy-local” policies and
regulation could reduce the effectiveness and competitive differentiation enabled by our global delivery model and compound the existing talent
shortage in key geographies. To the extent our international operations are affected by unexpected or adverse economic, political and other
conditions, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Foreign exchange risks may affect our ability to realize a profit from certain projects.

We are a global professional services company, with our international operations accounting for approximately 33% of our annual revenue in
fiscal 2023. Fluctuations in exchange rates for foreign currencies have reduced, and could continue to reduce, the U.S. dollar value of sales, earnings
and cash flows we receive from non-U.S. markets, negatively impact our competitiveness in those markets or otherwise adversely impact our
business results, reported financial condition and the U.S. dollar value of our backlog. Our reported financial condition and results of operations are
exposed to the effects (both positive and negative) that fluctuating exchange rates have on the process of translating the financial statements of our
international operations, which are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, into the U.S. dollar.

In addition, fluctuations in exchange rates may increase our supply costs (as measured in U.S. dollars) in international markets. While we
generally attempt to denominate our contracts in the currencies of our expenditures, we do enter into contracts that expose us to currency risk,
particularly to the extent contract revenue is denominated in a currency different than the contract costs. We may attempt to minimize our exposure
from currency risks by obtaining escalation provisions for projects in inflationary economies or entering into derivative (hedging) instruments, when
there is currency risk exposure that is not naturally mitigated via our contracts. These actions, however, may not always eliminate currency risk
exposure. The governments of certain countries have or may in the future impose restrictive exchange controls on local currencies and it may not be
possible for us to engage in effective hedging transactions to mitigate the risks associated with fluctuations in a particular currency. We may also be
exposed to limitations on our ability to reinvest earnings from operations in one country to fund the financing requirements of our operations in other
countries.

Our global presence could give rise to material fluctuations in our income tax rates.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide
provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. We are regularly under audit by tax authorities. Although we believe that our tax estimates and tax positions are reasonable, they could
be materially affected by many factors including the final outcome of tax audits and related litigation, the introduction of new tax accounting standards,
legislation, regulations and related interpretations, our global mix of earnings, the realizability of deferred tax assets and changes in uncertain tax
positions. An increase or decrease in our effective tax rate, or an ultimate determination that the Company owes more taxes than the amounts
previously accrued, could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

We work in international locations where there are high security risks, which could result in harm to our employees or unanticipated costs.
Some of our services are performed in high-risk locations, where the country or location is subject to political, social or economic risks, or

war, terrorism or civil unrest. In those locations where we have employees or operations, we may expend significant efforts and incur substantial
security costs to maintain the safety of our personnel. Despite these activities, in these locations, we cannot always guarantee the safety of our
personnel. Acts of terrorism, threats of armed conflicts and human rights violations in or around various areas in which we operate could limit or
disrupt markets and our operations, including disruptions resulting from the evacuation of personnel or the cancellation of contracts, and in some
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instances, cause damage to our reputation. The loss of key employees or contractors, whether as a result of injury, death or attrition, may adversely
impact our business operations.

Risks Related to Acquisitions, Investments, Joint Ventures and Divestitures

Our use of joint ventures, partnerships and strategic investments in entities exposes us to risks and uncertainties, many of which are
outside of our control.

As is common in our industry, we perform certain contracts as a member of joint ventures, partnerships, and similar arrangements. This
situation exposes us to a number of risks, including the risk that our partners may be unable to fulfill their obligations to us or our clients.

Further, we have limited ability to control the actions of our joint venture partners, including with respect to nonperformance, default,
bankruptcy or legal or regulatory compliance. Our partners may be unable or unwilling to provide the required levels of financial support to the
partnerships. If these circumstances occur, we may be liable for claims and losses attributable to the partner by operation of law or contract. These
circumstances could also lead to disputes and litigation with our partners or clients, all of which could have a material adverse impact on our
reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on the management effectiveness of our joint venture partners. Differences in views among the joint venture participants may
result in delayed decisions or in failures to agree on major issues, which could materially affect the business and operations of these ventures. In
addition, in many of the countries in which we engage in joint ventures, it may be difficult to enforce our contractual rights under the applicable joint
venture agreement. If we are not able to enforce our contractual rights, we may not be able to realize the benefits of the joint venture or we may be
subject to additional liabilities.

We participate in joint ventures and similar arrangements in which we are not the controlling partner. In these cases, we have limited control
over the actions of the joint venture. These joint ventures may not be subject to the same requirements regarding internal controls and internal control
over financial reporting that we follow. To the extent the controlling partner makes decisions that negatively impact the joint venture or internal control
problems arise within the joint venture, it could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The failure by a joint venture partner to comply with applicable laws, regulations or client requirements could negatively impact our business
and, for government clients, could result in fines, penalties, suspension or even debarment being imposed on us, which could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

An impairment charge on our goodwill or intangible assets could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of
operations.

Because we have grown in part through acquisitions, goodwill and intangible assets represent a substantial portion of our assets. As of
September 29, 2023, we had $7.34 billion of goodwill, representing 50.2% of our total assets of $14.62 billion. Under U.S. GAAP, we are required to
test goodwill carried in our Consolidated Balance Sheets for possible impairment on an annual basis, and whenever events occur, or circumstances
change, that indicate impairments could exist, based upon a fair value approach. We also assess the recoverability of the unamortized balance of our
intangible assets when indications of impairment are present based on expected future probability and undiscounted expected cash flows and their
contribution to our overall operations. We have chosen to perform our annual impairment reviews of goodwill at the beginning of the fiscal fourth
quarter.

If our market capitalization drops significantly below the amount of net equity recorded on our balance sheet, it might indicate a decline in our
fair value and would require us to further evaluate whether our goodwill has been impaired. If the fair value of our reporting units is less than their
carrying value, we could be required to record an impairment charge. The amount of any impairment could be significant and could have a material
adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations for the period in which the charge is taken. For a further discussion of goodwill
impairment testing, please see Item 7- Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations below.
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Our business strategy relies in part on acquisitions and strategic investments to sustain our growth. These transactions present certain
risks and uncertainties.

Our business strategy involves growth through, among other things, the acquisition of, and strategic investments in, other companies, such
as our acquisitions of CH2M, KeyW, John Wood Group’s nuclear business, Buffalo Group, BlackLynx and StreetLight and our strategic investment in
PA Consulting. These transactions, as well as transactions we may engage in in the future, present a number of risks, including:

• Assumption of liabilities of an acquired business, including liabilities that were unknown at the time the transaction was negotiated, such
as if the target company failed to comply with U.S. federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations and/or contractual requirements
with government clients;

• Valuation methodologies may not accurately capture the value of the target company's business;
• Failure to realize anticipated benefits, such as cost savings, synergies, business opportunities and growth opportunities within the

anticipated time-frame or at all;
• The loss of key customers or suppliers, including as a result of any actual or perceived conflicts of interest;
• Difficulties or delays in obtaining regulatory approvals, licenses and permits;
• Difficulties relating to combining previously separate entities into a single, integrated, and efficient business;
• For strategic investments in which we do not acquire 100% of the target company, the other equity holders may have consent rights over

certain actions taken by the company, and in the event a target company continues to operate as a standalone company, it may result in
additional costs;

• The effects of diverting leadership’s attention from day-to-day operations to matters involving the integration of target companies;
• Potentially substantial transaction costs associated with business combinations, strategic investments and/or divestitures;
• Potential impairment resulting from the overpayment for an acquisition or investment or post-closing deterioration in the target company's

business;
• Difficulties relating to assimilating the leadership, personnel, benefits, services, and systems of an acquired business and to assimilating

marketing and other operational capabilities;

• Difficulties retaining key personnel of the target company;
• Increased burdens on our staff and on our administrative, internal control and operating systems, which may hinder our legal and

regulatory compliance activities;
• Increased financial and accounting challenges and complexities in areas such as tax planning, treasury management, financial and non-

financial (e.g. climate-related) reporting and internal controls;
• The potential for claims for damages by the sellers of any business if we enter into an acquisition agreement that we do not ultimately

consummate, or if disputes arise post-closing relating to post-closing covenants or payment obligations; and
• The risks discussed in this Item 1A. Risk Factors that may relate to the activities of the acquired business prior to the acquisition.

While we may obtain indemnification rights from the sellers of acquired businesses and/or insurance that could mitigate certain of these risks,
such rights may be difficult to enforce, the losses may exceed any dedicated escrow funds and the indemnitors may not have the ability to financially
support the indemnity, or the insurance coverage may be unavailable or insufficient to cover all losses.

If our leadership is unable to successfully integrate acquired companies or implement our growth strategy with respect to acquisitions and/or
strategic investments, our operating results could be harmed. Moreover, we cannot assure that we will continue to successfully expand or that growth
or expansion will result in profitability.

In addition, there is no assurance that we will continue to locate suitable acquisition or investment targets or that we will be able to
consummate any such transactions on terms and conditions acceptable to us. Existing cash balances and cash flow from operations, together with
borrowing capacity under our credit facilities, may be insufficient to make acquisitions and/or strategic investments. Future acquisitions and/or
strategic investments may require us to obtain additional equity or debt financing, which may not be available on attractive terms, or at all.
Acquisitions and/or strategic investments may also bring us into businesses we have not previously conducted and expose us to additional business
risks that are different than those we have traditionally experienced.
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Acquisitions, strategic investments and divestitures create various business risks and uncertainties during the pendency of the
transaction.

Consummation of any merger, strategic investment or divestiture is subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, including one or more
of the following: (i) due diligence and its associated time and cost commitments, (ii) board and shareholder approval, (iii) regulatory approvals, (iv) the
absence of any legal restraint that would prevent the consummation of the transaction, (v) the absence of material adverse conditions which can
prevent the consummation of the transaction, and (vi) compliance with covenants and the accuracy of representations and warranties contained in
the transaction agreement, among others. One or more of these conditions may not be fulfilled and, accordingly, the transaction may not be
consummated or may be significantly delayed. In such case, our ongoing business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially
adversely affected and the market price of our common stock may decline, particularly to the extent that the market price reflects a market
assumption that the transaction will be consummated or will be consummated within a particular timeframe.

Furthermore, most transactions require the Company to incur substantial expense associated with closing and if the transaction is not
consummated, we will incur these expenses without realizing the expected benefits. The pursuit of the transaction will also require management
attention and use of internal resources that would otherwise be focused on general business operations. In addition, customers’ uncertainty about the
effect of the transaction may have an adverse effect on the ability to win customer contracts or could cause existing clients to seek to change existing
business relationships. Employee morale due to the uncertainties associated with the transaction could also be negatively affected. Any of the
foregoing, or other risks arising in connection with a failure or delay in consummating a transaction, including the diversion of management attention
or loss of other opportunities during the pendency of the transaction, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We may make minority investments that subject us to risks and uncertainties outside of our control.

From time to time, the Company may make minority investments in the equity securities of companies that we do not control. Minority
investments inherently involve a lesser degree of control over business operations, thereby potentially increasing the financial, legal, operational
and/or compliance risks associated with the minority investment.

To the extent we hold only a minority equity interest in a company, we may lack affirmative control rights, which may diminish our ability to
influence the company’s affairs in a manner intended to enhance the value of our investment in the company. We could incur losses if the majority
stakeholders or the management of the company takes risks or otherwise acts in a manner that does not serve our interests. In addition, we could be
subject to reputational harm if the company in which the investment is made makes business, financial or management decisions with which we do
not agree. These circumstances could also lead to disputes and litigation with management or employees of the company in which the investment is
made, or its other stockholders.

In most cases, the companies in which we make investments will have indebtedness or equity securities, or may be permitted to incur
indebtedness or to issue equity securities, which rank senior to our investment. We also may make investments in early-stage companies that
depend on venture funding and are not profitable. In the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of a company in
which an investment is made, holders of debt instruments and securities ranking senior to our investment would typically be entitled to receive
payment in full before distributions could be made in respect of our investment.

We may also enter into separate commercial arrangements with these companies, whether before, concurrently with, or after making a
minority investment. In certain cases, the commercial arrangement may be a driving factor behind our investment. We cannot assure you that that the
commercial arrangement will further our business strategy as we expected. We may not realize all the economic benefits expected from the
commercial agreement or realize the expected return on our investments.

We are pursuing a plan to separate and combine our Critical Mission Services business and a portion of our Divergent Solutions business
with Amentum in a tax-efficient Reverse Morris Trust transaction. The proposed transaction may not be completed on the currently
contemplated timeline or at all and may not achieve the intended benefits.

On November 20, 2023, we entered into definitive agreements to separate and combine our Critical Mission Services business and a portion
of our Divergent Solutions business (the “Separated Business”) with Amentum in a transaction intended to be tax-free to Jacobs’ shareholders for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. As part of the transaction,
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it is contemplated that immediately prior to the transaction, the Separated Business would enter into third-party financing in an aggregate principal
amount of approximately $1.13 billion to finance a $1.0 billion cash payment to Jacobs. The cash payment is subject to adjustment and could be less
or more than anticipated primarily due to variances in working capital and net debt. In connection with the transaction, our stockholders will receive up
to 51% percent of the outstanding equity of the combined company on a fully diluted basis. Additionally, subject to achievement of certain operating
profit targets during fiscal year 2024, Jacobs will receive between 7.5% and 12% of the outstanding equity of the combined company on a fully diluted
basis. The actual value of the stock to be received by our stockholders will depend on the value of such shares at the time of closing of the
transaction. The distribution will be effected by means of a pro rata dividend in a spin-off transaction. There can be no assurance that the operating
profit targets of the Separated Business will be achieved, and if not achieved, Amentum's shareholders may own as much as 41.5% of the combined
company.

Although we expect the transaction to be consummated in the second half of our fiscal year 2024, the transaction is subject to closing
conditions, including the receipt of regulatory approvals, an I.R.S. private letter ruling, and receipt of opinions of tax counsel. There can be no
assurance that the conditions to closing will be satisfied in a timely manner or at all, or that any regulatory approvals will not contain adverse
conditions. We also have no assurance that we will be able to realize the intended benefits and tax treatment of the transaction or that the new
combined company will perform as expected. The announcement and pendency of the transaction could also cause disruptions in our and Amentum's
respective businesses, including potential adverse reactions or changes to business relationships and competitive responses to the transaction. The
transaction will also require significant amounts of time and effort which could divert management’s attention from operating and growing our
business. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Declines in our sales, earnings and
cash flows could also result in future asset impairments (including goodwill).

Risks Related to Regulatory Compliance

Past and future environmental, health, and safety laws could impose significant additional costs and liabilities.

We are subject to a variety of environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations governing, among other things, discharges to air and
water, the handling, storage and disposal of hazardous or waste materials and the remediation of contamination associated with the releases of
hazardous substances, and human health and safety. These laws and regulations and the risk of attendant litigation can cause significant delays to a
project and add significantly to its cost. Violations of these regulations could subject us and our management to civil and criminal penalties and other
liabilities.

Various U.S. federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations may impose liability for property damage and costs of
investigation and cleanup of hazardous or toxic substances on property currently or previously owned by us or arising out of our waste management
or environmental remediation activities. These laws may impose responsibility and liability without regard to knowledge of or causation of the
presence of contaminants. The liability under these laws may be joint and several. We have potential liabilities associated with our past waste
management and other activities and with our current and prior ownership of various properties. The discovery of additional contaminants or the
imposition of unforeseen clean-up obligations at these or other sites could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of
operations.

Health, safety, and environmental laws and regulations and policies are reviewed periodically, and any changes thereto could affect us in
substantial and unpredictable ways. Such changes could, for example, relax or repeal laws and regulations relating to the environment, which could
result in a decline in the demand for our environmental services and, in turn, could negatively impact our revenue. Changes in the environmental laws
and regulations, remediation obligations, enforcement actions, stricter interpretations of existing requirements, future discovery of contamination or
claims for damages to persons, property, natural resources or the environment could result in material costs and liabilities that we currently do not
anticipate. Failure to comply with any environmental, health, or safety laws or regulations, whether actual or alleged, exposes us to fines, penalties or
potential litigation liabilities, including costs, settlements and judgments, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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If we fail to comply with any governmental requirements, our business may be adversely affected.
We are subject to U.S. federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations that affect our business, including data privacy and security,

employment and labor relations, immigration, taxation, anti-corruption, anti-bribery, import-export controls, trade restrictions, internal and disclosure
control obligations, securities regulation and anti-competition. For example, our global operations require importing and exporting goods and
technology across international borders which requires compliance with both export regulatory laws and International Trafficking in Arms Regulations
(“ITAR”). Although we have policies and procedures to comply with U.S. and foreign international trade laws, the violation of such laws could subject
the Company and its employees to civil or criminal penalties, including substantial monetary fines, or other adverse actions including denial of import
or export privileges or debarment from participation in U.S. government contracts, and could damage our reputation and our ability to do business.

In addition, we and many of our clients operate in highly regulated environments, which requires us or our clients to obtain, and to comply
with, federal, state and local government permits and approvals. These permits or approvals are subject to denial, revocation or modification under
various circumstances. Failure to obtain or comply with, or the loss or modification of, the conditions of permits or approvals subjects us to the risk of
penalties or other liabilities, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and result of operations.

We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws.

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010, and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally
prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Our policies mandate
compliance with these anti-bribery laws, including the requirements to maintain accurate information and internal controls. We operate in many parts
of the world that have experienced governmental corruption to some degree and in certain circumstances; strict compliance with anti-bribery laws
may conflict with local customs and practices. Despite our training and compliance programs, there is no assurance that our internal control policies
and procedures will protect us from acts committed by our employees or agents. If we are found to be liable for FCPA or other violations (either due to
our own acts or our inadvertence, or due to the acts or inadvertence of others), we could suffer from civil and criminal penalties or other sanctions,
including contract cancellations or debarment and loss of reputation, any of which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Climate Change

Climate change and related environmental issues could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Climate change related events, such as increased frequency and severity of storms, floods, wildfires, droughts, hurricanes, freezing
conditions, and other natural disasters, may have a long-term impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. While we seek to
mitigate our business risks associated with climate change, we recognize that there are inherent climate related risks regardless of where we conduct
our business. For example, a catastrophic natural disaster could negatively impact any of our office locations and the locations of our customers.
Access to clean water and reliable energy in the communities where we conduct our business is critical to our operations. Accordingly, a natural
disaster has the potential to disrupt our and our customers’ businesses and may cause us to experience work stoppages, project delays, financial
losses and additional costs to resume operations, including increased insurance costs or loss of coverage, legal liability and reputational losses.

Further, the risks caused by climate change span across the full spectrum of the industry sectors we serve. Our services and solutions span
water, energy, the natural and built environment, transportation, national security, cyber and aerospace. The direct physical risks that climate change
poses to infrastructure through chronic environmental changes, such as rising sea levels and temperatures, and acute events, such as hurricanes,
droughts and wildfires, is common to each of these sectors. Infrastructure owners could face increased costs to maintain their assets, which could
result in reduced profitability and fewer resources for strategic investment. These types of physical risks could in turn lead to transitional risks (i.e., the
degree to which society responds to the threat of climate change), such as market and technology shifts, including decreased demand for our
services and solutions, reputational risks, such as how our values and practices regarding a low carbon transition are viewed by external and internal
stakeholders, and policy and legal risks, such as the extent to which low carbon transitions are driven by the governments in which we operate
around the globe, all of which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may be affected by market or regulatory responses to climate change.

Growing public concern about climate change has resulted in the increased focus of local, state, regional, national and international
regulatory bodies on greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and climate change issues. The Biden Administration has made climate change and the
limitation of GHG emissions one of its initial and primary objectives. Policy changes could increase the costs of projects for our clients or, in some
cases, prevent a project from going forward, thereby potentially reducing the need for our services, which would in turn have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, climate legislation across all geographies poses a similar risk to us and
our clients as we operate globally. However, policy changes and climate legislation could also increase the overall demand for our services as our
clients and partners work to comply with such policies, such as by decarbonizing their industries, transitioning from fossil fuels to renewable energy
sources and developing integrated and sustainable solutions, which could have a positive impact on our business. We cannot predict when or
whether any of these various proposals may be enacted or what their effect will be on us or on our customers.

We may also incur additional expenses as a result of U.S. and international regulators requiring additional disclosures regarding GHG
emissions, and/or broader environmental, social or governance-related factors. Compliance with such regulation and the associated potential cost is
complicated by the fact that various countries and regions are following different approaches to the regulation of climate change.

We may be unable to achieve our climate commitments and targets.

At Jacobs, we have committed to help solve the climate crisis by setting ambitious climate commitments and targets, including our goals to
remain carbon neutral for our operations and business travel and reach net-zero for our entire value chain by 2040. However, achievement of our
climate commitments and targets is subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control. These risks and uncertainties include,
but are not limited to: our ability to execute our operational strategies and achieve our goals within the currently projected costs and the expected
timeframes; the availability and cost of alternative fuels, global electrical charging infrastructure, off-site renewable energy and other materials and
components; unforeseen design, operational and technological difficulties; the outcome of research efforts and future technology developments,
including the ability to scale projects and technologies on a commercially competitive basis such as carbon sequestration and/or other related
processes; compliance with, and changes or additions to, global and regional regulations, taxes, charges, mandates or requirements relating to GHG
emissions, carbon costs or climate-related goals; labor-related regulations and requirements that restrict or prohibit our ability to impose requirements
on third party contractors; adapting products to customer preferences and customer acceptance of sustainable supply chain solutions; the actions of
competitors and competitive pressures; an acquisition of or merger with another company that has not adopted similar carbon goals or whose
progress toward reaching its carbon goals is not as advanced as ours; and the pace of regional and global recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic.
Accordingly, there is no assurance that we will be able to successfully execute our operational strategies and achieve our climate commitments and
targets.

While our climate commitments and targets are ambitious, we believe that they are realistic and achievable. We have also developed a
roadmap for implementation of our carbon reduction goals and our global emissions reduction trajectory suggests that we are on the pathway to meet
our targets. However, we also recognize that some of our emission reductions over the past few years may have been primarily the result of the
global COVID-19 pandemic. Our roadmap recognizes these anomalies, and we are putting measures in place now to establish a similar trajectory.
However, we cannot guarantee that such measures will be successful. Failure to achieve our climate commitments and targets could damage our
reputation and our customer and other stakeholder relationships. Further, investors have recently increased their focus on environmental, social and
governance matters, including practices related to GHGs and climate change. An increasing percentage of the investment community considers
sustainability factors in making investment decisions, and an increasing number of entities are considering sustainability factors in awarding business.
If we are unable to meet our climate commitments and targets and appropriately address sustainability enhancement, we may lose investors,
customers, or partners, our stock price may be negatively impacted, our reputation may be negatively affected, and it may be more difficult for us to
compete effectively, all of which would have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Risks Related to Our Indebtedness and Credit Markets

We rely in part on liquidity from our credit facilities to fund our business. Restrictions in our credit facilities and other indebtedness could
adversely affect our business.

We are currently a borrower under several credit facilities and our subsidiary, Jacobs Engineering Inc., has issued notes pursuant to an
indenture with respect to which Jacobs has provided a guarantee. These facilities and indenture contain customary covenants restricting, among
other things, our ability to incur certain liens and indebtedness. We are also subject to certain financial covenants in our credit facilities, including
maintenance of a maximum consolidated leverage ratio. A breach of any covenant or our inability to comply with the required financial ratios could
result in a default under one or more of our credit facilities or indentures and limit our ability to do further borrowing. We cannot assure you that we
will be able to maintain compliance with these covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, we may be prohibited from undertaking actions that are
necessary or desirable to maintain or expand our business. Additionally, if it becomes necessary to refinance these borrowings on less favorable
terms, or if we are unable to refinance at all, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by increased
costs and rates.

Our business may be adversely affected by disruptions or lack of liquidity in the credit markets, including reduced access to credit and
higher costs of obtaining credit.

We depend on the availability of credit to grow our business and to help fund business acquisitions. Instability in the credit markets in the U.S.
or abroad, and continued inflation and rising interest rates could cause the availability of credit to be relatively difficult or expensive to obtain at
competitive rates, on commercially reasonable terms or in sufficient amounts. This situation could make it more difficult or more expensive for us to
access funds, refinance our existing indebtedness, enter into agreements for new indebtedness, or obtain funding through the issuance of securities
or such additional capital may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

In addition, market conditions could negatively impact our clients’ ability to fund their projects and, therefore, utilize our services, which could
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We also routinely enter into contracts with counterparties including vendors, suppliers and subcontractors that may be negatively impacted by
events in the credit markets. Disruptions of the credit or capital markets could adversely affect our clients’ ability to finance projects and could result in
contract cancellations or suspensions, project delays and payment delays or defaults by our clients. In addition, clients may be unable to fund new
projects, may choose to make fewer capital expenditures or otherwise slow their spending on our services or to seek contract terms more favorable to
them. These circumstances could also lead to disputes and litigation with our partners or clients, which could have a material adverse impact on our
reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, our cash balances and short-term investments are maintained in accounts held by major banks and financial institutions located
primarily in North America, Europe, South America, Australia and Asia. Some of our accounts hold deposits in amounts that exceed available
insurance. In addition, we are subject to the risk that the counterparties to our credit agreements may go bankrupt if they suffer catastrophic demand
on their liquidity that will prevent them from fulfilling their contractual obligations to us. Although none of our lenders or the financial institutions in
which we hold our cash and investments have gone into bankruptcy or forced receivership, or have been seized by their governments, there is a risk
that such events may occur in the future. If any such events were to occur, we would be at risk of not being able to access cash, which may result in a
temporary liquidity crisis that could impede our ability to fund our operations, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Page 43



Maintaining adequate bonding and letter of credit capacity is necessary for us to successfully bid on and win some contracts.

In line with industry practice, we are often required to provide performance or payment bonds or letters of credit to our customers. These
instruments indemnify the customer should we fail to perform our obligations under the contract. If a bond or a letter of credit is required for a
particular project and we are unable to obtain an appropriate bond or letter of credit, we cannot pursue that project. Historically, we have had
adequate bonding and letter of credit capacity but, as is typically the case, the issuance of a bond is at the surety’s sole discretion and the issuance of
a letter of credit is based on the Company's credit-worthiness. Because of an overall lack of worldwide bonding capacity, we may find it difficult to find
sureties who will provide required levels of bonding, or such bonding may only be available at significant additional cost. There can be no assurance
that our bonding capacity will continue to be available to us on reasonable terms. In addition, future projects may require us to obtain letters of credit
that extend beyond the term of our existing credit facilities. Our inability to obtain adequate bonding and, as a result, to bid on new contracts that
require such bonding or letter of credit could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase and our net
income and cash flows to correspondingly decrease.

Borrowings under our credit facilities are at variable rates of interest and expose us to interest rate risk. In the past year, inflation and other
factors have resulted in an increase in interest rates generally, which has impacted our borrowing costs. If interest rates were to continue to increase,
our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness referred to above would increase even if the principal amount borrowed remained the
same, and our net income and cash flows will correspondingly decrease. We are also currently party to, and in the future, we may enter into
additional, interest rate swaps that involve the exchange of floating for fixed rate interest payments, in order to reduce interest rate volatility. However,
we may not maintain interest rate swaps with respect to all of our variable rate indebtedness, and any swaps we enter into may not fully mitigate our
interest rate risk.

In addition, our credit facilities reference the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as the primary benchmark rate for our variable rate
indebtedness. SOFR is a relatively new reference rate and with a limited history, and changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more volatile than
changes in other benchmark or market rates. As a result, the amount of interest we may pay on our variable rate indebtedness is difficult to predict.

We have also included sustainability-linked key performance indicators ("KPIs") in our credit facilities and certain of our senior notes, with KPI
targets that include improving gender diversity and, in the case of the senior notes, reducing GHG emissions. Failure to achieve such targets could
result in an interest rate step up on the debt, which would cause an increase in our debt payment obligations and could negatively impact our
reputation.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock and Corporate Structure

Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly, which could have a material negative effect on the price of our common stock.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly or fall below the expectations of securities analysts, which could have a material
adverse impact on the price of our common stock. Fluctuations are caused by a number of factors, including:

• Legal proceedings, disputes and/or government investigations;
• Fluctuations in the spending patterns of our government and commercial customers;
• The number and significance of projects executed during a quarter;
• Unanticipated changes in contract performance, particularly with contracts that have funding limits;
• The timing of resolving change orders, requests for equitable adjustments, and other contract adjustments;
• Delays incurred in connection with a project;
• Changes in prices of commodities or other supplies;
• Changes in foreign currency exchange rates;
• Weather conditions that delay work at project sites;
• The timing of expenses incurred in connection with acquisitions or other corporate initiatives;
• The decision by the Board of Directors to begin or cease paying a dividend, and the expectation that if the Company pays dividends, it

will declare dividends at the same or higher levels in the future;
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• Natural disasters or other crises;
• Staff levels and utilization rates;
• Changes in prices of services offered by our competitors; and
• General economic and political conditions.

There can be no assurance that we will pay dividends on our common stock.

Our Board of Directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend program in fiscal 2017 under which we have paid, and intend to continue paying,
regular quarterly dividends. The declaration, amount and timing of such dividends are subject to capital availability and determinations by our Board
of Directors that cash dividends are in the best interest of our stockholders and are in compliance with all respective laws and applicable
agreements. Our ability to pay dividends will depend upon, among other factors, our cash balances and potential future capital requirements for
strategic transactions, including acquisitions, debt service requirements, results of operations, financial condition and other factors that our Board of
Directors may deem relevant. A reduction in or elimination of our dividend payments and/or our dividend program could have a material negative
effect on our stock price.

In the event we issue stock as consideration for certain acquisitions we may make, we could dilute share ownership, and if we receive
stock in connection with a divestiture, the value of stock is subject to fluctuation.

One method of acquiring companies or otherwise funding our corporate activities is through the issuance of additional equity securities. If we
issue additional equity securities, such issuances could have the effect of diluting our earnings per share as well as our existing shareholders’
individual ownership percentages in the Company.

In addition, if we receive stock or other equity securities in connection with a sale or divestiture of a business, the value of such stock will
fluctuate and/or be subject to trading restrictions. Stock price changes may result from, among other things, changes in the business, operations or
prospects of the issuer prior to or following the transaction, litigation or regulatory considerations, general business, market, industry or economic
conditions, the ability to sell all or a portion of the stock based on current market conditions, and other factors both within and beyond the control of
the Company. In addition, if the stock received is valued in a currency other than U.S. dollars, the value of such stock will also fluctuate based on
foreign currency rates.

Delaware law and our charter documents may impede or discourage a takeover or change of control.

We are a Delaware corporation. Certain anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware general corporation law impose restrictions on the ability of
others to acquire control of us. In addition, certain provisions of our charter documents may impede or discourage a takeover. For example:

• Only our Board of Directors can fill vacancies on the board;

• There are various restrictions on the ability of a shareholder to nominate a director for election; and

• Our Board of Directors can authorize the issuance of preferred shares.

These types of provisions, as well as our ability to adopt a shareholder rights agreement in the future, could make it more difficult for a third
party to acquire control of us, even if the acquisition would be beneficial to our shareholders. Accordingly, shareholders may be limited in the ability to
obtain a premium for their shares.

We are a holding company. Substantially all of our business is conducted through our subsidiaries. We depend on the performance of our
subsidiaries and their ability to make distributions to us to fund our operations.

We are a holding company. Substantially all of our business is conducted through our subsidiaries, which are separate and distinct legal
entities. Therefore, we are reliant on the operations of our subsidiaries to fund (whether by dividend, distribution or loan) holding company operations,
including our ability to pay dividends and service any indebtedness of the holding company. In addition, we cannot assure you that the agreements
governing the existing and future indebtedness of our subsidiaries will permit our subsidiaries to provide us with sufficient dividends, distributions or
loans to fund payments of dividends or other obligations of the holding company. In addition, any payment of dividends, distributions or loans to us by
our subsidiaries could be subject to restrictions on dividends or repatriation of earnings under applicable local law and monetary transfer restrictions
in the jurisdictions in which our subsidiaries operate. Furthermore, payments to us by our subsidiaries will be contingent upon our subsidiaries’
earnings.
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Item 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2.    PROPERTIES
Our properties consist primarily of office space within general, commercial office buildings located in major cities primarily in the following

countries: United States; Australia; Canada; India; Poland; United Arab Emirates and United Kingdom. We also lease smaller offices located in certain
other countries. Such space is used for operations (providing technical, professional, and other home office services), sales and administration. The
total amount of space leased by us for all of our operations is approximately 7.0 million square feet. We continue to evaluate our real estate needs in
connection with changes in the Company's use of leased space and as part of our overall strategic organizational changes.

Item 3.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required by this Item 3 is included in Note 18- Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations and Insurance of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

None.
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PART II

Item 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the �cker symbol "J".

Shareholders

According to the records of our transfer agent, there were 2,480 shareholders of record as of November 10, 2023.

Dividend Policy

Our Board of Directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend program in fiscal 2017 under which we have paid, and intend to continue paying,
regular quarterly dividends. The declaration, amount and timing of such dividends are subject to capital availability and determinations by our Board
of Directors that cash dividends are in the best interest of our stockholders and are in compliance with all respective laws and applicable agreements.
Our ability to pay dividends will depend upon, among other factors, our cash balances and potential future capital requirements for strategic
transactions, including acquisitions, debt service requirements, results of operations, financial condition and other factors that our Board of Directors
may deem relevant.

Share Repurchases

On January 25, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $1.0 billion of the Company's
common stock, to expire on January 25, 2026 (the "2023 Repurchase Authorization").

There was no repurchase activity under the 2023 Repurchase Authorization during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023.

On January 16, 2020, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $1.0 billion of the Company's
common stock that expired on January 15, 2023 (the "2020 Repurchase Authorization"). There were no repurchases of the Company's common stock
made during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023 under the 2020 Repurchase Authorization.

As of September 29, 2023, the Company has $874.8 million remaining under the 2023 Repurchase Authorization.

Our share repurchase programs do not obligate the Company to purchase any shares. Share repurchases may be executed through various
means including, without limitation, accelerated share repurchases, open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions, purchases pursuant
to a Rule 10b5-1 plan or otherwise. The authorization for the share repurchase programs may be terminated, increased or decreased by the
Company’s Board of Directors in its discretion at any time. The timing, amount and manner of share repurchases may depend upon market conditions
and economic circumstances, availability of investment opportunities, the availability and costs of financing, currency fluctuations, the market price of
the Company's common stock, other uses of capital and other factors.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Performance Graph

The following graph and table show the changes over the five-year period ended September 29, 2023 in the value of $100 as of the close of
market on September 28, 2018 in (1) the common stock of Jacobs Solutions Inc., (2) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index and (3) the Standard &
Poor's 1500 IT Consulting & Other Services Index.

The values of each investment are based on share price appreciation, with reinvestment of all dividends, provided any were paid. The
investments are assumed to have occurred at the beginning of the period presented. The stock performance included in this graph is not necessarily
indicative of future stock price performance.
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 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Jacobs Solutions Inc. 100.00 120.41 123.15 177.15 146.32 185.31 
S&P 500 100.00 104.25 120.05 156.07 131.92 160.44 
S&P 1500 IT Consulting & Other Services 100.00 98.15 100.84 136.69 111.41 132.10 

Item 6.    [Reserved]

Item 7.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In order to better understand the changes that occur to key elements of our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, a reader
of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be aware of the critical accounting
policies we apply in preparing our consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements contained in this report were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our
consolidated financial statements and the financial statements of any business performing long-term professional services, engineering and
construction-type contracts requires management to make certain estimates and judgments that affect both the entity’s results of operations and the
carrying values of its assets and liabilities. Although our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2- Significant Accounting Policies of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following discussion is intended to
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highlight and describe those accounting policies that are especially critical to the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Accounting for Contracts

The Company recognizes engineering, procurement, and construction contract revenue over time, as performance obligations are satisfied,
due to the continuous transfer of control to the customer in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Contracts that
include engineering, procurement and construction services are generally accounted for as a single deliverable (a single performance obligation). In
some instances, the Company’s services associated with a construction activity are limited only to specific tasks such as customer support,
consulting or supervisory services. In these instances, the services are typically identified as separate performance obligations.

The Company recognizes revenue using the percentage-of-completion method, based primarily on contract costs incurred to date compared
to total estimated contract costs. Estimated contract costs include the Company’s latest estimates using judgments with respect to labor hours and
costs, materials, and subcontractor costs. The percentage-of-completion method (an input method) is the most representative depiction of the
Company’s performance because it directly measures the value of the services transferred to the customer. Subcontractor materials, labor and
equipment and, in certain cases, customer-furnished materials and labor and equipment are included in revenue and cost of revenue when
management believes that the company is acting as a principal rather than as an agent (e.g., the company integrates the materials, labor and
equipment into the deliverables promised to the customer or is otherwise primarily responsible for fulfillment and acceptability of the materials, labor
and/or equipment). Under the typical payment terms of our engineering, procurement and construction contracts, amounts are billed as work
progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms at periodic intervals (e.g., biweekly or monthly) and customer payments are typically
due within 30 to 60 days of billing, depending on the contract.

For service contracts, the Company recognizes revenue over time using the cost-to-cost percentage-of-completion method. In some
instances where the Company is standing ready to provide services, the Company recognizes revenue ratably over the service period. Under the
typical payment terms of our service contracts, amounts are billed as work progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms, and
customer payments are typically due within 30 to 60 days of billing, depending on the contract.

Direct costs of contracts include all costs incurred in connection with and directly for the benefit of client contracts, including depreciation and
amortization relating to assets used in providing the services required by the related projects. The level of direct costs of contracts may fluctuate
between reporting periods due to a variety of factors, including the amount of pass-through costs we incur during a period. On those projects where
we are acting as principal for subcontract labor or third-party materials and equipment, we reflect the amounts of such items in both revenues and
costs (and we refer to such costs as “pass-through costs”).

Accounting for Pension Plans

The accounting for pension plans requires the use of assumptions and estimates in order to calculate periodic pension cost and the value of
the plans’ assets and liabilities. These assumptions include discount rates, investment returns, and projected salary increases, among others. The
actuarial assumptions used in determining the funded statuses of the plans are provided in Note 13- Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The expected rates of return on plan assets ranged from 3.3% to 7.5% for fiscal 2023 and range from 5.3% to 7.6% for fiscal 2024. We
believe the range of rates selected for fiscal 2024 reflects the long-term returns expected on the plans’ assets, considering recent market conditions,
projected rates of inflation, the diversification of the plans’ assets, and the expected real rates of market returns. The discount rates used to compute
plan liabilities ranged from 2.4% to 7.4% in fiscal 2023 and range from 3.8% to 6.9% in fiscal 2024. These assumptions represent the Company’s best
estimate of the rates at which its pension obligations could be effectively settled.

Changes in the actuarial assumptions often have a material effect on the values assigned to plan assets and liabilities, and the associated
pension expense. For example, if the discount rate used to value the net pension benefit obligation (“PBO”) at September 29, 2023 was lower or
higher by 1.0%, the PBO would have been higher or lower, respectively, at that date by approximately $139.9 million for non-U.S. plans, and by
approximately $19.8 million for U.S. plans. If the expected return on plan assets was lower or higher by 1.0%, the net periodic pension cost for fiscal
2023 would be higher or lower, respectively, by approximately $12.4 million for non-U.S. plans, and by approximately $3.2
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million for U.S. plans. Differences between actuarial assumptions and actual performance (i.e., actuarial gains and losses) that are not recognized as
a component of net periodic pension cost in the period in which such differences arise are recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) and are recognized as part of net periodic pension cost in future periods in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Management monitors trends in the
marketplace within which our pension plans operate in an effort to assure the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions used.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

In connection with the PA Consulting investment in March 2021, the Company recorded redeemable noncontrolling interests, representing the
interest holders' initial 35% equity interest in the form of preferred and common shares of PA Consulting. The preferred shares are entitled to a
cumulative annual compounding 12% dividend based on the outstanding preferred share subscription price. These noncontrolling interest holders
have certain option rights to put the preferred and common share interests back to the Company at a value based on the fair value of PA Consulting
(the redemption values). The primary inputs and assumptions impacting the fair value of PA Consulting include projections of revenue and earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and discount rates applied thereto. Additionally, the Company has an option to call the interests
for certain individual shareholders in certain circumstances. Because the interests are redeemable at the option of the holders and not solely within
the control of the Company, the Company classified the interests in redeemable noncontrolling interests within its Consolidated Balance Sheet at their
redemption values. The optional redemption features may become exercisable no earlier than five years from the March 2, 2021 closing date, or upon
the occurrence of certain other events.

The Company has deemed these interests probable of becoming redeemable in the future and requiring their measurement at the greater of
(i) the redemption amount that would be paid if settlement occurred at the balance sheet date, or (ii) the historical value resulting from the original
acquisition date fair value plus the impact of any earnings or loss attribution amounts, including dividends. The fair value of the PA Consulting
redeemable noncontrolling interest is determined using a combination of the income and market approaches. Under the income approach, fair value
is determined by using the projected discounted cash flows of PA Consulting. Under the market approach, the fair value is determined by reference to
guideline companies that are reasonably comparable to PA Consulting; the fair value is estimated based on the valuation multiples of earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

Litigation, Investigations, and Insurance

In the normal course of business, we make contractual commitments, and on occasion we are a party in litigation or arbitration proceedings.
The litigation in which we are involved primarily includes personal injury claims, professional liability claims, and breach of contract claims. We are
also routinely subject to investigations and audits.

We maintain insurance coverage for most insurable aspects of our business and operations. Our insurance programs have varying coverage
limits depending upon the type of insurance and include certain conditions and exclusions which insurance companies may raise in response to any
claim that the Company brings. We have also elected to retain a portion of certain losses, claims and liabilities that occur through the use of various
deductibles, limits, and retentions under our insurance programs and utilize a number of internal financing mechanisms for these self-insurance
arrangements including the operation of certain captive insurance entities. As a result, we may be subject to a future liability for which we are only
partially insured or completely uninsured. We intend to mitigate any such future liability by continuing to exercise prudent business judgment in
negotiating the terms and conditions of the contracts which the Company enters with its clients. Our insurers are also subject to business risk and, as
a result, one or more of them may be unable to fulfill their insurance obligations due to insolvency or otherwise.

Our Consolidated Balance Sheets include amounts representing our probable estimated liability relating to such claims, litigation, audits, and
investigations. Our estimates of probable liabilities require us to make assumptions related to potential losses regarding our determination of amounts
considered probable and estimable.

The Company believes, after consultation with counsel, that such litigation, U.S. government contract-related audits, investigations and
claims, and income tax audits and investigations should not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements, beyond amounts
currently accrued.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of consideration transferred, plus the fair value of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, over the fair value of the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the
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acquisition date. We recognize purchased intangible assets in connection with our business acquisitions at fair value on the acquisition date.

The goodwill carried on our Consolidated Balance Sheets is tested annually for possible impairment, and on an interim basis if indicators of
possible impairment exist. For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is assigned to the applicable reporting units based on the current reporting
structure. In performing the annual impairment test, we evaluate our goodwill at the reporting unit level. The Company performs the annual goodwill
impairment test for the reporting units at the beginning of the fourth quarter of its fiscal year.

We evaluate impairment of goodwill either by assessing qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of
our reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, or by performing a quantitative assessment. Qualitative factors include industry and market
considerations, overall financial performance, and other relevant events and circumstances affecting the reporting unit. If we choose to perform a
qualitative assessment and after considering the totality of events or circumstances, we determine it is more likely than not that the fair value of our
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, we would perform a quantitative fair value test.

U.S. GAAP does not prescribe a specific valuation method for estimating the fair value of reporting units. Any valuation technique used to
estimate the fair value of a reporting unit requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including revenue growth rates, operating
margins, discount rates and future market conditions, among others.

We use income and market approaches to test our goodwill for possible impairment which requires us to make estimates and judgments.
Under the income approach, fair value is determined by using the discounted cash flows of our reporting units. The Company’s discount rate reflects
a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) for a peer group of companies representative of the Company’s respective reporting units. Under the
market approach, the fair values of our reporting units are determined by reference to guideline companies that are reasonably comparable to our
reporting units; the fair values are estimated based on the valuation multiples of the invested capital associated with the guideline companies. In
assessing whether there is an indication that the carrying value of goodwill has been impaired, we utilize the results of both valuation techniques and
consider the range of fair values indicated.

It is possible that changes in facts and circumstances, judgments and assumptions used in estimating the fair value, including with respect to
market conditions and the economy, could change, resulting in possible impairment of goodwill in the future. The fair values resulting from the
valuation techniques used are not necessarily representative of the values we might obtain in a sale of the reporting units to willing third parties.

For the 2023 fiscal year, in connection with the separation activities of the CMS business and part of our DVS business, we performed a
quantitative impairment test of the CMS and DVS reporting units and determined that the fair value of these reporting units exceeded their respective
carrying value. For the remaining reporting units, we determined that the fair values significantly exceeded their carrying values and an analysis
beyond the qualitative level was not considered necessary.

Intangible assets with finite lives that arise from business acquisitions are amortized based on the period over which the contractual or
economic benefit of the intangible assets are expected to be realized or on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the underlying assets. These
primarily consist of customer relationships, contracts and backlog, developed technology and trade names. We assess the recoverability of the
unamortized balance of our intangible assets when indicators of impairment are present based on expected future profitability and undiscounted
expected cash flows and their contribution to overall operations. Should the review indicate that the carrying value is not fully recoverable, the excess
of the carrying value over the fair value of the intangible assets would be recognized as an impairment loss.
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JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021
(In thousands, except per share information)

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Revenues $ 16,352,414 $ 14,922,825 $ 14,092,632 

Direct cost of contracts (12,879,099) (11,595,785) (11,048,860)
Gross profit 3,473,315 3,327,040 3,043,772 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (2,398,078) (2,409,190) (2,355,683)
Operating Profit 1,075,237 917,850 688,089 
Other Income (Expense):

Interest income 26,013 4,489 3,503 
Interest expense (168,108) (100,246) (72,714)
Miscellaneous (expense) income, net (16,463) 54,254 76,724 
Total other (expense) income, net (158,558) (41,503) 7,513 

Earnings from Continuing Operations Before Taxes 916,679 876,347 695,602 
Income Tax Expense for Continuing Operations (196,181) (160,903) (274,781)
Net Earnings of the Group from Continuing Operations 720,498 715,444 420,821 
Net (Loss) Earnings of the Group from Discontinued Operations (842) (32) 10,008 
Net Earnings of the Group 719,656 715,412 430,829 
Net Earnings Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests from Continuing
Operations (32,265) (36,788) (39,213)
Net (Earnings) Loss Attributable to Redeemable Noncontrolling
Interests (21,614) (34,585) 85,414 
Net Earnings Attributable to Jacobs from Continuing Operations 666,619 644,071 467,022 
Net Earnings Attributable to Jacobs $ 665,777 $ 644,039 $ 477,030 
Net Earnings Per Share:
Basic Net Earnings from Continuing Operations Per Share $ 5.33 $ 5.01 $ 3.15 
Basic Net (Loss) Earnings from Discontinued Operations Per Share $ (0.01) $ — $ 0.08 
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 5.32 $ 5.01 $ 3.22 

Diluted Net Earnings from Continuing Operations Per Share $ 5.31 $ 4.98 $ 3.12 
Diluted Net (Loss) Earnings from Discontinued Operations Per Share $ (0.01) $ — $ 0.08 
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 5.30 $ 4.98 $ 3.20 
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2023 Overview

Net earnings attributable to the Company from continuing operations for fiscal 2023 were $666.6 million (or $5.31 per diluted share), an
increase of $22.5 million, or 3.5%, from $644.1 million (or $4.98 per diluted share) for the prior year. The current year results reflected higher year-
over-year operating profit of $157.4 million, which benefited from favorable year-over-year underlying operating results for Jacobs businesses,
primarily P&PS, as discussed below in the Segment Financial Information section. These favorable operating profit impacts were partly offset by fiscal
2023 Restructuring and other charges and transaction costs relating to expenses incurred in conjunction with the CMS separation activities, real
estate transformation rescaling initiatives and the PA Consulting restructuring program charges (primarily employee separation costs), which are
discussed in Note 16- Restructuring and Other Charges. Fiscal 2022 was impacted by the final $91.3 million settlement of a legacy litigation matter
involving a subsidiary of CH2M (the "Legacy CH2M Matter"), net of previously recorded reserves, which is further discussed in Note 17-
Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments. Additionally, the 2023 year-to-date period was impacted by approximately
$15.0 million in net favorable impacts from cost reductions associated mainly with first quarter 2023 changes in employee benefit programs, which
were partly offset by higher spend in company technology platforms and other personnel and corporate cost increases.

Other expense, net was unfavorable by $117.1 million for the current year compared to corresponding fiscal 2022 amounts, due mainly to
higher interest expense of $67.9 million in the current year compared to the prior year due to higher interest rates. Additionally, miscellaneous
(expense) income was impacted year over year by an increase in pension costs associated with higher interest rate impacts in the current year along
with comparatively unfavorable foreign exchange gains and losses in the current year. Also, fiscal 2022 included a $13.9 million pre-tax gain related
to a cost method investment sold during the period and a $7.1 million gain related to a lease termination.

Income taxes were higher in the current year by $35.3 million due primarily to reduced total tax benefits in fiscal 2023, consisting of $39.4
million mostly related to uncertain tax positions in the U.S. that were effectively settled, as well as $13.0 million for the release of previously valued
foreign tax credits, as compared to prior year favorable impacts of $33.1 million for a change in the realizability of foreign tax credits due to a change
in the U.S. foreign tax credit regulations, $26.0 million for a change in judgment on the realizability of domestic deferred tax assets which are capital
in nature, and $9.1 million due to the reversal of a withholding tax accrual on certain intercompany loans. In addition, in fiscal 2023, the higher year-
over-year pre-tax book income resulted in an additional $10.0 million of tax expense.

Finally, year-over-year net earnings impacts associated with redeemable noncontrolling interests were lower by $(13.0) million and were
attributable mainly to lower after-tax earnings results in our PA Consulting investment compared to the prior year which were impacted in fiscal 2023
by the PA severance charges discussed above.

Backlog at September 29, 2023 was $29.1 billion, up $1.2 billion, from $27.9 billion for the prior year. New prospects and new sales remain
strong, and the Company continues to have a positive outlook for many of the industry groups and sectors in which our clients operate.

Results of Operations

Fiscal 2023 Compared to Fiscal 2022

Revenues for the year ended September 29, 2023 were $16.35 billion, an increase of $1.43 billion, or 9.6%, from $14.92 billion for the prior
year. The increase in revenues was due mainly to improved performance of our P&PS and CMS businesses and in addition, to a smaller degree,
other increases in our DVS and PA Consulting businesses. The P&PS business benefited primarily from stronger performance in its Advanced
Facilities and U.S. business operations, while our CMS business showed improved performance resulting from increased spending in our U.S.
government business sector, which was primarily attributable to fiscal 2022 contract awards for the U.S. Department of Energy, as well as growth
from contracts in the United Kingdom. Additionally, the increase in revenues for fiscal 2023 were partially offset by an unfavorable impact of foreign
currency translation of $222.3 million in our international businesses, as compared to an unfavorable impact of $346.3 million for the corresponding
period last fiscal year.

Gross profit for the year ended September 29, 2023 was $3.47 billion, up $146.3 million, or 4.4%, from $3.33 billion for the prior year. The
current year gross profit was affected by net favorable impacts from cost reductions associated mainly with first quarter 2023 changes in employee
benefit programs, which were partly offset by higher spend
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in company technology platforms and other personnel and corporate cost increases, as mentioned above, and unfavorable foreign currency
translation impacts. Our gross profit margins were 21.2% and 22.3% for the years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively.
Project mix impacts in our portfolios, higher personnel costs and lower utilization trends primarily in the PA Consulting business impacted our current
year margins, partly offset by new program startups won in fiscal 2023.

See Segment Financial Information discussion for further information on the Company’s results of operations at the operating segment
level.

Selling, general & administrative expenses for the year ended September 29, 2023 were $2.40 billion, a decrease of $11.1 million, or 0.5%,
from $2.41 billion for the prior year. The current year's results were impacted by Restructuring and other charges of $63.4 million in separation
activities (mainly professional services and employee separation costs) relating to the CMS separation transaction, approximately $14.3 million in
costs associated with the Company's restructuring initiatives relating to its investment in PA Consulting (primarily employee separation costs) and
$50.7 million in costs associated with the Company's transformation initiatives relating to real estate (compared to $78.3 million for fiscal 2022). Fiscal
2022 was impacted by the final pre-tax $91.3 million settlement of the Legacy CH2M Matter, net of previously recorded reserves, mentioned above
and approximately $27 million in third party recoveries was recorded as receivables reducing SG&A, which is further discussed in Note 18 -
Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations and Insurance. The current year results were also impacted by higher investments in company
technology platforms, offset in part by decreases in real estate related costs, as well as other department spend decreases due in part to the
Company's transformation initiatives. Lastly, SG&A expenses benefited from favorable foreign exchange impacts of $42.5 million for the year ended
September 29, 2023 as compared to favorable impacts of $76.4 million for fiscal 2022.

Net interest expense for the year ended September 29, 2023 was $142.1 million, an increase of $46.3 million from $95.8 million for the prior
year. The increase in net interest expense year over year is primarily due to higher interest rates in the current year compared to the prior year
periods. The increase was offset in part by $6.3 million net interest benefit during the current year period related to the release of interest accruals
associated with the effective settlement of uncertain tax positions.

Miscellaneous (expense) income, net for the year ended September 29, 2023 was expense of $16.5 million, unfavorable by $70.7 million as
compared to $54.3 million in income for the prior year. The increase in expense from fiscal 2022 was due primarily to an increase in pension costs
associated with higher interest rate impacts in the current year along with comparatively unfavorable foreign exchange gains and losses in the current
year periods. Also, fiscal 2022 included a $13.9 million pre-tax gain related to a cost method investment sold during the period and a $7.1 million gain
related to a lease termination.

Fiscal 2022 Compared to Fiscal 2021

Revenues for the year ended September 30, 2022 were $14.92 billion, an increase of $830.2 million, or 5.9%, from $14.09 billion from fiscal
2021. The increase in revenues was due mainly to fiscal 2022 incremental revenues from the PA Consulting investment completed in March 2021, the
Buffalo Group acquisition in November 2020, and the StreetLight and BlackLynx acquisitions in fiscal 2022, as well as revenue benefits from
increased spending in our U.S. government business sector client base. Additionally, fiscal 2022 was unfavorably impacted by (1) certain large
contract wind downs in the U.S and (2) foreign currency translation of $346.3 million in our international businesses, as compared to favorable
impacts of $238.6 million for the corresponding period in fiscal 2021.

Gross profit for the year ended September 30, 2022 was $3.33 billion, up $283.3 million, or 9.3%, from $3.04 billion for fiscal 2021. Our gross
profit margins were 22.3% and 21.6% for the years ended September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021, respectively. The increase in our gross profit
and gross profit margins were mainly attributable to the fiscal 2022 impacts of the recent business acquisitions mentioned above and favorable
impacts from the business results of our PA Consulting investment on a year-to-date basis along with revenue benefits from increased spending in
the U.S. government business sector noted above. The increases in gross profit during fiscal 2022 were partially offset by the impacts from the recent
large contract wind downs in the U.S. mentioned above, as well as increases in labor costs associated with moderation of COVID-19 mitigation efforts
and a competitive labor market along with inflation impacts and incremental investments to support projected top-line growth.

See Segment Financial Information discussion for further information on the Company’s results of operations at the operating segment
level.
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Selling, general & administrative expenses for the year ended September 30, 2022 were $2.41 billion, an increase of $53.5 million, or 2.3%,
from $2.36 billion for fiscal 2021. Fiscal 2022's results were impacted by incremental SG&A expenses from the business acquisitions mentioned
above (mainly PA Consulting) of $150.0 million (including $48.9 million in additional amortization expense for acquired intangibles and excluding the
compensation related charge discussed below) due to fiscal 2021 including activity related to the acquired businesses and investment in PA
Consulting only for the partial periods subsequent to the applicable acquisition date. Additionally, Restructuring and other charges for fiscal 2022
included $91.3 million pre-tax attributable to the final settlement of the Legacy CH2M Matter, approximately $27 million in third party recoveries was
recorded as receivables reducing SG&A, which is further discussed in Note 18 - Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations and Insurance and
in costs associated in part with the Company's transformation initiatives relating to real estate. Also, fiscal 2022 SG&A expenses were impacted by
higher personnel costs associated with investments in advance of expected growth anticipated in late 2022 and 2023. Additionally, fiscal 2021
included Restructuring and other charges of $261 million for pre-tax costs incurred in connection with the investment in PA Consulting, in part
classified as compensation costs reported in selling, general and administrative expenses. Lastly, SG&A expenses benefited from favorable foreign
exchange impacts of $76.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2022 as compared to unfavorable impacts of $75.9 million for fiscal 2021.

Net interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2022 was $95.8 million, an increase of $26.5 million from $69.2 million for fiscal 2021.
The increase in net interest expense from fiscal 2021 to 2022 is primarily due to the higher levels of debt outstanding due to the funding of the
StreetLight and BlackLynx acquisitions and increased borrowings associated with the payment of the Legacy CH2M Matter settlement in fiscal 2022,
in addition to higher interest rates. Additionally, the increase was also impacted by higher levels of average debt outstanding related to the funding of
the PA Consulting investment in March of fiscal 2021.

Miscellaneous income (expense), net for the year ended September 30, 2022 was income of $54.3 million, a decrease of $22.5 million as
compared to $76.7 million in income for fiscal 2021. The $22.5 million decrease from fiscal 2021 was due primarily to impacts in fiscal 2021 of pre-tax
unrealized gains of $34.7 million associated with our former investment in Worley stock (including the Worley stock dividend) and certain foreign
currency revaluations relating to the ECR sale, which was sold during fiscal 2021 and $49.6 million in the Company's investment holding in C3, as
further discussed in Note 8 - Joint Ventures, VIEs and Other Investments. Offsetting these favorable items in fiscal 2021 was an other-than-temporary
impairment charge on our investment in AWE ML of $38.6 million. Additionally, fiscal 2022 benefited primarily from a $13.9 million pre-tax gain related
to a cost method investment sold during the period.

On February 4, 2022, the Company acquired StreetLight Data, Inc. ("StreetLight") and on November 19, 2021, a subsidiary of Jacobs
acquired BlackLynx ("BlackLynx"). For further discussion, see Note 15- Other Business Combinations.

The following table reconciles total income tax expense on continuing operations using the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to the
consolidated income tax expense on continuing operations shown in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended
September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021
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(dollars in thousands):
 For the Years Ended

 
September 29,

2023 %
September 30,

2022 %
October 1,

2021 %
Statutory amount $ 192,503 21.0 % $ 184,033 21.0 % $ 146,078 21.0 %
State taxes, net of the federal benefit 23,901 2.6 % 19,316 2.2 % 14,564 2.1 %
Exclusion of tax on non-controlling interests (6,578) (0.7)% (7,533) (0.9)% (7,999) (1.1)%
Foreign:   

Difference in tax rates of foreign operations 7,166 0.8 % (2,516) (0.3)% 3,684 0.5 %
Expense/(benefit) from foreign valuation allowance
change (1,305) (0.1)% 2,982 0.3 % 2,148 0.3 %
Nondeductible compensation — — % — — % 48,727 7.0 %
U.S. tax cost (benefit) of foreign operations 78,216 8.5 % 48,843 5.6 % 35,228 5.1 %

Tax differential on foreign earnings 84,077 9.2 % 49,309 5.6 % 89,787 12.9 %
Foreign tax credits (46,530) (5.1)% (33,734) (3.8)% (25,230) (3.6)%
Tax Rate Change (9,913) (1.1)% 3,210 0.4 % 25,588 3.7 %
Valuation allowance (7,169) (0.8)% (59,121) (6.7)% 38,928 5.6 %
Uncertain tax positions (38,844) (4.2)% (1,439) (0.2)% 978 0.1 %
Other items:

Energy efficient commercial buildings deduction 736 0.1 % (2,681) (0.3)% (3,760) (0.5)%
Disallowed officer compensation 7,081 0.8 % 6,034 0.7 % 6,689 1.0 %
Stock compensation (3,896) (0.4)% (2,168) (0.2)% (9,946) (1.4)%
Other items – net 813 0.1 % 5,677 0.6 % (896) (0.1)%

Total other items 4,734 0.5 % 6,862 0.8 % (7,913) (1.1)%
Taxes on income from continuing operations $ 196,181 21.4 % $ 160,903 18.4 % $ 274,781 39.5 %

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate for the year ended September 29, 2023 increased to 21.4% from 18.4% for fiscal
2022. The year-over-year increase in the effective tax rate is due to reduced total tax benefits in fiscal 2023, consisting of $39.4 million mostly related
to uncertain tax positions in the U.S. that were effectively settled, as well as $13.0 million for the release of previously valued foreign tax credits, as
compared to prior year favorable impacts of $33.1 million for a change in the realizability of foreign tax credits due to a change in the U.S. foreign tax
credit regulations, $26.0 million for a change in judgment on the realizability of domestic deferred tax assets which are capital in nature, and $9.1
million due to the reversal of a withholding tax accrual on certain intercompany loans. In addition, in fiscal 2023, the higher year-over-year pre-tax
book income resulted in an additional $10 million of tax expense.

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate for the year ended September 30, 2022 decreased to 18.4% from 39.5% for fiscal
2021. Key drivers for the year-over-year decrease in the effective tax rate include fiscal 2022 benefits of $33.1 million for a change in the realizability
of foreign tax credits due to a change in the U.S. foreign tax credit regulations and $26.0 million for a change in judgment on the realizability of
domestic deferred tax assets which are capital in nature, as compared to fiscal 2021 unfavorable impacts from valuation allowances of $38.9 million.
The fiscal 2021 effective tax rate was also impacted by $261 million in nondeductible compensation relating to the PA investment post-completion
compensation expense and $25.6 million related to tax rate changes in the United Kingdom.

Restructuring and Other Charges

During fiscal 2023, the Company implemented restructuring initiatives relating to the formation of the reporting and operating segment,
Divergent Solutions, which were substantially completed this year. The Company incurred approximately $7.5 million in pre-tax cash charges in
connection with these initiatives during the year ended September 29, 2023. These actions are expected to result in estimated gross annualized pre-
tax cash savings of approximately $20 million to $24 million.

During fiscal 2023, the Company implemented restructuring initiatives relating to the announcement of its intention to separate its CMS
business. The Company incurred approximately $19.8 million in pre-tax cash charges in
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connection with these initiatives during the year ended September 29, 2023. These actions, which are expected to be substantially completed before
the end of fiscal 2024, are expected to result in estimated gross annualized pre-tax cash savings of approximately $43 million to $52 million. We will
likely incur additional charges under this program during fiscal 2024, which are expected to result in additional savings.

During fiscal 2020 and continuing into fiscal 2023, the Company implemented further real estate rescaling efforts that were associated with its
fiscal 2020 transformation program relating to real estate. These activities were substantially completed before the end of fiscal 2023. In connection
with these efforts, the Company has incurred $47.3 million, $72.4 million and $8.7 million for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30,
2022 and October 1, 2021, respectively in pre-tax mainly non-cash charges. These actions resulted in non-cash savings related to the future
amortization of lease right-of-use assets over the remaining lease terms. Additionally, the objective of these initiatives was to create a modern, flexible
work platform tailored to employees’ needs due to globalization and digital advances and to create total emissions savings that will be realized as we
continue to optimize our real estate footprint.

During third quarter fiscal 2023, the Company approved a plan to improve business processes and cost structure of our PA Consulting
investment by reorganizing senior management and reducing headcount. In connection with these initiatives, which are expected to be substantially
complete before the end of fiscal 2024, the Company incurred approximately $14.3 million in pre-tax cash charges during the year ended
September 29, 2023. These activities are expected to result in estimated gross annualized pre-tax cash savings of approximately $40 million to $45
million.

During fiscal 2020, the Company implemented certain transformation initiatives. The Company incurred approximately $1.8 million and $11.9
million in pre-tax cash charges in connection with these initiatives during the years ended September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021, respectively.
These actions were substantially complete in fiscal 2022 and resulted in estimated gross annualized pre-tax (primarily cash) savings of approximately
$45 million to $55 million.

During fiscal 2020, the Company also implemented certain restructuring initiatives associated with the acquisition of John Wood Group's
nuclear business. The Company incurred approximately $3.1 million in pre-tax cash charges in connection with these initiatives during the year ended
October 1, 2021. These actions were substantially complete in fiscal 2021 and resulted in estimated gross annualized pre-tax cash savings of
approximately $9 million to $10 million.

Refer to Note 16– Restructuring and Other Charges for further information regarding restructuring and integration initiatives.
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Segment Financial Information

The following tables present total revenues and segment operating profit for each reportable segment (in thousands) and includes a
reconciliation of segment operating profit to total U.S. GAAP operating profit by including certain corporate-level expenses and expenses relating to
the Restructuring other charges (as defined in Note 16 - Restructuring and Other Charges) and transaction costs (in thousands).

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Revenues from External Customers:
Critical Mission Solutions $ 4,693,499 $ 4,376,562 $ 4,251,690 
People & Places Solutions 9,553,857 8,534,650 8,364,640 
Divergent Solutions 946,914 892,317 848,901 
PA Consulting 1,158,144 1,119,296 627,401 

              Total $ 16,352,414 $ 14,922,825 $ 14,092,632 

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Segment Operating Profit:
Critical Mission Solutions $ 378,201 $ 355,563 $ 359,001 
People & Places Solutions (1) 957,714 824,834 780,514 
Divergent Solutions 81,768 67,552 88,026 
PA Consulting 237,003 232,225 151,071 

Total Segment Operating Profit 1,654,686 1,480,174 1,378,612 
Other Corporate Expenses (2) (427,053) (364,440) (340,129)
Restructuring, Transaction and Other Charges (3) (152,396) (197,884) (350,394)

Total U.S. GAAP Operating Profit 1,075,237 917,850 688,089 
Total Other (Expense) Income, net (4) (158,558) (41,503) 7,513 

Earnings from Continuing Operations Before Taxes $ 916,679 $ 876,347 $ 695,602 

(1) Includes $19.5 million, net, in charges related to a legal settlement for the year ended October 1, 2021.
(2) Other corporate expenses include intangibles amortization of $203.9 million, $198.6 million and $149.8 million for the years ended September 29, 2023,

September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021, respectively, with the comparative increase from fiscal 2021 to fiscal 2022 mainly attributable to higher amortization
from the PA Consulting investment. Additionally, fiscal 2023 included approximately $15.0 million in net favorable impacts from cost reductions compared to
the prior year period, which was associated mainly with net favorable impacts during first quarter from changes in employee benefit programs of $41.0 million
offset by approximately $26.0 million in higher spend in company technology platforms and other personnel and corporate cost increases.

(3) Fiscal 2023 includes $63.4 million relating to the activities (mainly professional services and employee separation costs, spread across all segments) around
the CMS separation and $14.3 million in restructuring and other charges relating to the Company's investment in PA Consulting (primarily employee
separation costs). Included in the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 were $48.2 million, $78.3 million and $2.4
million, respectively, in charges associated mainly with real estate impairments. Included in the year ended September 30, 2022 is $91.3 million pre-tax related
to the final settlement of the Legacy CH2M Matter and net of previously recorded reserves and approximately $27 million in third party recoveries that was
recorded as receivables reducing SG&A. Included in the year ended October 1, 2021 is $297.8 million of costs incurred in connection with the investment in
PA Consulting, in part classified as compensation costs.

(4) The year ended September 30, 2022 included a $13.9 million gain related to a cost method investment sold during the period and a gain of $8.7 million related
to lease terminations. The year ended October 1, 2021 included $34.7 million in fair value adjustments related to our investment in Worley stock (net of Worley
stock dividends) and certain foreign currency revaluations relating to ECR sale proceeds, $(38.5) million related to impairment of our AWE Management Ltd.
investment and $49.6 million in fair value adjustments related to our investment in C3 stock. The investments in Worley and C3 were sold in fiscal 2021 and
therefore there are no comparable amounts in fiscal 2022 or 2023. Additionally, the increase in net interest expense from fiscal 2021 to fiscal 2022 is primarily
due to the higher levels of debt outstanding due to the funding of the StreetLight and BlackLynx acquisitions and increased borrowings associated with the
payment of the Legacy CH2M Matter settlement in fiscal 2022, in addition to higher interest rates. The increase in net interest expense from fiscal 2022 to
fiscal 2023 is due primarily to higher interest rates.
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In evaluating the Company’s performance by operating segment, the CODM reviews various metrics and statistical data for each Line of
Business ("LOB") and PA Consulting, but focuses primarily on revenues and operating profit. As discussed above, segment operating profit includes
not only local SG&A expenses but the SG&A expenses of the Company’s support groups that have been allocated to the segments. In addition, the
Company attributes each segment's specific incentive compensation plan costs to the segments. The methods for recognizing revenue, incentive
fees, project losses and change orders are consistent among the segments. 

Critical Mission Solutions
For the Years Ended

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Revenue $ 4,693,499 $ 4,376,562 $ 4,251,690 
Operating Profit $ 378,201 $ 355,563 $ 359,001 

Fiscal 2023 vs. 2022

Critical Mission Solutions (CMS) segment revenues for the year ended September 29, 2023 were $4.69 billion, up $316.9 million, or 7.2%, from
$4.38 billion for the prior year. Our increase in revenue was primarily attributable to growth from contracts in the nuclear remediation sector in the
U.S. and United Kingdom. Impacts on revenues from unfavorable foreign currency translation were approximately $46.6 million for the year ended
September 29, 2023, compared to $68.5 million in unfavorable impacts in the corresponding prior year.

Operating profit for the segment was $378.2 million for the year ended September 29, 2023, up $22.6 million, or 6.4%, from $355.6 million for the
prior year. Operating profit level trends year over year were favorably impacted by growth in our U.S. nuclear remediation, U.S. government space,
U.K. nuclear power and U.K, defense markets, and were offset in part by a large contract wind down in early fiscal 2022 that carried a higher profit
margin. Impacts on operating profit from unfavorable foreign currency translation were approximately $5.4 million for the year ended September 29,
2023, compared to $8.4 million in unfavorable impacts in the corresponding prior year.

Fiscal 2022 vs. 2021

Critical Mission Solutions segment revenues for the year ended September 30, 2022 were $4.38 billion, up $124.9 million, or 2.9%, from $4.25 billion
from fiscal 2021. Our increase in revenue was primarily attributable to recent contract awards including the Department of Energy Nuclear
remediation program, offset in part by a large contract winding down in the U.S. that carried a higher profit margin. Impacts on revenues from
unfavorable foreign currency translation were approximately $68.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2022, compared to $66.2 million in
favorable impacts in fiscal 2021.

Operating profit for the segment was $355.6 million for the year ended September 30, 2022, relatively flat to fiscal 2021 operating profit of $359.0
million. The year-over-year change in operating profit was unfavorably impacted by the large contract wind down mentioned above, partly offset by
new business and U.S. government contract awards during fiscal 2022. Impacts on operating profit from unfavorable foreign currency translation
were approximately $8.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2022, compared to $10.8 million in favorable impacts in fiscal 2021.

People & Places Solutions
For the Years Ended

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Revenue $ 9,553,857 $ 8,534,650 $ 8,364,640 
Operating Profit $ 957,714 $ 824,834 $ 780,514 
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Fiscal 2023 vs. 2022

Revenues for the People & Places Solutions (P&PS) segment for the year ended September 29, 2023 were $9.55 billion, up $1.02 billion, or 11.9%,
from $8.53 billion for the prior year. The increase in revenue was broad based across most P&PS businesses, particularly due to stronger
performance in its Advanced Facilities and U.S. business operations as compared to the corresponding prior year period. Foreign currency
translation had an unfavorable impact of $123.9 million on our international business for the year ended September 29, 2023, compared to $194.5
million in unfavorable impacts in the corresponding prior year.

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 29, 2023 was $957.7 million, an increase of $132.9 million, or 16.1%, from $824.8
million for the comparative period in fiscal 2022. The year-over-year increase in operating profit was driven primarily by the revenue growth
mentioned above while holding selling, general, and administrative expenses relatively flat. Impacts on operating profit from unfavorable foreign
currency translation were approximately $26.9 million for the year ended September 29, 2023, compared to $33.9 million in unfavorable impacts in
the corresponding prior year.

Fiscal 2022 vs. 2021

Revenues for the People & Places Solutions segment for the year ended September 30, 2022 were $8.53 billion, up $180.0 million, or 2.2%, from
$8.36 billion for fiscal 2021. The increase in revenues from fiscal 2021 was primarily due to higher fee-based revenue from our Advanced Facilities
and international businesses. Foreign currency translation had an unfavorable impact of $194.5 million on our international business for the year
ended September 30, 2022, compared to $182.7 million in favorable impacts in fiscal 2021.

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 30, 2022 was $824.8 million, an increase of $44.3 million, or 5.7%, from
$780.5 million for fiscal 2021. The year-over-year increase was driven by the revenue growth mentioned above but partially offset by higher
personnel costs associated with investments in advance of expected growth anticipated in 2023. In addition, fiscal 2021 operating profit was
impacted by $19.5 million in net charges related to a legal settlement. Impacts on operating profit from unfavorable foreign currency translation were
approximately $33.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2022, compared to $32.1 million in favorable impacts in fiscal 2021.

Divergent Solutions
For the Years Ended

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Revenue $ 946,914 $ 892,317 $ 848,901 
Operating Profit $ 81,768 $ 67,552 $ 88,026 

Fiscal 2023 vs. 2022

Revenues for the Divergent Solutions segment for the year ended September 29, 2023 were $946.9 million, up $54.6 million, or 6.12%, from
$892.3 million for the prior year. The increase in revenue was due mainly to favorable year-over-year software licensing revenue and the startup of
new programs, along with incremental revenues from the StreetLight acquisition (owned for the full period in fiscal 2023). Foreign currency
translation did not have a material impact on revenues in our Divergent Solutions segment for either period presented.

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 29, 2023 was $81.8 million, an increase of $14.2 million, or 21.0%, from
$67.6 million, for the prior year. The increase in operating profit was due mainly to the favorable year-over-year software licensing revenue and the
startup of new programs mentioned above. Foreign currency translation did not have a material impact on operating profit in our Divergent Solutions
segment for either period presented.
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Fiscal 2022 vs. 2021

Revenues for the Divergent Solutions segment for the year ended September 30, 2022 were $892.3 million, up $43.4 million, or 5.1%, from
$848.9 million for fiscal 2021. The increase in revenue benefited from incremental revenues from the StreetLight and BlackLynx acquisitions
(acquired during fiscal 2022). Foreign currency translation did not have a material impact on revenues in our Divergent Solutions segment for either
period presented.

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 30, 2022 was $67.6 million, a decrease of $20.5 million, or 23.3%, from $88.0 million,
for fiscal 2021. The decrease in operating profit was due mainly to investment into StreetLight to accelerate growth and the ramp down from
programs coming to an end. Foreign currency translation did not have a material impact on operating profit in our Divergent Solutions segment for
either period presented.

PA Consulting
For the Years Ended

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Revenue $ 1,158,144 $ 1,119,296 $ 627,401 
Operating Profit $ 237,003 $ 232,225 $ 151,071 

Fiscal 2023 vs. 2022

Revenues for the PA Consulting segment for the year ended September 29, 2023 were $1.16 billion, up $38.8 million, or 3.5%, from $1.12 billion for
the prior year. The increase in revenue was due primarily to growth in PA Consulting's Defence & Security, Public Services and Energy & Utilities
businesses. Foreign currency translation had a $51.1 million unfavorable impact on revenues in our international businesses for the year ended
September 29, 2023, compared to an unfavorable impact of $82.2 million for the corresponding prior year.

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 29, 2023 was $237.0 million, an increase of $4.8 million, or 2.1%, from $232.2 million,
for the prior year. The increase in operating profit from the prior year is mainly due to lower personnel related costs, partially offset by unfavorable
foreign currency translation impacts. Foreign currency translation had a $7.9 million unfavorable impact on operating profit in our international
businesses for the year ended September 29, 2023 and an unfavorable impact of $17.1 million for the corresponding prior year.

Fiscal 2022 vs. 2021

Revenues for the PA Consulting segment for the year ended September 30, 2022 were $1.12 billion, up $491.9 million, or 78.4%, from $627.4 million
for fiscal 2021. The increase in revenue was due primarily to the full year-to-date impact of revenues from our March 2, 2021 investment in PA
Consulting and was also due to growth in the U.K. business. Foreign currency translation had a $82.2 million unfavorable impact on revenues in our
international businesses for the year ended September 30, 2022, compared to a favorable impact of $50.9 million for fiscal 2021.

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 30, 2022 was $232.2 million, an increase of $81.2 million, or 53.7%, from
$151.1 million, for fiscal 2021. The increase in operating profit from the prior year was due mainly to the full year-to-date impact of operating profit
from our March 2, 2021 investment in PA Consulting, offset in part by PA Consulting normalization of utilization rates during the second half of fiscal
2022. Foreign currency translation had a $17.1 million unfavorable impact on operating profit in our international businesses for the year ended
September 30, 2022 and a favorable impact of $11.8 million for fiscal 2021.

Other Corporate Expenses

Other corporate expenses were $427.1 million, $364.4 million and $340.1 million for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30,
2022 and October 1, 2021, respectively. The increase from fiscal 2022 to fiscal 2023 was mainly attributable to continued year-to-date higher
investments in company technology platforms and personnel related costs in fiscal 2023, while offset in part by approximate $15.0 million in net
favorable impacts from cost reductions associated mainly with changes in employee benefit programs. The increase from fiscal 2021 to fiscal 2022
was due primarily to higher intangible amortization expense from the StreetLight and BlackLynx acquisitions and the PA Consulting investment, as
well as impacts from higher Company benefit program costs, partially offset by lower legal costs and reduced employee related expenses in the
fourth quarter.

Included in other corporate expenses in the above table are costs and expenses that relate to general corporate activities as well as
corporate-managed benefit and insurance programs. Such costs and expenses include: (i) those elements of SG&A expenses relating to the
business as a whole; (ii) those elements of our incentive compensation plans relating to corporate personnel whose other compensation costs are not
allocated to the LOBs; (iii) the amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations; (iv) the quarterly variances between the
Company’s actual costs of certain of its self-insured integrated risk and employee benefit programs and amounts charged to the LOBs; and
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(v) certain adjustments relating to costs associated with the Company’s international defined benefit pension plans. In addition, other corporate
expenses may also include from time-to-time certain adjustments to contract margins (both positive and negative) associated with projects, as well as
other items, where it has been determined that such adjustments are not indicative of the performance of the related LOB.

Backlog Information

Backlog represents revenue we expect to realize for work to be completed by our consolidated subsidiaries and our proportionate share of
work to be performed by unconsolidated joint ventures. Because of variations in the nature, size, expected duration, funding commitments, and the
scope of services required by our contracts, the amount and timing of when backlog will be recognized as revenues includes significant estimates and
can vary greatly between individual contracts.

Consistent with industry practice, substantially all of our contracts are subject to cancellation or termination at the option of the client,
including our U.S. government work. While management uses all information available to determine backlog, at any given time our backlog is subject
to changes in the scope of services to be provided as well as increases or decreases in costs relating to the contracts included therein. Backlog is not
necessarily an indicator of future revenues.

Because certain contracts (e.g., contracts relating to large Engineering, Procurement & Construction ("EPC") projects as well as national
government programs) can cause large increases to backlog in the fiscal period in which we recognize the award, and because many of our contracts
require us to provide services that span over several fiscal quarters (and sometimes over fiscal years), we have presented our backlog on a year-
over-year basis, rather than on a sequential, quarter-over-quarter basis.

Please refer to Item 1A- Risk Factors, above, for a discussion of other factors that may cause backlog to ultimately convert into revenues at
different amounts.

The following table summarizes our backlog for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in millions):
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Critical Mission Solutions $ 8,264 $ 7,622 $ 7,957 
People & Places Solutions 17,345 17,014 15,733 
Divergent Solutions 3,183 2,957 2,637 
PA Consulting 311 269 304 
            Total $ 29,103 $ 27,862 $ 26,631 

               Critical Mission Solutions backlog as of September 29, 2023 increased primarily from awards and funding increases in the U.S. aerospace
and nuclear remediation sector in the U.S. and United Kingdom.
               The increase in backlog in People & Places Solutions for the years presented was primarily driven by new business awards in our Americas
business.

               The increase in backlog in Divergent Solutions for the years presented was primarily driven by new business and recompete awards and
contract extensions in the U.S.

               The PA Consulting backlog benefited from modest growth in the current year.

Backlog relating to work to be performed either directly or indirectly for the U.S. federal government and its agencies totaled approximately
$11.6 billion (or 39.8% of total backlog), $10.9 billion (or 39.1% of total backlog) and $10.8 billion (or 40.5% of total backlog) at September 29, 2023,
September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021, respectively. Most of our federal government contracts require that services be provided beyond one year.
In general, these contracts must be funded annually (i.e., the amounts to be spent under the contract must be appropriated by the U.S. Congress to
the procuring agency, and then the agency must allot these sums to the specific contracts).

We estimate that approximately $9.80 billion, or 33.7%, of total backlog at September 29, 2023 will be realized as revenues within the next
fiscal year.
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Consolidated backlog differs from the Company’s remaining performance obligations as defined by ASC 606 primarily because of contract
change orders or new wins not yet processed and our national government contracts where our policy is to generally include in backlog the contract
award, whether funded or unfunded excluding certain option periods while our remaining performance obligations represent a measure of the total
dollar value of work to be performed on contracts awarded and in progress. Additionally, the Company does not include our proportionate share of
backlog related to unconsolidated joint ventures in our remaining performance obligations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At September 29, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of $926.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and $2.24 billion of
available borrowing capacity under our $2.25 billion revolving credit agreement (the "Revolving Credit Facility"). We finance much of our operations
and growth through cash generated by our operations.

Cash and cash equivalents at September 29, 2023 represented a decrease of $213.9 million from $1.14 billion at September 30, 2022, the
reasons for which are described below.

Our net cash flow provided by operations of $974.8 million during fiscal 2023 was favorable by $500.1 million in
comparison to the cash flow provided by operations of $474.7 million for the corresponding prior year. The year-over-year increase in cash from
operations is primarily attributable to the payment of the Legacy CH2M Matter cash settlement in fiscal 2022 and other overall net favorable working
capital performance during the 2023 period.

Our net cash used for investing activities for fiscal 2023 was $145.7 million, compared to cash used for investing of $538.4 million in the prior
year, with this change due primarily to the BlackLynx and StreetLight acquisitions in the prior year.

Our net cash used for financing activities for the fiscal year ended 2023 of $1.09 billion resulted mainly from $616.6 million in net repayments
of borrowings, cash used for share repurchases of $265.7 million, $128.4 million in dividends to shareholders and $58.9 million in net PA Consulting
related redeemable noncontrolling interests purchase and issuance activity. Cash provided by financing activities in the prior year was $320.2 million,
due primarily to net proceeds from borrowings of $719.0 million, offset by cash used for share repurchases of $281.9 million and $115.9 million in
dividends to shareholders.

At September 29, 2023, the Company had approximately $171.6 million in cash and cash equivalents held in the U.S. and $755.0 million held
outside of the U.S. (primarily in the U.K., the Eurozone, India, Australia and the Middle East region), which is used primarily for funding operations in
those regions. Other than the tax cost of repatriating funds to the U.S. (see Note 7- Income Taxes of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K), there are no material impediments to repatriating these funds to the U.S.

The Company had $322.0 million in letters of credit outstanding at September 29, 2023. Of this amount, $0.9 million was issued under the
Revolving Credit Facility and $321.1 million was issued under separate, committed and uncommitted letter-of-credit facilities.

On May 9, 2023, the Company announced our intention to spin-off our Critical Mission Solutions business into an independent publicly traded
company to Jacobs’ stockholders. On November 20, 2023, Jacobs entered into a definitive agreement to spin-off and combine our Critical Mission
Solutions and Cyber and Intelligence government services businesses (part of Divergent Solutions) with Amentum, in a Reverse Morris Trust
transaction intended to be tax-free to Jacobs’ shareholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The transaction, which is expected to close in fiscal
2024, is subject to regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions. Jacobs and its shareholders will own up to 63% of the combined
company’s common shares upon consummation of the transaction, consisting of 51% Jacobs’ shareholders ownership and Jacobs retaining 7.5-12%.
The exact amount of the retained stake will be determined based on achievement of certain fiscal year 2024 operating profit targets. Jacobs is
expected to receive cash proceeds of $1 billion at close, subject to customary adjustments. Jacobs is also expected to realize additional value after
closing through the disposition of its retained equity stake in the combined company within 12 months. The Company expects to use the cash
received at closing to repay outstanding indebtedness.

On February 6, 2023, the Company refinanced its Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facilities, and on February 16, 2023, the
Company issued $500.0 million in bonds. On August 18, the Company issued $600.0 million in bonds. See Note 9 - Borrowings for further discussion
relating to the terms of the 5.90% Bonds, the 6.35% Bonds, the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facilities following the issuances and
refinancing.
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On April 12, 2022, the Company paid cash of AUD640 million, or approximately $475 million using mid-April 2022 exchange rates, which
represented the final settlement of Legacy CH2M Matter. For more information, refer to Note 18 - Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations
and Insurance.

On February 4, 2022, the Company acquired StreetLight Data, Inc. ("StreetLight"). StreetLight is a pioneer of mobility analytics who uses its
data and machine learning resources to shed light on mobility and enable users to solve complex transportation problems. The Company paid total
base consideration of approximately $190.7 million in cash and issued $0.9 million in equity and $5.2 million in in-the-money stock options to the
former owners of StreetLight. The Company also paid off StreetLight's debt of approximately $1.0 million simultaneously with the consummation of
the acquisition.

On November 19, 2021, Jacobs acquired BlackLynx, a provider of high-performance software, to complement Jacobs' portfolio of cyber,
intelligence and digital solutions. The Company paid total base consideration of approximately $235.4 million in cash to the former owners of
BlackLynx. In conjunction with the acquisition, the Company also paid off BlackLynx's debt of approximately $5.3 million simultaneously with the
consummation of the acquisition.

On March 2, 2021, Jacobs completed the strategic investment of a 65% interest in PA Consulting, a UK-based leading innovation and
transformation consulting firm. The total consideration paid by the Company was $1.7 billion, funded through cash on hand, a new term loan and
draws on the Company's existing revolver. The remaining 35% interest was held by PA Consulting employees. See Note 14- PA Consulting Business
Combination for more discussion on the investment and Note 9- Borrowings for more discussion on the financing for the transaction.

On January 20, 2021, the Company entered into an unsecured delayed draw term loan facility (the “2021 Term Loan Facility”) with a
syndicate of financial institutions as lenders. Under the 2021 Term Loan Facility, the Company borrowed an aggregate principal amount of
$200.0 million and £650.0 million. The proceeds of the term loans were used primarily to fund the investment in PA Consulting. The 2021 Term Loan
Facility contains affirmative and negative covenants and events of default customary for financings of this type that are consistent with those included
in the Revolving Credit Facility and the Company’s unsecured term loan facility dated March 25, 2020 (the “2020 Term Loan Facility”). The 2020 Term
Loan Facility and the 2021 Term Loan Facility are together referred to as the "Term Loan Facilities".

On November 24, 2020, a subsidiary of Jacobs completed the acquisition of Buffalo Group, a leader in advanced cyber and intelligence
solutions which allows Jacobs to further expand its cyber and intelligence solutions offerings to government clients. The Company paid total
consideration of $190.1 million, which was comprised of approximately $182.4 million in cash to the former owners of Buffalo Group and contingent
consideration of $7.7 million which was subsequently recognized in fiscal 2021 as an offset to selling, general and administrative expense when it
was determined no amounts would be paid. See Note 15- Other Business Combinations for further discussion.

We believe we have adequate liquidity and capital resources to fund our projected cash requirements for the next twelve months based on
the liquidity provided by our cash and cash equivalents on hand, our borrowing capacity and our continuing cash from operations.

We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants at September 29, 2023.

Supplemental Obligor Group Financial Information

On February 16, 2023, Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jacobs Solutions Inc. (together, the "Obligor Group"),
completed an offering of $500 million aggregate principal amount of 5.90% Bonds, due 2033 and on August 18, 2023, completed an offering of $600
million aggregate principal amount of 6.35% Bonds, due 2028 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company
(the “Guarantees”). The Bonds and the Guarantees were offered pursuant to prospectus supplements, dated February 13, 2023 and August 15,
2023, respectively, to the prospectus dated February 6, 2023, that forms a part of the Company and JEGI’s automatic shelf registration statement on
Form S-3ASR (File Nos. 333-269605 and 333-269605-01) previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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In accordance with SEC Regulation S-X Rule 13-01, set forth below is the summarized financial information for the Obligor Group on a
combined basis after elimination of (i) intercompany transactions and balances between Jacobs and JEGI and (ii) equity in the earnings from and
investments in all other subsidiaries of the Company that do not guarantee the registered securities of either Jacobs or JEG. This summarized
financial information (in thousands) has been prepared and presented pursuant to Regulation S-X Rule 13-01, “Financial Disclosures about
Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities” and is not intended to present the financial position or results of operations of the Obligor Group in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Year Ended Year Ended
(in thousands) September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Summarized Statement of Earnings Data
Revenue $ 3,427,751 $ 2,658,854 
Direct Costs $ 2,841,572 $ 2,188,593 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses $ 314,055 $ 275,617 
Net earnings attributable to Guarantor Subsidiaries from continuing operations $ 96,224 $ 77,671 
Noncontrolling interests $ (702) $ 1,148 

(in thousands) September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Summarized Balance Sheet Data
Current assets, less receivables from Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries $ 693,037 $ 641,281 
Current receivables from Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries $ — $ 144,564 
Noncurrent assets, less noncurrent receivables from Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries $ 459,276 $ 494,185 
Noncurrent receivables from Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries $ 610,900 $ 612,260 
Current liabilities $ 616,140 $ 573,614 
Current liabilities to Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries $ 387,461 $ — 
Long-term Debt $ 2,561,590 $ 2,986,124 
Other Noncurrent liabilities, less amounts payable to Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries $ 248,852 $ 289,452 
Noncurrent liabilities to Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries $ 343,674 $ 434,092 
Noncontrolling interests $ 577 $ 947 
Accumulated deficit $ (2,395,081) $ (2,391,939)

New Accounting Pronouncements

ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform, (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting is intended to
provide relief for entities impacted by reference rate reform and contains provisions and optional expedients designed to simplify requirements around
designation of hedging relationships, probability assessments of hedged forecasted transactions and accounting for modifications of contracts that
refer to LIBOR or other rates affected by reference rate reform. The guidance is elective and is effective on the date of issuance. ASU 2020-04 is
applied prospectively to contract modifications and as of the effective date for existing and new eligible hedging relationships. The guidance was
amended by ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform, (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848 to defer the original sunset date of
December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024. The adoption of the new guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2022 allowed the Company to continue its
British pound denominated interest rate hedge relationships which previously defined LIBOR as the benchmark interest rate and were amended to
replace LIBOR with the Sterling Overnight Index Average rate ("SONIA") in the first quarter of fiscal 2022 and its U.S. dollar denominated interest rate
hedge relationships which previously defined LIBOR as the benchmark interest rate and were amended to replace LIBOR with the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate ("SOFR") in the second quarter of fiscal 2023.
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Item 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading, speculation or other similar purposes that would expose the Company to
market risk. In the normal course of business, our results of operations are exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates and currency
exchange rates.

    Interest Rate Risk

Please see the Note 9- Borrowings in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on Page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, which is incorporated herein by reference, for a discussion of the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facilities.

Our Revolving Credit Facility, Term Loan Facilities and certain other debt obligations are subject to variable rate interest which could be
adversely affected by an increase in interest rates. As of September 29, 2023, we had an aggregate of $1.78 billion in outstanding borrowings under
our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facilities. Interest on amounts borrowed under these agreements is subject to adjustment based on the
Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the credit agreements governing the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan Facilities).
Depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio, borrowings denominated in U.S. dollars under the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term
Loan Facilities bear interest at a SOFR rate plus a margin of between 0.975% and 1.725% or a base rate plus a margin of between 0% and 0.625%
including applicable margins while borrowings denominated in British pounds under these respective facilities bear interest at an adjusted SONIA rate
plus a margin of between 0.908% and 1.6580%. Additionally, our Revolving Credit Facility, Term Loan Facilities and 5.90% Bonds due 2033 have
interest rates subject to potential increases relating to certain ESG metrics as stipulated in the related agreements and as discussed in Note 9 -
Borrowings.

However, as discussed in Note 17 - Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments, we have swap agreements with
an aggregate notional value of $769.1 million in place to convert the variable rate interest-based liabilities associated with a corresponding amount of
our debt into fixed interest rate liabilities, leaving $1.01 billion in principal amount subject to variable interest rate risk. Additionally, during fiscal 2022,
we entered into two treasury lock arrangements with an aggregate notional value of $500.0 million, which were settled in second quarter fiscal 2023.
These are discussed in further detail in Note 17 - Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments.

For the year ended September 29, 2023, our weighted average floating rate borrowings that are subject to floating rate exposure were
approximately $2.2 billion. If floating interest rates had increased by 1.00%, our interest expense for the year ended September 29, 2023 would have
increased by approximately $22.4 million.

    Foreign Currency Risk

In situations where our operations incur contract costs in currencies other than their functional currency, we sometimes enter into foreign
exchange contracts to limit our exposure to fluctuating foreign currencies. We follow the provisions of ASC No. 815, Derivatives and Hedging in
accounting for our derivative contracts. The Company has $857.7 million in notional value of exchange rate sensitive instruments at September 29,
2023. See Note 17 - Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments for discussion.

Item 8.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this Item 8 is submitted as a separate section beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is
incorporated herein by reference. 

Item 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None. 

Item 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
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Disclosure controls and procedures are those controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
in our reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) are recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls
and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial
officer), to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

The Company’s management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer), evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined by Rule 13a-15(e) of the
Exchange Act as of September 29, 2023, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Evaluation Date”). Based on that
evaluation, the Company’s management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer) concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the Evaluation Date were effective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated
to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial officer), as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining for the Company adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) and Chief
Financial Officer (principal financial officer), has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of the
Evaluation Date based on the framework established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework,” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of the Evaluation Date was effective.

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, which audited the Company's consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, also audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
September 29, 2023, as stated in their report included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control

There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the Company’s fiscal quarter ended September 29,
2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

The Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that its disclosure controls
and procedures or its system of internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how
well designed or operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system of internal control are met. The
design of the Company’s control system reflects the fact that there are resource constraints, and that the benefits of such control systems must be
considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control failures and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can
be circumvented by the intentional acts of individuals, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of
any system of controls is also based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that the
design of any particular control will always succeed in achieving its objective under all potential future conditions.

Item 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION
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Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

During the fiscal quarter ended September 29, 2023, none of our officers or directors adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or
written plan for the purchase or sale of our securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1 under the
Exchange Act or any “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” as defined in Item 408(c) of SEC Regulation S-K.
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PART III

Item 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons

The information required by Paragraph (a), and Paragraphs (c) through (g) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K (except for information required by
Paragraph (e) of that Item to the extent the required information pertains to our executive officers) and Item 405 of Regulation S-K is set forth under
the caption “Members of the Board of Directors” and “Corporate Governance” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference. The information required by Paragraph (b) of
Item 401 of Regulation S-K, as well as the information required by Paragraph (e) of that Item to the extent the required information pertains to our
executive officers, is set forth in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Information About Our Executive Officers.”

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers; a code of business conduct and ethics for
members of our Board of Directors and corporate governance guidelines. The full text of these codes of ethics and corporate governance guidelines
are available at our website at www.jacobs.com. In the event we make any amendment to, or grant any waiver from, a provision of the code of ethics
that applies to the principal executive officer, principal financial officer or principal accounting officer that requires disclosure under applicable SEC
rules, we will disclose such amendment or waiver and the reasons therefor on our website. We will provide any person without charge a copy of any
of the aforementioned codes of ethics upon receipt of a written request. Requests should be addressed to: Jacobs Solutions Inc., 1999 Bryan Street,
Suite 3500, Dallas, Texas 75201, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

Corporate Governance

The information required by Items 407(d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K is set forth under the caption “Corporate Governance” in our
definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Corporate Governance,” “Compensation Committee Report,”
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Executive Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is set forth in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within
120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Members of The Board of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” and
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120
days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm is Ernst & Young, LLP, Dallas, TX, Auditor Firm ID: 42.
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The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Report of the Audit Committee” and “Audit and Non-Audit Fees” in our
definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated
herein by reference.
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PART IV

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Item 15.    EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:
(1) The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 and for each of the three

years in the period ended September 29, 2023, and the notes thereto, together with the report of the independent auditors on
those Consolidated Financial Statements are hereby filed as part of this report, beginning on page F-1.

(2) Financial statement schedules – no financial statement schedules are presented as the required information is either not
applicable or is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(3) See Exhibit Index below.

(b) Exhibit Index:

 

2.1 
 

Agreement and Plan of Merger among The KeyW Holding Corporation, Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Atom Acquisition Sub, Inc., dated April 21,
2019. Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on April 22, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.

2.2 Amended and Restated Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2019, by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and
WorleyParsons Limited. Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K on April 29, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference.

2.3 Implementation Deed, dated as of November 27, 2020, by and among PA Consulting Group Limited, CEP IV Garden S.A.R.L., Jacobs Consulting
Solutions Limited, Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and the persons set out in Schedule 1 thereto. Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K on November 30, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.

2.4 Warranty Deed, dated as of November 27, 2020, by and among the Warrantors named therein and Jacobs Consulting Solutions Limited. Filed as
Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on November 30, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.

3.1
 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Jacobs Solutions Inc. Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on
August 29, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.

  
3.2

 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Jacobs Solutions Inc., dated as of July 6, 2023. Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-
K/A on July 11, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

  
4.1 Indenture, dated as of February 16, 2023, among Jacobs Solutions Inc., Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National

Association, as Trustee. Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K on February 16, 2023 and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 16, 2023, among Jacobs Solutions Inc., Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., and U.S. Bank Trust
Company, National Association, as Trustee. Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K on February 16, 2023 and incorporated
herein by reference.

4.3 Form of the Notes, including the Guarantee. Filed as part of Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K on February 16, 2023 and
incorporated herein by reference.

4.4 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 18, 2023, among Jacobs Solutions Inc., Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and the U.S. Bank Trust
Company, National Association, as.Trustee. Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K on August 18, 2023 and incorporated
herein by reference.

4.5 Form of the Notes, including the Guarantee. Filed as part of Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K on August 18, 2023 and
incorporated herein by reference.
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4.6
 

Description of the Registrant’s Securities. Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by
reference.

10.1 

 

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated February 6, 2023, by and among Jacobs Solutions Inc., Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., certain
of its subsidiaries party thereto, the lenders party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K on February 7, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

  
10.2 Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2023, among Jacobs Solutions Inc., Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., the

lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent,. Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on
February 7, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.3 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2020, among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Jacobs U.K. Limited, as borrowers, the lenders party

thereto, Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent, Bank of America, N.A., BNP Paribas and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as co-syndication agents,
The Bank of Nova Scotia, HSBC Bank USA, National Association, USA, PNC Bank, National Association, TD Bank, N.A., Truist Bank and U.S. Bank
National Association, as co-documentation agents, and BofA Securities, Inc., BNP Paribas Securities Corp. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as joint
lead arrangers and joint bookrunners. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on March 27, 2020 and incorporated herein
by reference.

10.4 Amendment to Credit Agreement (LIBOR Transition), dated as of December 6, 2021, among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Jacobs U.K. Limited,
as borrowers, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2020, by and among Jacobs
Engineering Group Inc. and Jacobs U.K. Limited, as borrowers, the lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent. Filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.5 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2022, among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Jacobs U.K. Limited, as borrowers,
and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2020, by and among Jacobs Engineering Group
Inc. and Jacobs U.K. Limited, as borrowers, the lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent. Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the
Registrant's fiscal 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

10.6 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2023, by and among Jacobs Solutions Inc., Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., Jacobs
U.K. Limited, the lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2020, by
and among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Jacobs U.K. Limited, as borrowers, the lenders party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A. as
administrative agent. . Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K on February 7, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.7#
 

Offer Letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Steven J. Demetriou, dated July 10, 2015. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K on July 16, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.8#

 
Offer Letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Kevin C. Berryman, effective November 12, 2014. Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Amendment
No. 1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A on November 17, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.9#

 
Offer letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Robert V. Pragada, dated January 28, 2016. Filed as Exhibit 10.61 to the Registrant’s
fiscal 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.10#

 
Offer letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and William Benton Allen, Jr. dated October 4, 2016. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on October 14, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.11#

 
Employment Agreement by and between Patrick X. Hill and Jacobs Group (Australia) Pty Ltd, effective as of August 1, 2021. Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.12#
 

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Jacobs Solutions Inc. and certain of its officers and directors. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.13#

 
Jacobs Solutions Inc. 1989 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended and restated on August 29, 2022). Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s
Post Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8 on August 29, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.14#

 
Jacobs Solutions Inc. (StreetLight) 2011 Stock Plan, as amended and restated, effective August 29, 2022. Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Post
Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8 on August 29, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.15#

 
Jacobs Executive Deferral Plan, effective January 1, 2023. Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second
quarter of fiscal 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.16#

 
Jacobs Solutions Inc. Directors Deferral Plan, as amended and restated effective August 29, 2022. Filed as Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2022
Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.17# Jacobs Solutions Inc. 2023 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, effective January 24, 2023. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s

Current Report on Form 8-K on January 27, 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.18#
Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Leadership Performance Plan, as amended and restated effective August 29, 2022. Filed as Exhibit 10.44 to the
Registrant’s fiscal 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

10.19# Jacobs Solutions Inc. 1999 Outside Director Stock Plan, as amended and restated effective August 29, 2022. Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s
Post Effective Amendment No. 1 to Form S-8 on August 29, 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.20# Jacobs Solutions Inc. Executive Severance Plan, as amended and restated effective November 16, 2022. Filed as Exhibit 10.25 to the Registrant’s

fiscal 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.
   

10.21#
 

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (awarded pursuant to the 1999 Outside Directors Stock Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.22#  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (awarded pursuant to the1999 Outside Directors Stock Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.
   

10.23# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares - Earnings Per Share Growth - 2018 Award) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock
Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by
reference.

10.24# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares - ROIC - 2018 Award) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.25# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares - Earnings Per Share Growth - 2019 Award) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock
Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 filed February 6, 2019 and
incorporated herein by reference.

10.26# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares - ROIC - 2019 Award) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 filed February 6, 2019 and incorporated herein by
reference.

10.27# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.28# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (awarded pursuant to the 1999 Outside Director Stock Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.29# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – Earnings Per Share Growth – 2020 Award) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock
Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and incorporated herein by
reference.

10.30# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – ROIC – 2020 Award) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.31# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.32# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – Earnings Per Share Growth) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan).
Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.33# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – ROIC) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.34# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2021 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.35# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – Earnings Per Share Growth) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' 1999 Stock Incentive
Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.36# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – ROIC) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.37# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs'Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2022 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.38#
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – Earnings Per Share Growth) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan).
Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.39#
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – ROIC) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.40#
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) (awarded pursuant to Jacobs' Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.41#
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (awarded pursuant to the 1999 Outside Directors Stock Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2023 and incorporated herein by reference.

21†  List of Subsidiaries of Jacobs Solutions Inc.
   

23†  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
   

31.1†  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   

31.2†  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   

32.1†  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002.
   

32.2†  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002.
   

97† Jacobs Solutions Inc. Executive Clawback Policy

101.INS†  XBRL Instance Document
   

101.SCH†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
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101.CAL†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

   
101.DEF†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

   
101.LAB†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

   
101.PRE†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104† Cover page interactive data file (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

† Being filed herewith.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 

    JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC.
Dated:  November 21, 2023  By:  /S/ Robert V. Pragada
      Robert V. Pragada
      Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
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Signature  Title  Date
/S/ Steven J. Demetriou  Chair of the Board  November 21, 2023

Steven J. Demetriou     

/S/ Robert V. Pragada
Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer) November 21, 2023
Robert V. Pragada

/S/ Vincent K. Brooks  Director  November 21, 2023
Vincent K. Brooks     

/S/ Peter J. Robertson  Director  November 21, 2023
Peter J. Robertson     

/S/ Ralph E. Eberhart  Director  November 21, 2023
Ralph E. Eberhart     

/S/ Manny Fernandez  Director  November 21, 2023
Manny Fernandez     

/S/ Barbara L. Loughran  Director  November 21, 2023
Barbara L. Loughran     

/S/ Priya Abani Director November 21, 2023
Priya Abani

/S/ Christopher M.T. Thompson Director November 21, 2023
Christopher M.T. Thompson

/S/ Claudia Jaramillo

Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer) November 21, 2023
Claudia Jaramillo

/S/ William B. Allen, Jr.  

Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)  November 21, 2023
William B. Allen, Jr.     
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JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share information)

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 926,582 $ 1,140,479 
Receivables and contract assets 3,558,806 3,405,381 
Prepaid expenses and other 204,965 176,134 

Total current assets 4,690,353 4,721,994 
Property, Equipment and Improvements, net 357,032 346,676 
Other Noncurrent Assets:

Goodwill 7,343,526 7,184,658 
Intangibles, net 1,271,943 1,394,052 
Deferred income tax assets 53,131 31,480 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 414,384 476,913 
Miscellaneous 486,740 504,646 

Total other noncurrent assets 9,569,724 9,591,749 
$ 14,617,109 $ 14,660,419 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Short-term debt $ 61,430 $ 50,415 
Accounts payable 1,143,802 966,792 
Accrued liabilities 1,301,644 1,441,762 
Operating lease liability 152,077 150,171 
Contract liabilities 763,608 641,705 

Total current liabilities 3,422,561 3,250,845 
Long-term debt 2,813,471 3,357,256 
Liabilities relating to defined benefit pension and retirement plans 258,540 271,332 
Deferred income tax liabilities 221,158 269,077 
Long-term operating lease liability 543,230 607,447 
Other deferred liabilities 125,088 167,548 
Commitments and Contingencies
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests 632,979 632,522 
Stockholders’ Equity:

Capital stock:
Preferred stock, $1 par value, authorized - 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding - none — — 
Common stock, $1 par value, authorized - 240,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding - 125,976,998 shares and
127,393,378 shares as of September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively 125,977 127,393 

Additional paid-in capital 2,735,325 2,682,009 
Retained earnings 4,542,872 4,225,784 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (857,954) (975,130)

Total Jacobs stockholders’ equity 6,546,220 6,060,056 
Noncontrolling interests 53,862 44,336 

Total Group stockholders’ equity 6,600,082 6,104,392 
$ 14,617,109 $ 14,660,419 

See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021
(In thousands, except per share information)

September 29,
2023

September 30,
2022 October 1, 2021

Revenues $ 16,352,414 $ 14,922,825 $ 14,092,632 
Direct cost of contracts (12,879,099) (11,595,785) (11,048,860)
Gross profit 3,473,315 3,327,040 3,043,772 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (2,398,078) (2,409,190) (2,355,683)
Operating Profit 1,075,237 917,850 688,089 
Other Income (Expense):

Interest income 26,013 4,489 3,503 
Interest expense (168,108) (100,246) (72,714)
Miscellaneous (expense) income, net (16,463) 54,254 76,724 

Total other (expense) income, net (158,558) (41,503) 7,513 
Earnings from Continuing Operations Before Taxes 916,679 876,347 695,602 
Income Tax Expense for Continuing Operations (196,181) (160,903) (274,781)
Net Earnings of the Group from Continuing Operations 720,498 715,444 420,821 
Net (Loss) Earnings of the Group from Discontinued Operations (842) (32) 10,008 
Net Earnings of the Group 719,656 715,412 430,829 
Net Earnings Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests from Continuing Operations (32,265) (36,788) (39,213)
Net (Earnings) Loss Attributable to Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests (21,614) (34,585) 85,414 
Net Earnings Attributable to Jacobs from Continuing Operations 666,619 644,071 467,022 
Net Earnings Attributable to Jacobs $ 665,777 $ 644,039 $ 477,030 
Net Earnings Per Share:

Basic Net Earnings from Continuing Operations Per Share $ 5.33 $ 5.01 $ 3.15 
Basic Net (Loss) Earnings from Discontinued Operations Per Share $ (0.01) — $ 0.08 
Basic Earnings Per Share $ 5.32 $ 5.01 $ 3.22 

Diluted Net Earnings from Continuing Operations Per Share $ 5.31 $ 4.98 $ 3.12 
Diluted Net (Loss) Earnings from Discontinued Operations Per Share $ (0.01) — $ 0.08 
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 5.30 $ 4.98 $ 3.20 

See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021
(In thousands)

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Net Earnings of the Group $ 719,656 $ 715,412 $ 430,829 
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustment 148,971 (397,819) 15,585 
Change in cash flow hedges (20,500) 154,541 29,332 
Change in pension plan liabilities (16,389) 92,527 142,135 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before taxes 112,082 (150,751) 187,052 

Income Tax Benefit (Expense):
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,132 19,019 (3,110)
Cash flow hedges 5,870 (43,595) (7,357)
Change in pension plan liabilities (1,908) (5,361) (37,970)

Income Tax Benefit (Expense): 5,094 (29,937) (48,437)
Net other comprehensive income (loss) 117,176 (180,688) 138,615 
Net Comprehensive Income of the Group 836,832 534,724 569,444 
Net Earnings Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests (32,265) (36,788) (39,213)
Net (Earnings) Loss Attributable to Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests (21,614) (34,585) 85,414 
Net Comprehensive Income Attributable to Jacobs $ 782,953 $ 463,351 $ 615,645 

See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements including the Company's note on Other Financial Information for a presentation
of amounts reclassified to net income during the period.
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JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021
(In thousands)

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
 Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other Comprehensive

 Income
 (Loss)

Total Jacobs
Stockholders’

Equity
Noncontrolling

Interests

Total Group
Stockholders’

Equity
Balances at October 2, 2020 $ 129,748 $ 2,598,446 $ 4,020,575 $ (933,057) $ 5,815,712 $ 39,955 $ 5,855,667 

Net earnings — — 477,030 — 477,030 39,213 516,243 
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of deferred
taxes of $3,110 — — — 12,475 12,475 — 12,475 
Pension plan liability, net of deferred taxes of $37,970 — — — 104,165 104,165 — 104,165 
Change in cash flow hedges. net of deferred taxes of
$7,357 — — — 21,975 21,975 — 21,975 
Dividends — — (109,616) — (109,616) — (109,616)
Noncontrolling interests - distributions and other — — — — — (44,372) (44,372)
Redeemable Noncontrolling interests redemption value
adjustment — — (175,183) — (175,183) — (175,183)
Stock based compensation — 56,221 — — 56,221 — 56,221 
Issuances of equity securities including shares withheld for
taxes 871 20,345 (9,006) — 12,210 — 12,210 
Repurchases of equity securities (1,726) (85,000) (188,222) — (274,948) — (274,948)

Balances at October 1, 2021 $ 128,893 $ 2,590,012 $ 4,015,578 $ (794,442) $ 5,940,041 $ 34,796 $ 5,974,837 
Net earnings — — 644,039 — 644,039 36,788 680,827 
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of deferred
taxes of $(19,019) — — — (378,800) (378,800) — (378,800)
Pension plan liability, net of deferred taxes of $5,361 — — — 87,166 87,166 — 87,166 
Change in cash flow hedges., net of deferred taxes of
$43,595 — — — 110,946 110,946 — 110,946 
Dividends — — (118,291) — (118,291) — (118,291)
Noncontrolling interests - distributions and other — — — — — (27,248) (27,248)
Redeemable Noncontrolling interests redemption value
adjustment — — (27,657) — (27,657) — (27,657)
Repurchase and issuance of redeemable noncontrolling
interests — — 2,618 — 2,618 — 2,618 
Stock based compensation — 53,383 — — 53,383 — 53,383 
Issuances of equity securities including shares withheld for
taxes 973 39,537 (11,973) — 28,537 — 28,537 
Repurchases of equity securities (2,473) (923) (278,530) — (281,926) — (281,926)

Balances at September 30, 2022 $ 127,393 $ 2,682,009 $ 4,225,784 $ (975,130) $ 6,060,056 $ 44,336 $ 6,104,392 
Net earnings — — 665,777 — 665,777 32,265 698,042 
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of deferred
taxes of $(1,132) — — — 150,103 150,103 — 150,103 
Pension plan liability, net of deferred taxes of $1,908 — — — (18,297) (18,297) — (18,297)
Change in cash flow hedges, net of deferred taxes of
$(5,870) — — — (14,630) (14,630) — (14,630)
Dividends — — (132,468) — (132,468) — (132,468)
Noncontrolling interests - distributions and other — — — — — (22,739) (22,739)
Redeemable Noncontrolling interests redemption value
adjustment — — (10,770) — (10,770) — (10,770)
Repurchase and issuance of redeemable noncontrolling
interests — — 14,293 — 14,293 — 14,293 
Stock based compensation — 74,337 — — 74,337 — 74,337 
Issuances of equity securities including shares withheld for
taxes 910 28,181 (5,558) — 23,533 — 23,533 
Repurchases of equity securities (2,326) (49,202) (214,186) — (265,714) — (265,714)

Balances at September 29, 2023 $ 125,977 $ 2,735,325 $ 4,542,872 $ (857,954) $ 6,546,220 $ 53,862 $ 6,600,082 

See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021
(In thousands)

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Net earnings attributable to the Group $ 719,656 $ 715,412 $ 430,829 
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash flows provided by (used for) operations:
Depreciation and amortization:

Property, equipment and improvements 103,346 102,454 101,024 
Intangible assets 203,906 198,602 149,776 

Gain on sale of ECR business — — (15,608)
 Gain on investment in equity securities — (13,862) (71,325)
Stock based compensation 74,337 53,383 56,221 
Equity in earnings of operating ventures, net of return on capital distributions (324) 18,291 10,941 
Loss (gain) on disposals of assets, net 7,690 (4,680) 1,003 
Impairment of equity method investment and other long-term assets 48,163 78,292 40,640 
 Loss on pension and retiree medical plan changes 208 123 2,783 
Deferred income taxes (76,815) 111,846 113,623 

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of businesses acquired:
Receivables and contract assets, net of contract liabilities (8,395) (267,947) 242,154 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (33,996) 6 6,800 
Miscellaneous other assets 92,050 113,850 116,097 
Accounts payable 166,194 87,402 (165,502)
Income taxes payable 9,408 (70,258) 20,961 
Accrued liabilities (279,136) (552,036) (252,305)
Other deferred liabilities (49,957) (73,697) (63,915)

Other, net (1,572) (22,472) 2,079 
Net cash provided by operating activities 974,763 474,709 726,276 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Additions to property and equipment (137,486) (127,615) (92,814)
Disposals of property and equipment and other assets 1,544 9,392 474 
Capital contributions to equity investees, net of return of capital distributions 7,964 3,025 (5,016)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (17,685) (437,083) (1,741,062)
Disposals of investment in equity securities — 13,862 421,315 
Proceeds from sales of businesses — — 36,360 

Net cash used for investing activities (145,663) (538,419) (1,380,743)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 3,860,468 3,145,500 4,445,080 
Repayments of long-term borrowings (4,486,679) (2,420,166) (3,216,965)
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 13,011 — — 
Repayments of short-term borrowings (3,353) (6,359) (7,675)
Debt issuance costs (17,177) — (2,747)
Proceeds from issuances of common stock 47,782 51,034 38,077 
Common stock repurchases (265,714) (281,926) (274,948)
Taxes paid on vested restricted stock (24,249) (28,587) (25,867)
Cash dividends to shareholders (128,420) (115,948) (107,188)
Net dividends associated with noncontrolling interests (23,156) (26,982) (48,784)
Repurchase of redeemable noncontrolling interests (92,939) (46,074) — 
Proceeds from issuances of redeemable noncontrolling interests 34,016 49,742 — 

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities (1,086,410) 320,234 798,983 
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes 32,548 (128,892) 19,635 
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash (224,762) 127,632 164,151 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, including Restricted Cash, at the Beginning of the Period 1,154,207 1,026,575 862,424 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, including Restricted Cash, at the End of the Period $ 929,445 $ 1,154,207 $ 1,026,575 

See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Description of Business

Jacobs Solutions Inc. ("Jacobs" or "the Company") is a leading global professional services company that designs and deploys technology-
centric solutions to solve many of the world’s most complex challenges. In fiscal 2023 we operated in four operating segments: Critical Mission
Solutions, People & Places Solutions, Divergent Solutions, and our investment in PA Consulting Group Limited ("PA Consulting").

We provide a broad range of technical, professional and construction services including engineering, design and architectural services;
construction and construction management services; operations and maintenance services; and process, scientific and systems consulting services.
We provide our services through offices and subsidiaries located primarily in North America, Europe, the Middle East, India, Australia, New Zealand
and Asia. We provide our services under cost-reimbursable and fixed-price contracts, with our fixed-price contracts comprised mainly of professional
services arrangements and in some limited cases, construction. The percentage of revenues realized from each of these types of contracts for the
fiscal years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 was as follows:

 For the Years Ended
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022  October 1, 2021
Cost-reimbursable 74.1% 74% 76%
Fixed-price 25.9% 26% 24%

Basis of Presentation, Definition of Fiscal Year, and Other Matters

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States ("U.S. GAAP") and include the accounts of Jacobs Solutions Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates which it controls. On August 29,
2022, Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. (JEGI), the predecessor to Jacobs Solutions Inc., implemented a holding company structure, which resulted in
Jacobs Solutions Inc. becoming the parent company of, and successor issuer to, JEGI (the "Holding Company Reorganization"). Prior to the
implementation date, the Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of JEGI and its subsidiaries and affiliates which it controlled. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Friday closest to September 30 (determined on the basis of the number of workdays) and,
accordingly, an additional week of activity is added every five-to-six years. Fiscal 2020 included an extra week of activity.

On November 20, 2023, Jacobs entered into a definitive agreement to spin-off and combine our CMS and Cyber and Intelligence government
services (part of Divergent Solutions ("DVS")) businesses with Amentum, in a Reverse Morris Trust transaction intended to be tax-free to Jacobs’
shareholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The transaction, which is expected to close in fiscal year 2024, is subject to regulatory approvals
and other customary closing conditions.

As part of the new Company strategy, during the first quarter of fiscal 2023, Jacobs formed a reporting and operating segment, Divergent
Solutions ("DVS"), to further strengthen our ability to drive value for our clients (the "DVS segment reorganization"). For a further discussion of our
segment information, please refer to Note 19- Segment Information.

On February 4, 2022, the Company acquired StreetLight Data, Inc. ("StreetLight"). StreetLight is a pioneer of mobility analytics who uses its
data and machine learning resources to shed light on mobility and enable users to solve complex transportation problems. The Company paid total
base consideration of approximately $190.8 million in cash and issued $0.9 million in equity and $5.2 million in in-the-money stock options to the
former owners of StreetLight. The Company also paid off StreetLight's debt of approximately $1.0 million simultaneously with the consummation of
the acquisition. The Company has recorded its final purchase price allocation associated with the acquisition, which is summarized in Note 15- Other
Business Combinations.

On November 19, 2021, Jacobs acquired BlackLynx, a provider of high-performance software, to complement Jacobs' portfolio of cyber,
intelligence and digital solutions. The Company paid total base consideration of approximately
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$235.4 million in cash to the former owners of BlackLynx. In conjunction with the acquisition, the Company also paid off BlackLynx's debt of
approximately $5.3 million simultaneously with the consummation of the acquisition. The Company has recorded its final purchase price allocation
associated with the acquisition, which is summarized in Note 15- Other Business Combinations.

On March 2, 2021, Jacobs completed the strategic investment of a 65% interest in PA Consulting, a UK-based leading innovation and
transformation consulting firm. The total consideration paid by the Company was $1.7 billion, funded through cash on hand, proceeds from a new
term loan and draws on the Company's existing Revolving Credit Facility. The remaining 35% interest was acquired by PA Consulting employees,
whose redeemable noncontrolling interests had a fair value of $582.4 million on the closing date, including subsequent purchase accounting
adjustments. PA Consulting is accounted for as a consolidated subsidiary and as a separate operating segment. The Company has recorded its final
purchase price allocation associated with the acquisition. See Note 14- PA Consulting Business Combination for more discussion on the investment
and Note 9- Borrowings for more discussion on the financing for the transaction.

On November 24, 2020, a subsidiary of Jacobs completed the acquisition of Buffalo Group, a leader in advanced cyber and intelligence
solutions which allows Jacobs to further expand its cyber and intelligence solutions offerings to government clients. The Company paid total
consideration of $190.1 million, which was comprised of approximately $182.4 million in cash to the former owners of Buffalo Group and contingent
consideration of $7.7 million The contingent consideration was subsequently recognized in fiscal 2021 as an offset to selling, general and
administrative expense when it was determined no amounts would be paid. In conjunction with the acquisition, the Company assumed the Buffalo
Group's debt of approximately $7.7 million. The Company repaid all of the assumed Buffalo Group debt by the end of the first fiscal quarter of 2021.
The Company has recorded its final purchase price allocation associated with the acquisition, which is summarized in Note 15- Other Business
Combinations.

On April 26, 2019, Jacobs completed the sale of its Energy, Chemicals and Resources ("ECR") business to Worley Limited, a company
incorporated in Australia ("Worley"), for a purchase price of $3.4 billion consisting of (i) $2.8 billion in cash plus (ii) 58.2 million ordinary shares of
Worley, subject to adjustments for changes in working capital and certain other items (the “ECR sale”). As a result of the ECR sale, substantially all
ECR-related assets and liabilities were sold (the "Disposal Group"). We determined that the Disposal Group should be reported as discontinued
operations in accordance with ASC 210-05, Discontinued Operations because their disposal represented a strategic shift that had a major effect on
our operations and financial results. As such, the financial results of the ECR business are reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings as
discontinued operations for all periods presented and all of the ECR business to be sold under the terms of the sale had been conveyed to Worley
and as such, no amounts remain held for sale.

2.  Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Accounting for Contracts

Engineering, Procurement & Construction Contracts, Service Contracts and Software Contracts

The Company recognizes engineering, procurement, and construction contract revenue over time, as performance obligations are satisfied,
due to the continuous transfer of control to the customer in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Contracts
which include engineering, procurement and construction services are generally accounted for as a single deliverable (a single performance
obligation) and are no longer segmented between types of services. In some instances, the Company’s services associated with a construction
activity are limited to specific tasks such as customer support, consulting or supervisory services. In these instances, the services are typically
identified as separate performance obligations.
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The Company recognizes revenue using the percentage-of-completion method, based primarily on contract costs incurred to date compared
to total estimated contract costs. The percentage-of-completion method (an input method) is the most representative depiction of the Company’s
performance because it directly measures the value of the services transferred to the customer. Subcontractor materials, labor and equipment and, in
certain cases, customer-furnished materials and labor and equipment are included in revenue and cost of revenue when management believes that
the company is acting as a principal rather than as an agent (e.g., the company integrates the materials, labor and equipment into the deliverables
promised to the customer or is otherwise primarily responsible for fulfillment and acceptability of the materials, labor and/or equipment). The
Company recognizes revenue, but not profit, on certain uninstalled materials that are not specifically produced, fabricated, or constructed for a
project. Revenue on these uninstalled materials is recognized when control is transferred. Changes to total estimated contract cost or losses, if any,
are recognized in the period in which they are determined as assessed at the contract level. Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred unless they
are expected to be recovered from the client. Project mobilization costs are generally charged to project costs as incurred when they are an
integrated part of the performance obligation being transferred to the client. Under the typical payment terms of our engineering, procurement and
construction contracts, amounts are billed as work progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms at periodic intervals (e.g., biweekly
or monthly) and customer payments are typically due within 30 to 60 days of billing, depending on the contract.

For service contracts, the Company recognizes revenue over time using the cost-to-cost percentage-of-completion method. Service contracts
that include multiple performance obligations are segmented between types of services. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the
Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation using an estimate of the stand-alone selling price of each distinct service in
the contract. In some instances where the Company is standing ready to provide services, the Company recognizes revenue ratably over the service
period. Under the typical payment terms of our service contracts, amounts are billed as work progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual
terms, and customer payments are typically due within 30 to 60 days of billing, depending on the contract.

Revenue for certain contracts related to the sale of software licenses is recognized at a point in time, typically at the time of delivery, in
accordance with ASC 606. The software license sale will be treated as a performance obligation separate and distinct from any related service and
maintenance.

Direct costs of contracts include all costs incurred in connection with and directly for the benefit of client contracts, including depreciation and
amortization relating to assets used in providing the services required by the related projects. The level of direct costs of contracts may fluctuate
between reporting periods due to a variety of factors, including the amount of pass-through costs we incur during a period. On those projects where
we are acting as principal for subcontract labor or third-party materials and equipment, we reflect the amounts of such items in both revenues and
costs (and we refer to such costs as “pass-through costs”).

    Back charges to suppliers or subcontractors are recognized as a reduction of cost when it is determined that recovery of such cost is probable and
the amounts can be reliably estimated. Disputed back charges are recognized when the same requirements described above have been satisfied.

Variable Consideration

The nature of the Company’s contracts gives rise to several types of variable consideration, including claims and unpriced change orders;
awards and incentive fees; and liquidated damages and penalties. The Company recognizes revenue for variable consideration when it is probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. The Company estimates the amount of revenue to be
recognized on variable consideration using the expected value (i.e., the sum of a probability-weighted amount) or the most likely amount method,
whichever is expected to better predict the amount. Factors considered in determining whether revenue associated with claims (including change
orders in dispute and unapproved change orders in regard to both scope and price) should be recognized include the following: (a) the contract or
other evidence provides a legal basis for the claim, (b) additional costs were caused by circumstances that were unforeseen at the contract date and
not the result of deficiencies in the company’s performance, (c) claim-related costs are identifiable and considered reasonable in view of the work
performed, and (d) evidence supporting the claim is objective and verifiable. If the requirements for recognizing revenue for claims or unapproved
change orders are met, revenue is recorded only when the costs associated with the claims or unapproved change orders have been incurred and
only up to the amount of cost incurred which generally represents the amount of consideration that is not probable of reversal.
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The Company generally provides limited warranties for work performed under its engineering and construction contracts. The warranty
periods typically extend for a limited duration following substantial completion of the Company’s work on the project. Historically, warranty claims have
not resulted in material costs incurred for which the Company was not compensated for by the customer.

See Note 3- Revenue Accounting for Contracts for further discussion.

Joint Ventures and VIEs

As is common to the industry, we execute certain contracts jointly with third parties through various forms of joint ventures. Although the joint
ventures own and hold the contracts with the clients, the services required by the contracts are typically performed by us and our joint venture
partners, or by other subcontractors under subcontracting agreements with the joint ventures. Many of these joint ventures are formed for a specific
project. The assets of our joint ventures generally consist almost entirely of cash and receivables (representing amounts due from clients), and the
liabilities of our joint ventures generally consist almost entirely of amounts due to the joint venture partners (for services provided by the partners to
the joint ventures under their individual subcontracts) and other subcontractors. In general, at any given time, the equity of our joint ventures
represents the undistributed profits earned on contracts the joint ventures hold with clients. Very few of our joint ventures have employees or third-
party debt or credit facilities. The debt held by the joint ventures is non-recourse to the general credit of Jacobs.

The assets of a joint venture are restricted for use to the obligations of the particular joint venture and are not available for general operations
of the Company. Our risk of loss on these arrangements is usually shared with our partners. The liability of each partner is usually joint and several,
which means that each partner may become liable for the entire risk of loss on the project. Furthermore, on some of our projects, the Company has
granted guarantees which may encumber both our contracting subsidiary company and the Company for the entire risk of loss on the project. The
Company is unable to estimate the maximum potential amount of future payments that we could be required to make under outstanding performance
guarantees related to joint venture projects due to a number of factors, including but not limited to, the nature and extent of any contractual defaults
by our joint venture partners, resource availability, potential performance delays caused by the defaults, the location of the projects, and the terms of
the related contracts. See Note 18 - Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations and Insurance for further discussion.

Most of the joint ventures are deemed to be variable interest entities (“VIE”) because they lack sufficient equity to finance the activities of the
joint venture. The Company uses a qualitative approach to determine if the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE, which considers factors
that indicate a party has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the joint venture’s economic performance. These factors
include the composition of the governing board, how board decisions are approved, the powers granted to the operational manager(s) and partner
that holds that position(s), and to a certain extent, the partner’s economic interest in the joint venture. The Company analyzes each joint venture
initially to determine if it should be consolidated or unconsolidated.

• Consolidated if the Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE or holds the majority of voting interests of a non-VIE (and no
significant participative rights are available to the other partners).

• Unconsolidated if the Company is not the primary beneficiary of a VIE or does not hold the majority of voting interest of a non-VIE.

Our unconsolidated joint ventures (including equity method investments) are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the investment might not be recoverable, and impairment losses are recognized for such
investments if there is a decline in fair value below carrying value that is considered to be other-than-temporary.

See Note 8- Joint Ventures, VIEs and Other Investments for further discussion.

Fair Value Measurements

Certain amounts included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented at “fair value.” Fair value is defined as the
price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the date fair
value is determined (the “measurement date”). When determining fair value, we consider the principal or most advantageous market in which we
would transact, and we consider only those assumptions we believe a typical market participant would consider when pricing an asset or liability. In
measuring fair value, we use the following inputs in the order of priority indicated:
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Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, such as (i) quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; (ii) quoted prices in markets that have insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (e.g., less active markets); and (iii) model-driven
valuations in which all significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from, or corroborated with, observable market data for
substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the fair value measurement.

The net carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and payables and short-term debt approximate fair value due to
the short-term nature of these instruments. See Note 9- Borrowings for a discussion of the fair value of long-term debt.

Certain other assets and liabilities, such as forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements we purchased as cash-flow hedges
discussed in Note 17 - Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments are required to be carried in our Consolidated Financial
Statements at Fair Value.

The fair value of the Company’s reporting units (used for purposes of determining whether there is an impairment of the carrying value of
goodwill) is determined using an income and market approach. Both approaches require us to make certain estimates and judgments. Under the
income approach, fair value is determined by using the discounted cash flows of our reporting units. Under the market approach, the fair values of our
reporting units are determined by reference to guideline companies that are reasonably comparable to our reporting units; the fair values are
estimated based on the valuation multiples of earnings before taxes, interest, depreciation and amortization associated with the guideline companies.
In assessing whether the carrying value of goodwill has been impaired, we utilize the results of both valuation techniques and consider the range of
fair values indicated.

With respect to equity-based compensation (i.e., share-based payments), we estimate the fair value of stock options granted to employees
and directors using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Like all option-pricing models, the Black-Scholes model requires the use of subjective
assumptions including (i) the expected volatility of the market price of the underlying stock, and (ii) the expected term of the award, among others.
Accordingly, changes in assumptions and any subsequent adjustments to those assumptions can cause different fair values to be assigned to our
future stock option awards. For restricted stock awards (including restricted stock units) containing market conditions, compensation expense is
based on the fair value of such awards using a Monte Carlo simulation. For restricted stock awards (including restricted stock units) containing
service and performance conditions, fair value is based on the closing stock price on the date of grant, adjusted for the expected level of achievement
for any performance conditions.

The fair values of the assets owned by the various pension plans that the Company sponsors are determined based on the type of asset,
consistent with U.S. GAAP. Equity securities are valued by using market observable data such as quoted prices. Publicly traded corporate equity
securities are valued at the last reported sale price on the last business day of the year. Securities not traded on the last business day are valued at
the last reported bid price. Fixed income investment funds categorized as Level 2 are valued by the trustee using pricing models that use verifiable
observable market data (e.g., interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals), bids provided by brokers or dealers, or
quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics. Real estate consists primarily of common or collective trusts, with underlying investments in
real estate. These investments are valued using the best information available, including quoted market price, market prices for similar assets when
available, internal cash flow estimates discounted at an appropriate interest rate, or independent appraisals, as appropriate. Management values
insurance contracts and hedge funds using actuarial assumptions and certain values reported by fund managers.

Fair value measurements relating to our business combinations are made primarily using Level 3 inputs including discounted cash flow and
to the extent applicable, Monte Carlo simulation techniques. Fair value for the identified intangible assets is generally estimated using inputs primarily
for the income approach using the multiple period excess earnings method and the relief from royalties method. The significant assumptions used in
estimating fair value include (i) revenue projections of the business, including profitability, (ii) attrition rates and (iii) the estimated discount rate that
reflects the level of risk associated with receiving future cash flows. Other personal property assets, such as furniture, fixtures and equipment, are
valued using the cost approach, which is based on replacement or reproduction costs of the asset less depreciation. The fair value of the contingent
consideration is estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation and the significant assumptions used include projections of revenues and probabilities of
meeting those projections. Key inputs to
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the valuation of the noncontrolling interests include projected cash flows and the expected volatility associated with those cash flows.

The fair values for the asset groups relating to the impairment assessment of long-lived assets (see Note 10, Leases) were estimated
primarily using discounted cash flow models (income approach) with Level 3 inputs. The significant assumptions used in estimating fair value include
the expected downtime prior to the commencement of future subleases, projected sublease income over the remaining lease periods and discount
rates that reflects the level of risk associated with receiving future cash flows.

The methodologies described above and elsewhere in these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements may produce a fair value measure
that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Company believes Level 3 valuation
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value
of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement.

Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than three months to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents at
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 consisted primarily of money market mutual funds and overnight bank deposits.

Receivables, Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

Receivables include amounts billed, net and unbilled receivables. Amounts billed, net consist of amounts invoiced to clients in accordance
with the terms of our client contracts and are shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. We anticipate that substantially all of such billed
amounts will be collected over the next twelve months.

Unbilled receivables and other, which represent an unconditional right to payment subject only to the passage of time in connection with our
client contracts, are reclassified to amounts billed when they are billed under the terms of the contract. We anticipate that substantially all of such
unbilled amounts will be billed and collected over the next twelve months.

Contract assets represent unbilled amounts where the right to payment is subject to more than merely the passage of time and includes
performance-based incentives and services provided ahead of agreed contractual milestones. Contract assets are transferred to unbilled receivables
when the right to consideration becomes unconditional and are transferred to amounts billed upon invoicing.

Contract liabilities represent amounts billed to clients in excess of revenue recognized to date. We anticipate that substantially all such
amounts will be earned over the next twelve months.

Property, Equipment, and Improvements

Property, equipment and improvements are carried at cost, and are shown net of accumulated depreciation and amortization in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Depreciation and amortization is computed primarily by using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The cost of leasehold improvements is amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated
useful life of the asset or the remaining term of the related lease. Estimated useful lives range from 20 to 40 years for buildings, from 3 to 10 years for
equipment and from 2 to 20 years for leasehold improvements.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired business over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired.
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized; instead, on an annual basis we test goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives for possible impairment. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of those assets.

For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is assigned to the applicable reporting units based on the current reporting structure. We have
determined that our operating segments are also our reporting units based on management’s conclusion that the components comprising each of our
operating segments share similar economic characteristics and meet the aggregation criteria in accordance with ASC 350.
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We perform our annual goodwill impairment assessment as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter each year. We begin with the qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative
assessment described below. If it is determined through the evaluation of events or circumstances that the carrying value may not be recoverable, the
Company then compares the fair value of the related reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, an impairment loss is recognized. For the 2023 fiscal year, in connection with the separation activities of the CMS business and part of our
DVS business, we performed a quantitative impairment test of the CMS and DVS reporting units and determined that the fair value of these reporting
units exceeded their respective carrying value. For the remaining reporting units, we determined that the fair values significantly exceeded their
carrying values and an analysis beyond the qualitative level was not considered necessary.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets other than goodwill principally consist of right-of-use (ROU) lease assets, property, equipment and improvements, and
finite-lived intangible assets. These long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment for each of our asset groups in accordance with ASC 360 by first
identifying whether indicators of impairment exist. If such indicators are present, we assess long-lived asset groups for recoverability based on
estimated future undiscounted cash flows. For asset groups where the recoverability test fails, the fair value of each asset group is then estimated
and compared to its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which an asset group’s carrying value exceeds its fair
value.

Foreign Currencies
In preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements, it is necessary to translate the financial statements of our subsidiaries operating outside

the U.S., which are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, into the U.S. dollar. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, revenues and expenses
of operations outside the U.S. are translated into U.S. dollars using weighted-average exchange rates for the applicable periods being translated
while the assets and liabilities of operations outside the U.S. are generally translated into U.S. dollars using period-end exchange rates. The net effect
of foreign currency translation adjustments is included in stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Share-Based Payments

We measure the value of services received from employees and directors in exchange for an award of an equity instrument based on the
grant-date fair value of the award. The fair value is recognized as a non-cash cost on a straight-line basis over the period the individual provides
services, which is typically the vesting period of the award with the exception of awards containing an internal performance measure, such as
Earnings Per Share growth and Return on Invested Capital, which is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period subject to the
probability of meeting the performance requirements and adjusted for the number of shares expected to be earned. The cost of these awards is
recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Our cash balances and cash equivalents are maintained in accounts held by major banks and financial institutions located in North America,
South America, Europe, the Middle East, India, Australia, Africa and Asia. In the normal course of business, and consistent with industry practices, we
grant credit to our clients without requiring collateral. Concentrations of credit risk is the risk that, if we extend a significant amount of credit to clients
in a specific geographic area or industry, we may experience disproportionately high levels of default if those clients are adversely affected by factors
particular to their geographic area or industry. Concentrations of credit risk relative to trade receivables are limited due to our diverse client base,
which includes the U.S. federal government and multi-national corporations operating in a broad range of industries and geographic areas.
Additionally, in order to mitigate credit risk, we continually evaluate the credit worthiness of our major commercial clients.
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Leases

The Company accounts for its leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases ("ASC 842"). ASC 842 requires lessees to recognize assets and
liabilities for most leases. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at contract inception. A lease exists when a contract conveys to the
customer the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The definition of a lease embodies two
conditions: (1) there is an identified asset in the contract, and (2) the customer has the right to control the use of the identified asset. Lessees are
required to classify leases as either finance or operating leases. This classification will determine whether lease expense is recognized based on an
effective interest method or on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

ASC 842 provided several optional practical expedients for use in transition to and ongoing application of ASC 842. The Company elected to
utilize the package of practical expedients in ASC 842-10-65-1(f) that, upon adoption of ASC 842, allows entities to (1) not reassess whether any
expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (2) retain the classification of leases (e.g., operating or finance lease) existing as of the date of
adoption and (3) not reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases. The Company did not elect the practical expedient pertaining to the use of
hindsight. The Company elected to utilize the practical expedient in ASC 842-10-15-37 in which the Company has chosen to account for each
separate lease component of a contract and its associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Company’s right-of use assets and lease liabilities relate to real estate, project assets used in connection with long-term construction
contracts, IT assets and vehicles. The Company’s leases have remaining lease terms of less than one year to twenty years. The Company’s lease
obligations are primarily for the use of office space and are primarily operating leases. Certain of the Company’s leases contain renewal, extension, or
termination options. The Company assesses each option on an individual basis and will only include options reasonably certain of exercise in the
lease term. The Company generally considers the base term to be the term provided in the contract. None of the Company’s lease agreements
contain material options to purchase the leased property, material residual value guarantees, or material restrictions or covenants.

Long-term project asset and vehicle leases (leases with terms greater than twelve months), along with all real estate and IT asset leases, are
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at the present value of the minimum lease payments not yet paid. Because the Company primarily acts
as a lessee and the rates implicit in its leases are not readily determinable, the Company generally uses its incremental borrowing rate on the lease
commencement date to calculate the present value of future lease payments. Certain leases include payments that are based solely on an index or
rate. These variable lease payments are included in the calculation of the ROU asset and lease liability and are initially measured using the index or
rate at the lease commencement date. Other variable lease payments, such as payments based on use and for property taxes, insurance, or
common area maintenance that are based on actual assessments are excluded from the ROU asset and lease liability and are expensed as incurred.
In addition to the present value of the future lease payments, the calculation of the ROU asset also includes any deferred rent, lease prepayments
and initial direct costs of obtaining the lease, such as commissions.

Certain lease contracts contain non-lease components such as maintenance and utilities. The Company has made an accounting policy
election, as allowed under ASC 842-10-15-37 and discussed above, to capitalize both the lease component and non-lease components of its
contracts as a single lease component for all of its right-of-use assets.

Short-term project asset and vehicle leases (project asset and vehicle leases with an initial term of twelve months or less or leases that are
cancellable by the lessee and lessor without significant penalties) are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet and are expensed on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The majority of the Company’s short-term leases relate to equipment used on construction projects. These
leases are entered into at agreed upon hourly, daily, weekly or monthly rental rates for an unspecified duration and typically have a termination for
convenience provision. Such equipment leases are considered short-term in nature unless it is reasonably certain that the equipment will be leased
for a term greater than twelve months.

Pensions

We use certain assumptions and estimates in order to calculate periodic pension cost and the value of the assets and liabilities of our
pension plans. These assumptions involve discount rates, investment returns, and projected salary increases, among others. Changes in the
actuarial assumptions may have a material effect on the plans’ liabilities and the projected pension expense.
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We use a corridor approach to amortize actuarial gains and losses. Under this approach, net gains or losses in excess of ten percent of the
larger of the pension benefit obligation or the market-related value of the assets are amortized on a straight-line basis. The period of amortization is
the average remaining service of active participants who are expected to receive benefits under certain plans and the average remaining future
lifetime of plan participants for certain plans.

We measure our defined benefit plan assets and obligations as of the end of the month closest to their fiscal year end, which is September
30, 2023 as the alternative measurement date in accordance with FASB guidance ASU 2015-04, Compensation Retirement Benefit (Topic 715):
Practical Expedient for the Measurement Date of an Employer’s Defined Benefit Obligation and Plan Asset. This guidance allows employers with
fiscal year ends that do not coincide with a calendar month end to make an accounting policy election to measure defined benefit plan assets and
obligations as of the end of the month closest to their fiscal year end.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

In connection with the PA Consulting investment in March 2021, the Company recorded redeemable noncontrolling interests, representing the
interest holders' 35% equity interest in the form of preferred and common shares of PA Consulting. The preferred shares are entitled to a cumulative
annual compounding 12% dividend based on the outstanding preferred share subscription price. These noncontrolling interest holders have certain
option rights to put the preferred and common share interests back to the Company at a value based on the fair value of PA Consulting (the
redemption values). The primary inputs and assumptions impacting the fair value of PA Consulting include projections of revenue and earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and discount rates applied thereto. Additionally, the Company has an option to call the interests for
certain individual shareholders in certain circumstances. Because the interests are redeemable at the option of the holders and not solely within the
control of the Company, the Company classified the interests in redeemable noncontrolling interests within its Consolidated Balance Sheet at their
redemption values. The optional redemption features may become exercisable no earlier than five years from the March 2, 2021 closing date, or upon
the occurrence of certain other events.

The Company has deemed these interests probable of becoming redeemable in the future and requiring their measurement at the greater of
(i) the redemption amount that would be paid if settlement occurred at the balance sheet date, or (ii) the historical value resulting from the original
acquisition date fair value plus the impact of any earnings or loss attribution amounts, including dividends. The fair value of the PA Consulting
redeemable noncontrolling interest is determined using a combination of the income and market approaches. Under the income approach, fair value
is determined by using the projected discounted cash flows of PA Consulting. Under the market approach, the fair value is determined by reference to
guideline companies that are reasonably comparable to PA Consulting; the fair value is estimated based on the valuation multiples of earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

Further, to the extent redemption values exceed historical values of the interests, changes in redemption amounts are recognized as changes
to redeemable noncontrolling interests with an offsetting change in consolidated retained earnings. Additionally, particular to the preference share and
in certain circumstances the ordinary share components of redeemable noncontrolling interests, such changes in consolidated retained earnings
could also be reflected as a corresponding adjustment to net earnings attributable to Jacobs for purposes of the calculation of consolidated earnings
per share attributable to common shareholders.

Income Taxes

We determine our consolidated income tax expense using the asset and liability method prescribed by U.S. GAAP. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and income tax purposes. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect changes in tax rates
expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse. If and when we determine that a deferred tax asset will not be realized for its full
amount, we will recognize and record a valuation allowance with a corresponding charge to earnings. Judgment is required in determining our
provision for income taxes. In the normal course of business, we may engage in numerous transactions every day for which the ultimate tax outcome
(including the period in which the transaction will ultimately be included in taxable income or deducted as an expense) is uncertain. Additionally, we
file income, franchise, gross receipts and similar tax returns in many jurisdictions. Our tax returns are subject to audit and investigation by the Internal
Revenue Service, most states in the U.S., and by various government agencies representing many jurisdictions outside the U.S.
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The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the "Tax Act") contains a provision which subjects a U.S. parent of a foreign subsidiary to current U.S. tax
on its global intangible low–taxed income (“GILTI”). The GILTI income is eligible for a deduction, which lowers the effective tax rate of GILTI to 10.5%
for calendar years 2018 through 2025 and 13.125% after 2025. The Company will report the tax impact of GILTI as a period cost when incurred.
Accordingly, the Company is not providing deferred taxes for basis differences expected to reverse as GILTI.

Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations and Insurance

In the normal course of business, we are subject to certain contractual guarantees and litigation. We record in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets amounts representing our estimated liability relating to such guarantees, litigation and insurance claims. Guarantees are accounted for in
accordance with ASC 460-10, Guarantees, at fair value at the inception of the guarantee. We perform an analysis to determine the level of reserves
to establish for both insurance-related claims that are known and have been asserted against us as well as for insurance-related claims that are
believed to have been incurred based on actuarial analysis, but have not yet been reported to our claims administrators as of the respective balance
sheet dates. We include any adjustments to such insurance reserves in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. In addition, as a contractor
providing services to various agencies of the U.S. federal government, we are subject to many levels of audits, investigations, and claims by, or on
behalf of, the U.S. federal government with respect to contract performance, pricing, costs, cost allocations and procurement practices. We adjust
revenues based upon the amounts we expect to realize considering the effects of any client audits or governmental investigations.

Business Combinations

U.S. GAAP requires that the purchase price paid for business combinations accounted for using the acquisition method be allocated to the
assets and liabilities acquired based on their respective fair values. The Company makes certain estimates and judgments relating to other assets
and liabilities acquired as well as any identifiable intangible assets acquired.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to employ estimates and make assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of certain assets and liabilities; the revenues and expenses reported for the periods covered by the financial statements; and
certain amounts disclosed in these Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Although such estimates and assumptions are based on
management’s most recent assessment of the underlying facts and circumstances utilizing the most current information available and past
experience, actual results could differ significantly from those estimates and assumptions. Our estimates, judgments and assumptions are evaluated
periodically and adjusted accordingly.

New Accounting Pronouncements

ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform, (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting is intended to
provide relief for entities impacted by reference rate reform and contains provisions and optional expedients designed to simplify requirements around
designation of hedging relationships, probability assessments of hedged forecasted transactions and accounting for modifications of contracts that
refer to LIBOR or other rates affected by reference rate reform. The guidance is elective and is effective on the date of issuance. ASU 2020-04 is
applied prospectively to contract modifications and as of the effective date for existing and new eligible hedging relationships. The guidance was
amended by ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform, (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848 to defer the original sunset date of
December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024. The adoption of the new guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2022 allowed the Company to continue its
British pound denominated interest rate hedge relationships which previously defined LIBOR as the benchmark interest rate and were amended to
replace LIBOR with the Sterling Overnight Index Average rate ("SONIA") in the first quarter of fiscal 2022 and its U.S. dollar denominated interest rate
hedge relationships which previously defined LIBOR as the benchmark interest rate and were amended to replace LIBOR with the Secured Overnight
Financing Rate ("SOFR") in the second quarter of fiscal 2023.

3. Revenue Accounting for Contracts

Disaggregation of Revenues

Our revenues are principally derived from contracts to provide a diverse range of technical, professional, and construction services to a large
number of industrial, commercial, and governmental clients. We provide a broad range of engineering, design, and architectural services;
construction and construction management services; operations and
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maintenance services; and process, scientific, and systems consulting services. We provide our services through offices and subsidiaries located
primarily in North America, South America, Europe, the Middle East, India, Australia, Africa, and Asia. We provide our services under cost-
reimbursable and fixed-price contracts. Our contracts are with many different customers in numerous industries. Refer to Note 19 - Segment
Information for additional information on how we disaggregate our revenues by reportable segment.

The following table further disaggregates our revenue by geographic area for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and
October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Revenues:
     United States $ 10,963,072 $ 9,875,252 $ 9,671,281 
     Europe 3,598,140 3,488,317 3,140,114 
     Canada 268,466 269,386 227,692 
     Asia 135,359 140,663 114,118 
     India 164,212 114,235 70,772 
     Australia and New Zealand 696,870 706,283 647,866 
     Middle East and Africa 526,295 328,689 220,789 
Total $ 16,352,414 $ 14,922,825 $ 14,092,632 

The following table presents the revenues earned directly or indirectly from the U.S. federal government and its agencies, expressed as a
percentage of total revenues:

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

31% 31% 33%

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities represent amounts billed to clients in excess of revenue recognized to date. Revenue recognized for the year ended
September 29, 2023 that was included in the contract liability balance on September 30, 2022 was $504 million. Revenue recognized for the year
ended September 30, 2022 that was included in the contract liability balance on October 1, 2021 was $422 million.

Remaining Performance Obligations  

The Company’s remaining performance obligations as of September 29, 2023 represent a measure of the total dollar value of work to be
performed on contracts awarded and in progress. The Company had approximately $18.7 billion in remaining performance obligations as of
September 29, 2023. The Company expects to recognize 53% of our remaining performance obligations within the next twelve months and the
remaining 47% thereafter. The majority of the remaining performance obligations after the first twelve months are expected to be recognized over a
four-year period.

Although remaining performance obligations reflect business that is considered to be firm, cancellations, scope adjustments, foreign currency
exchange fluctuations or project deferrals may occur that impact their volume or the expected timing of their recognition. Remaining performance
obligations are adjusted to reflect any known project cancellations, revisions to project scope and cost, foreign currency exchange fluctuations and
project deferrals, as appropriate.

4. Earnings Per Share and Certain Related Information

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share
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Basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) are computed using the two-class method, which is an earnings allocation method that
determines EPS for common shares and participating securities. The undistributed earnings are allocated between common shares and participating
securities as if all earnings had been distributed during the period. Participating securities and common shares have equal rights to undistributed
earnings. Net earnings used for the purpose of determining basic and diluted EPS is determined by taking net earnings, less earnings available to
participating securities and the preferred redeemable noncontrolling interests redemption value adjustments associated with the PA Consulting
transaction in fiscal 2021 and in fiscal 2023.

The following table reconciles the denominator used to compute basic EPS to the denominator used to compute diluted EPS for the years
ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Numerator for Basic and Diluted EPS:
Net earnings attributable to Jacobs from continuing operations $ 666,619 $ 644,071 $ 467,022 
Preferred Redeemable Noncontrolling interests redemption value
adjustment (See Note 14- PA Consulting Business Combination) 8,340 — (57,307)
Net earnings from continuing operations allocated to common
stock for EPS calculation $ 674,959 $ 644,071 $ 409,715 

Net (loss) earnings from discontinued operations allocated to
common stock for EPS calculation $ (842) $ (32) $ 10,008 

Net earnings allocated to common stock for EPS calculation $ 674,117 $ 644,039 $ 419,723 

Denominator for Basic and Diluted EPS:

Shares used for calculating basic EPS attributable to common
stock 126,607 128,665 130,194 

Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock compensation plans 607 780 1,080 
Shares used for calculating diluted EPS attributable to common
stock 127,214 129,445 131,274 

Net Earnings Per Share:
Basic Net Earnings from Continuing Operations Per Share $ 5.33 $ 5.01 $ 3.15 
Basic Net (Loss) Earnings from Discontinued Operations Per Share $ (0.01) $ — $ 0.08 
Basic Earnings Per Share: $ 5.32 $ 5.01 $ 3.22 
Diluted Net Earnings from Continuing Operations Per Share $ 5.31 $ 4.98 $ 3.12 
Diluted Net (Loss) Earnings from Discontinued Operations Per Share $ (0.01) $ — $ 0.08 
Diluted Earnings Per Share: $ 5.30 $ 4.98 $ 3.20 

Note: Earnings per share amounts may not add due to rounding
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Share Repurchases

On January 16, 2020, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $1.0 billion of the Company's
common stock (the "2020 Repurchase Authorization"). In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021 the Company launched an accelerated share repurchase
program by advancing $250 million to a financial institution in a privately negotiated transaction, with final non-cash settlement on the program during
the first quarter of fiscal 2022 of 342,054 shares.

The 2020 Repurchase Authorization expired on January 15, 2023. On January 25, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors authorized an
incremental share repurchase program of up to $1.0 billion of the Company's common stock, to expire on January 25, 2026 (the "2023 Repurchase
Authorization").

The following table summarizes repurchase activity under the 2020 Repurchase Authorization during fiscal 2023 through expiration during the
second fiscal quarter of 2023:

Amount Authorized
(2020 Repurchase

Authorization) Average Price Per Share (1) Shares Repurchased Total Shares Retired
$1,000,000,000 $113.56 1,237,688 1,237,688

The following table summarizes the activity under the 2023 Repurchase Authorization during fiscal 2023:

Amount Authorized
(2023 Repurchase

Authorization) Average Price Per Share (1) Shares Repurchased Total Shares Retired
$1,000,000,000 $115.04 1,088,012 1,088,012

As of September 29, 2023, the Company has $874.8 million remaining under the 2023 Repurchase Authorization.

Our share repurchase programs do not obligate the Company to purchase any shares. Share repurchases may be executed through various
means including, without limitation, accelerated share repurchases, open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions, purchases pursuant
to a Rule 10b5-1 plan or otherwise. The authorization for the share repurchase programs may be terminated, increased or decreased by the
Company’s Board of Directors in its discretion at any time. The timing, amount and manner of share repurchases may depend upon market conditions
and economic circumstances, availability of investment opportunities, the availability and costs of financing, currency fluctuations, the market price of
the Company's common stock, other uses of capital and other factors.

Common and Preferred Stock

Jacobs is authorized to issue two classes of capital stock designated “common stock” and “preferred stock” (each has a par value of $1.00
per share). The preferred stock may be issued in one or more series. The number of shares to be included in a series as well as each series’
designation, relative powers, dividend and other preferences, rights and qualifications, redemption provisions and restrictions are to be fixed by the
Company’s Board of Directors at the time each series is issued. Except as may be provided by the Company’s Board of Directors in a preferred stock
designation, or otherwise provided for by statute, the holders of shares of common stock have the exclusive right to vote for the election of directors
and on all other matters requiring stockholder action. The holders of shares of common stock are entitled to dividends if and when declared by the
Company’s Board of Directors from whatever assets are legally available for that purpose.

Dividends

On September 28, 2023, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.26 per share of the Company’s common
stock, which was paid on November 9, 2023, to shareholders of record on the close of business on October 27, 2023. Future dividend declarations
are subject to review and approval by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Dividends paid through September 29, 2023 and the preceding fiscal year are as follows:  

(1) Includes commissions paid and excise tax due under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 and calculated at the average price per share.

(1) Includes commissions paid and excise tax due under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 and calculated at the average price per share.
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Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Cash Amount (per share)
July 6, 2023 July 28, 2023 August 25, 2023 $0.26
April 27, 2023 May 26, 2023 June 23, 2023 $0.26
January 25, 2023 February 24, 2023 March 24, 2023 $0.26
September 15, 2022 September 30, 2022 October 28, 2022 $0.23
July 13, 2022 July 29, 2022 August 26, 2022 $0.23
April 28, 2022 May 27, 2022 June 24, 2022 $0.23
January 26, 2022 February 25, 2022 March 25, 2022 $0.23

5. Goodwill and Intangibles

As a result of the formation of our new Divergent Solutions operating segment beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2023, the historical
carrying value of a portion of goodwill has been reallocated to this segment based on a relative fair value basis. The carrying value of goodwill
associated with continuing operations and appearing in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets September 29, 2023 and September 30,
2022 was as follows (in thousands):

Critical Mission
Solutions

People & Places
Solutions Divergent Solutions PA Consulting Total

Balance September 30, 2022 $ 2,251,724 $ 3,196,796 $ 576,986 $ 1,159,152 $ 7,184,658 
Acquired — — — 11,956 11,956 
Post-Acquisition Adjustments — (138) — 877 739 
Foreign currency translation and other (6,739) 11,535 18,726 122,651 146,173 

Balance September 29, 2023 $ 2,244,985 $ 3,208,193 $ 595,712 $ 1,294,636 $ 7,343,526 

The following table provides certain information related to the Company’s acquired intangibles in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets for the year ended September 29, 2023 (in thousands):

 

Customer
Relationships,
Contracts and

Backlog
Developed
Technology  Trade Names Total

Balances, September 30, 2022 $ 1,136,438 $ 88,931  $ 168,683 $ 1,394,052 
Amortization (177,821) (15,695) (10,390) (203,906)
Acquired 5,537 —  — 5,537 
Post Acquisition Adjustments (1,409) — — (1,409)
Foreign currency translation and other 59,656 1,555  16,458 77,669 

Balances, September 29, 2023 $ 1,022,401 $ 74,791  $ 174,751 $ 1,271,943 
Weighted Average Amortization Period (years) 7 6  17 8

The weighted average amortization period includes the effects of foreign currency translation.

The following table presents estimated amortization expense of intangible assets for fiscal 2024 and for the succeeding years.
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Fiscal Year (in millions)
2024 $ 203.3 
2025 202.7 
2026 180.1 
2027 148.7 
2028 140.8 
Thereafter 396.3 

Total $ 1,271.9 

6. Other Financial Information

Receivables and contract assets

The following table presents the components of receivables and contract assets appearing in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 as well as certain other related information (in thousands):
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022

Components of receivables:
Amounts billed, net $ 1,457,333 $ 1,400,088 
Unbilled receivables and other 1,442,486 1,523,249 
Contract assets 658,987 482,044 
Total receivables and contract assets, net $ 3,558,806 $ 3,405,381 

Other information about receivables:   
Amounts due from the United States federal government included above, net of
contract liabilities $ 802,566 $ 749,323 

Property, Equipment and Improvements, Net

The following table presents the components of our property, equipment and improvements, net at September 29, 2023 and September 30,
2022 (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Land $ 477 $ 478 
Buildings 62,380 46,244 
Equipment 719,167 643,805 
Leasehold improvements 190,257 179,187 
Construction in progress 28,355 34,880 
 1,000,636 904,594 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (643,604) (557,918)
 $ 357,032 $ 346,676 
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The following table presents our property, equipment and improvements, net by geographic area for the years ended September 29, 2023
and September 30, 2022 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022

Property, equipment and improvements, net:
     United States $ 203,358 $ 226,639 
     Europe 108,587 87,331 
     Canada 4,812 5,210 
     Asia 3,775 2,578 
     India 12,583 9,659 
     Australia and New Zealand 15,406 13,211 
     Middle East and Africa 8,511 2,048 

Total $ 357,032 $ 346,676 

See discussion in Note 10- Leases, regarding impairments recorded in the years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022
relating to the Company's real estate lease portfolio and related property, equipment and improvements, net. 

Accrued Liabilities

The following table presents the components of accrued liabilities shown in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (in thousands):
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Accrued payroll and related liabilities $ 842,815 $ 947,547 
Project-related accruals 27,814 28,178 
Non project-related accruals and other 222,938 279,062 
Insurance liabilities 63,536 63,183 
Sales and other similar taxes 110,199 93,500 
Dividends payable 34,342 30,292 
Total $ 1,301,644 $ 1,441,762 
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table presents the Company's roll forward of accumulated income (loss) after-tax for the years ended September 29, 2023 and
September 30, 2022 (in thousands):

Change in Pension
and Retiree Medical

Plan Liabilities

Foreign Currency
Translation

Adjustment (1)
Gain/(Loss) on Cash

Flow Hedges (2) Total
Balance at October 1, 2021 $ (394,561) $ (407,240) $ 7,359 $ (794,442)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 87,034 (378,800) 108,555 (183,211)
Reclassifications from other comprehensive
income (loss) 132 — 2,391 2,523 
Balance at September 30, 2022 $ (307,395) $ (786,040) $ 118,305 $ (975,130)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (18,485) 150,103 15,006 146,624 
Reclassifications from other comprehensive
income (loss) 188 — (29,636) (29,448)
Balance at September 29, 2023 $ (325,692) $ (635,937) $ 103,675 $ (857,954)

7. Income Taxes

The following table presents the components of our consolidated income taxes for continuing operations for years ended September 29,
2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):
 For the Years Ended
 September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022 October 1, 2021
Current income tax (benefit) expense from continuing operations:    

Federal $ 70,895 $ (35,291) $ 91,313 
State 31,046 4,526 30,886 
Foreign 171,055 79,822 38,959 
Total current tax expense from continuing operations 272,996 49,057 161,158 

Deferred income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations:    
Federal (29,748) 56,526 35,109 
State 2,448 17,178 21,826 
Foreign (49,515) 38,142 56,688 
Total deferred tax expense from continuing operations (76,815) 111,846 113,623 

Consolidated income tax expense from continuing operations $ 196,181 $ 160,903 $ 274,781 

Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the amounts recorded as assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the comparable amounts recorded for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax
rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

The following table presents the components of our net deferred tax (liabilities) assets at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (in
thousands):

(1) Included in the overall foreign currency translation adjustment for the years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 is $(67.5) million and $144.3 million, respectively, in unrealized gains
(losses) on long-term foreign currency denominated intercompany loans not anticipated to be settled in the foreseeable future.

(2) Included in the Company’s cumulative net unrealized gains from interest rate swaps recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as of September 29, 2023 were approximately $22.6 million in
unrealized gains, net of taxes, which are expected to be realized in earnings during the twelve months subsequent to September 29, 2023.
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 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Deferred tax assets:   

Other employee benefit plans $ 136,648 $ 138,897 
Net operating losses 269,412 132,999 
Foreign tax credit 68,874 83,697 
Lease liability 126,893 138,635 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 32,090 46,005 
Other 16,996 11,831 
Valuation allowance (200,389) (113,483)

Gross deferred tax assets 450,524 438,581 
Deferred tax liabilities:   

Depreciation and amortization (394,332) (431,946)
Lease right of use asset (62,640) (71,658)
Partnership investment (61,614) (52,787)
Hedge investments (34,045) (38,994)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (31,205) (45,754)
Other (34,715) (35,039)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (618,551) (676,178)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (168,027) $ (237,597)

    

A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized based on an
assessment of positive and negative evidence, including estimates of future taxable income necessary to realize future deductible amounts. The
valuation allowance was $200.4 million at September 29, 2023 and $113.5 million at September 30, 2022. This $86.9 million change in the valuation
allowance is attributable primarily to the recording of a $110.0 million valuation allowance against a net operating loss incurred in Australia as a result
of the Legacy CH2M Matter settlement offset by the recording of a net operating loss deferred tax asset, a $14.7 million valuation allowance release
due to the change in the realizability of foreign tax credits, and a decrease of $8.4 million related to various other items

At September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, the domestic and international net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards totaled $964.5
million and $491.3 million, resulting in an NOL deferred tax asset of $269.4 million and $133.0 million, respectively. The Company's net operating
losses have various expiration periods between 2024 and indefinite periods. At September 29, 2023, the Company has foreign tax credit
carryforwards of $68.9 million, which has a partial valuation allowance of $32.2 million with $29.1 million expected to expire in 2024 and the remaining
by 2033.

The following table presents the income tax benefits from continuing operations realized from the exercise of non-qualified stock options and
disqualifying dispositions of stock sold under our employee stock purchase plans for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and
October 1, 2021 (in millions):

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

$ 3.9 $ 2.2 $ 9.9 

Certain amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
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The following table reconciles total income tax expense from continuing operations using the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to the
consolidated income tax expense for continuing operations shown in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended
September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (dollars in thousands):

 For the Years Ended

 
September 29,

2023 %
September 30,

2022 % October 1, 2021 %
Statutory amount $ 192,503 21.0 % $ 184,033 21.0 % $ 146,078 21.0 %
State taxes, net of the federal benefit 23,901 2.6 % 19,316 2.2 % 14,564 2.1 %
Exclusion of tax on non-controlling interests (6,578) (0.7)% (7,533) (0.9)% (7,999) (1.1)%
Foreign:     

Difference in tax rates of foreign operations 7,166 0.8 % (2,516) (0.3)% 3,684 0.5 %
Expense/(benefit) from foreign valuation allowance
change (1,305) (0.1)% 2,982 0.3 % 2,148 0.3 %
Nondeductible compensation — — % — — % 48,727 7.0 %
U.S. tax cost (benefit) of foreign operations 78,216 8.5 % 48,843 5.6 % 35,228 5.1 %

Tax differential on foreign earnings 84,077 9.2 % 49,309 5.6 % 89,787 12.9 %
Foreign tax credits (46,530) (5.1)% (33,734) (3.8)% (25,230) (3.6)%
Tax Rate Change (9,913) (1.1)% 3,210 0.4 % 25,588 3.7 %
Valuation allowance (7,169) (0.8)% (59,121) (6.7)% 38,928 5.6 %
Uncertain tax positions (38,844) (4.2)% (1,439) (0.2)% 978 0.1 %
Other items:

Energy efficient commercial buildings deduction 736 0.1 % (2,681) (0.3)% (3,760) (0.5)%
Disallowed officer compensation 7,081 0.8 % 6,034 0.7 % 6,689 1.0 %
Stock compensation (3,896) (0.4)% (2,168) (0.2)% (9,946) (1.4)%
Other items – net 813 0.1 % 5,677 0.6 % (896) (0.1)%

Total other items 4,734 0.5 % 6,862 0.8 % (7,913) (1.1)%
Taxes on income from continuing operations $ 196,181 21.4 % $ 160,903 18.4 % $ 274,781 39.5 %

The following table presents income tax payments, net made during the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and
October 1, 2021 (in millions):

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
$ 204.2 $ 113.9 $ 75.6 

The following table presents the components of our consolidated earnings from continuing operations before taxes for the years ended
September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

 For the Years Ended
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
United States earnings $ 388,999 $ 415,673 $ 634,820 
Foreign earnings 527,680 460,674 60,782 
 $ 916,679 $ 876,347 $ 695,602 

We do not record a deferred tax liability for unremitted earnings of our foreign subsidiaries to the extent that the earnings meet the indefinite
reversal criteria. This criteria is met if the foreign subsidiary has invested, or will invest, the earnings indefinitely. The decision as to the amount of
unremitted earnings that we intend to maintain in non-U.S. subsidiaries considers items including, but not limited to, forecasts and budgets of financial
needs of cash for working capital, liquidity plans, and expected cash requirements in the U.S. As of September 29, 2023, we had not recognized a
deferred tax liability on approximately $179.5 million of undistributed earnings for certain foreign subsidiaries, because these earnings are intended to
be indefinitely reinvested. If such earnings were distributed, some countries may impose
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additional taxes. The unrecognized deferred tax liability (the amount payable if distributed) is approximately $13.7 million.

The Company has various long-term foreign currency denominated intercompany loans not anticipated to be settled in the foreseeable future.
Due to the long-term nature of the loan, the foreign currency gains (losses) resulting from re-measurement are generally recognized as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Deferred taxes are not provided on the unrealized gains of approximately $104.7 million because
the intercompany loans and the related gains (losses) on the loans denominated in the functional currencies of the subsidiaries are viewed as a part
of the Company’s net investment in the subsidiaries and are considered to be indefinitely reinvested by the Company. The unrecognized deferred
taxes are approximately $25.7 million as of September 29, 2023.

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax benefits in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. It accounts for interest and penalties
on unrecognized tax benefits as interest and penalties reported above the line (i.e., not as part of income tax expense). The Company’s liability for
gross unrecognized tax benefits was $33.5 million and $81.9 million at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively, after ASU 2013-11
netting of $5.3 million and $7.0 million, respectively. The main driver of the current year decrease relates to $51.4 million of uncertain tax positions in
the U.S. that were effectively settled, which includes a $7.2 million temporary item with no rate impact. At September 29, 2023 and September 30,
2022, if recognized, $33.6 million and $73.5 million, respectively, would affect the Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate. The Company
had $37.8 million and $43.5 million in accrued interest and penalties at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively. The Company
estimates that, within twelve months, we may realize a decrease in our uncertain tax positions of approximately $11.1 million as a result of concluding
various tax audits and closing tax years.

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to examination by taxing authorities worldwide, including such major jurisdictions
as U.S., Australia, and the U.K. As of September 29, 2023, the Company’s FY 2019 through 2022 consolidated U.S. Federal income tax returns and
the CH2M Hill Companies Ltd. FY 2009 through 2012 consolidated U.S. Federal income tax returns remain subject to examination. In Australia and
the U.K., the consolidated federal tax returns for years 2018 through 2022 are subject to audit by the appropriate taxing authorities. Although the
Company believes the reserves established for the tax positions are reasonable, the outcome of tax audits could be materially different, both
favorably and unfavorably.

The following table presents the reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits, with StreetLight and PA
Consulting related impacts added for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):
 For the Years Ended
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Balance, beginning of year $ 88,893 $ 113,633 $ 102,484 
Acquisitions/Divestitures — 192 7,639 
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 1,190 1,136 7,088 
Additions for tax positions of prior years 2,537 1,207 1,711 
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (53,854) (3,672) (4,851)
Settlement — (23,603) (438)
Balance, end of year $ 38,766 $ 88,893 $ 113,633 

As further discussed in Note 14, PA Consulting Business Combination and Note 15, Other Business Combinations, the Company has made
several acquisitions and a strategic investment, all of which were accounted for as stock purchases and the tax attributes of the net assets acquired
were carried over, with the exception of Buffalo Group, which was treated as an asset acquisition and the net assets were stepped up to fair value.
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8. Joint Ventures, VIEs and Other Investments

For consolidated joint ventures, the entire amount of the revenue recognized for services performed and the costs associated with these
services, including the services provided by the other joint venture partners, are included in the Company's results of operations. Likewise, the entire
amount of each of the assets and liabilities are included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. There are no consolidated VIEs that have debt
or credit facilities. Summary financial information of consolidated VIEs is as follows (in millions):

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Current assets $ 424.2 $ 353.9 
Non-Current assets — — 
Total assets $ 424.2 $ 353.9 
Current liabilities $ 279.8 $ 228.1 
Total liabilities $ 279.8 $ 228.1 

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Revenue $ 1,431.7 $ 1,253.8 $ 1,037.3 
Direct cost of contracts (1,106.5) (985.5) (910.1)

Gross profit 325.2 268.3 127.2 
Net earnings $ 87.3 $ 92.3 $ 84.3 

Unconsolidated joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method or proportionate consolidation. Proportionate consolidation is used
for joint ventures that include unincorporated legal entities and activities of the joint venture are construction-related. For those joint ventures
accounted for under proportionate consolidation, only the Company’s pro rata share of assets, liabilities, revenue, and costs are included in the
Company’s balance sheet and results of operations.

For the proportionate consolidated VIEs, the carrying value of assets and liabilities was $132.0 million and $128.9 million as of September 29,
2023, respectively, and $109.3 million and $129.2 million as of September 30, 2022, respectively. For those joint ventures accounted for under the
equity method, the Company's investment balances for the joint venture is included in other noncurrent assets: miscellaneous on the balance sheet
and the Company’s pro rata share of net income is included in revenue. In limited cases, there are basis differences between the equity in the joint
venture and Jacobs' investment created when Jacobs purchased their share of the joint venture. These basis differences are amortized based on an
internal allocation to underlying net assets, excluding allocations to goodwill. Our investments in equity method joint ventures on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 were a net asset of $49.6 million and $56.6 million, respectively. During the
years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022, and October 1, 2021, we recognized income from equity method joint ventures of $33.6
million, $36.5 million, and $60.9 million, respectively.

Accounts receivable from unconsolidated joint ventures accounted for under the equity method is $16.1 million and $21.1 million as of
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively.

During the fiscal year ended October 1, 2021, the Company recorded other-than-temporary impairment charges on its equity method
investment in AWE Management Ltd ("AWE"), in the amount of $38.5 million, which were included in miscellaneous income (expense), net in the
consolidated statement of earnings. During fiscal year 2022, the contractual operating arrangement with UK Ministry of Defence ("MoD") was
terminated which has resulted in the wind down and full impairment of the AWE Joint Venture with immaterial activity expected going forward.

The Company held a cost method investment in C3.ai, Inc. ("C3") and in the first quarter of fiscal 2021, C3 completed an initial public offering
and as a result the Company carried its investment in C3 at fair value, with changes reflected in net income as it is an investment in equity securities
with a readily determinable fair value based on quoted market prices. During fiscal 2021 and subsequent to the IPO, the Company sold all shares
owned in C3. Dividend income, unrealized gains and related realized gains on disposal of these shares of $49.6 million were recognized in
miscellaneous income (expense), net, in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings for the year ended October 1, 2021.
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9. Borrowings

The following table presents certain information regarding the Company’s long-term debt at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022
(dollars in thousands):

Interest Rate Maturity September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022

Revolving Credit Facility
Benchmark + applicable margin

(1) (2) February 2028 $ 10,000 $ 1,105,294 

2021 Term Loan Facility - USD Portion
Benchmark + applicable margin

(1) (3) February 2026 120,000 200,000 

2021 Term Loan Facility - GBP Portion
Benchmark + applicable margin

(1) (3) September 2025 794,170 723,580 

2020 Term Loan Facility
Benchmark + applicable margin

(1) (4) March 2025 (7) 854,246 882,263 
Fixed-rate:
5.9% Bonds, due 2033 5.9% (5) March 2033 500,000 — 
6.35% Bonds, due 2028 6.35% August 2028 600,000 — 

Senior Notes, Series A 4.27% May 2025 (6) — 190,000 
Senior Notes, Series B 4.42% May 2028 (6) — 180,000 
Senior Notes, Series C 4.52% May 2030 (6) — 130,000 
Less: Current Portion (7) (51,773) (50,415)
Less: Deferred Financing Fees (13,172) (3,466)
Total Long-term debt, net $ 2,813,471 $ 3,357,256 

(1) During the year ended September 29, 2023, the aggregate principal amounts denominated in U.S. dollars under the Revolving Credit Facility, the 2021 Term loan
facility and the 2020 Term Loan Facility (each as defined below) transitioned from underlying LIBOR benchmarked rates to the Term Secured Overnight Financing
Rate ("SOFR"). During fiscal 2022, the aggregate principal amounts denominated in British pounds under the Revolving Credit Facility, 2021 Term Loan Facility and
2020 Term Loan Facility transitioned from underlying LIBOR benchmarked rates to Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rates.

(2) Depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio or Debt Rating (each as defined in the credit agreement governing the Revolving Credit Facility (defined
below)), U.S. dollar denominated borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at either a SOFR rate plus a margin of between 0.975% and 1.725% or a
base rate plus a margin of between 0% and 0.625%.The applicable SOFR rates or LIBOR rate for the prior fiscal year end, including applicable margins, at
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 were approximately 8.75% and 4.08%. Borrowings denominated in British pounds bear interest at an adjusted SONIA
rate plus a margin of between 0.908% and 1.6580%. There were no amounts drawn in British pounds as of September 29, 2023.

(3) Depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio or Debt Rating (each as defined in the credit agreement governing the 2021 Term Loan Facility (defined
below)), U.S. dollar denominated borrowings under the 2021 Term Loan Facility bear interest at either a SOFR rate plus a margin of between 0.975% and 1.725% or a
base rate plus a margin of between0% and 0.625%. The applicable SOFR or LIBOR rate for the prior fiscal year end, including applicable margins for borrowings
denominated in US Dollars at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, was approximately 6.68% and 4.06%. Borrowings denominated in British pounds bear
interest at an adjusted SONIA rate plus a margin of between 0.908% and 1.6580%, which was approximately 6.47% and 3.60% at September 29, 2023 and
September 30, 2022, respectively.

(4) Depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio or Debt Rating (each as defined in the credit agreement governing the 2020 Term Loan Facility), U.S.
dollar denominated borrowings under the 2020 Term Loan Facility bear interest at either a SOFR rate plus a margin of between 0.975% and 1.725% or a base rate
plus a margin of between 0% and 0.625%. The applicable SOFR or LIBOR rate for the prior fiscal year end, including applicable margins for borrowings denominated
in US Dollars at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 were approximately 6.68% and 4.49%. Borrowings denominated in British pounds bear interest at an
adjusted SONIA rate plus a margin between 0.908% and 1.6580%, which was approximately 6.47% and 3.60% at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022,
respectively.

(5) From and including September 1, 2028 (the “First Step Up Date”), the interest rate payable on the 5.90% Bonds (as defined below) will be increased by an additional
12.5 basis points to 6.025% per annum (the “First Step Up Interest Rate”) unless the Company notifies the Trustee (as defined below) on or before the date that is 15
days prior to the First Step Up Date that the Percentage of Gender Diversity Performance Target (as defined in the First Supplemental Indenture (as defined below))
has been satisfied and receives a related assurance letter verifying such compliance. From and including September 1, 2030 (the “Second Step Up Date”), the interest
rate payable on the 5.90% Bonds will be increased by 12.5 basis points to (x) 6.150% per annum if the First Step Up Interest Rate was in effect immediately prior to
the Second Step Up Date or (y) 6.025% per annum if the initial interest rate was in effect immediately prior to the Second Step Up Date, unless the Company notifies
the Trustee on or before the date that is 15 days prior to the Second Step Up Date that the GHG Emissions Performance Target (as defined in the First Supplemental
Indenture) has been satisfied and receives a related assurance letter verifying such compliance.

(6) All amounts due under the Note Purchase Agreement pursuant to which the Senior Notes (each as defined below) were issued were repaid in the first fiscal quarter of
2023.
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(7) The current portion of long-term debt is comprised of the 2020 Term Loan quarterly principal repayments of 1.25%, or $9.125 million and £3.125 million, of the
aggregate initial principal amount borrowed.

Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries maintain a sustainability-linked $2.25 billion unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving
Credit Facility”) established under a third amended and restated credit agreement, dated February 6, 2023 (the "Revolving Credit Agreement"),
among Jacobs and certain of its subsidiaries as borrowers and a syndicate of U.S. and international banks and financial institutions. The credit
extensions under the Revolving Credit Facility can be funded in U.S dollars, British Sterling, Euros, Canadian dollars, Australian dollars, Swedish
Krona, Singapore dollars and other agreed upon alternative currencies. The Revolving Credit Agreement also provides for a financial letter of credit
sub facility of $400.0 million, permits performance letters of credit, and provides for a $100.0 million sub facility for swing line loans. Letters of credit
are subject to fees based on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio and Debt Rating, whichever is more favorable to the Company.

The Revolving Credit Agreement amended and restated the second amended restated credit agreement dated March 27, 2019, by and
among JEGI and certain of its subsidiaries and a syndicate of banks and financial institutions, in order to, among other things, (a) extend the maturity
date of the Revolving Credit Facility to February 6, 2028, (b) replace and adjust interest rates based on market conditions and incorporate a
sustainability-linked pricing adjustment, (c) revise the commitment fee on the unused portion of the facility to a range of 0.10% to 0.25% depending on
the higher of the pricing level associated with JEGI's Debt Rating or the Consolidated Leverage Ratio, (d) increase the Consolidated Leverage Ratio
financial covenant to 3.50:1.00 (subject to temporary increases to 4.00:1.00 following the closing of certain material acquisitions), (e) eliminate the net
worth financial covenant and (f) add the Company as a guarantor of the obligations of JEGI and its subsidiaries under the Revolving Credit
Agreement.

The Company and JEGI maintain an unsecured delayed draft term loan facility (the “2021 Term Loan Facility”) established under an
amended and restated term loan agreement dated February 6, 2023 (the "Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement"), by and among the
Company and JEGI and a syndicate of banks and financial institutions. JEGI borrowed $200.0 million and £650.0 million of term loans under the 2021
Term Loan Facility and the proceeds of such term loans were used primarily to fund JEGI's investment in PA Consulting. The Amended and Restated
Term Loan Agreement amends and restates the term loan agreement dated January 15, 2021, by and among JEGI and a syndicate of U.S. banks
and financial institutions to, among other things: (a) extend the maturity date of the U.S. dollar term loan to February 6, 2026 and the British sterling
term loan to September 1, 2025, (b) replace and adjust interest rates based on market conditions and incorporate a sustainability-linked pricing
adjustment, (c) increase the Consolidated Leverage Ratio financial covenant to 3.50:1.00 (subject to temporary increases to 4.00:1.00 following the
closing of certain material acquisitions), (d) eliminate the net worth financial covenant, and (e) add Jacobs as a guarantor of the obligations of JEGI
under the Amended and Restated Term Loan Agreement.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company repaid $80.0 million of the USD portion of the 2021 Term Loan Facility.

On March 25, 2020, JEGI and Jacobs U.K., a wholly owned subsidiary of JEGI, entered into a term loan agreement (the "2020 Term Loan
Agreement") with a syndicate of banks and financial institutions, which provides for an unsecured term loan facility (the “2020 Term Loan Facility”).
Under the 2020 Term Loan Facility, JEGI borrowed an aggregate principal amount of $730.0 million and Jacobs U.K. borrowed an aggregate principal
amount of £250.0 million. The proceeds of the term loans were used to repay an existing term loan with a maturity date of June 2020 and for general
corporate purposes. On February 6, 2023, the 2020 Term Loan Agreement was amended to, among other things: (a) replace and adjust interest rates
based on market conditions and incorporate a sustainability-linked pricing adjustment, (b) increase the Consolidated Leverage Ratio financial
covenant to 3.50:1.00 (subject to temporary increases to 4.00:1.00 following the closing of certain material acquisitions), (c) eliminate the net worth
financial covenant, and (d) add Jacobs as a guarantor of the obligations of JEGI and Jacobs U.K.

The 2020 Term Loan Facility and the 2021 Term Loan Facility are together referred to as the "Term Loan Facilities".

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facilities were amended to permit the Holding Company
Reorganization.
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We were in compliance with the covenants under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan Facilities at September 29, 2023.

5.90% Bonds, due 2033

On February 16, 2023, JEGI completed an offering of $500 million aggregate principal amount of 5.90% Bonds due 2033 (the “5.90%
Bonds”). The 5.90% Bonds are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company (the “Guarantee”). The 5.90% Bonds and the Guarantee were
offered pursuant to a prospectus supplement, dated February 13, 2023, to the prospectus dated February 6, 2023, that forms a part of the Company's
and JEGI’s automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-3ASR previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and were issued
pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of February 16, 2023, between JEGI, as issuer, the Company, as guarantor, and U.S. Bank Trust Company,
National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”), as amended and supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 16, 2023
(the “First Supplemental Indenture”). Interest on the 5.90% Bonds is payable semi-annually in arrears on each March 1 and September 1,
commencing on September 1, 2023, until maturity. The 5.90% Bonds bear interest at 5.9% per annum, subject to adjustments as discussed in note
(5) to the table above.

Prior to December 1, 2032 (the “5.90% Bonds Par Call Date”), JEGI may redeem the 5.90% Bonds at its option, in whole or in part, at any
time and from time to time, at the redemption price calculated by JEGI (expressed as a percentage of principal amount and rounded to three decimal
places) equal to the greater of: (1) (a) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the 5.90%
Bonds being redeemed, assuming that such 5.90% Bonds matured on the 5.90% Bonds Par Call Date, discounted to the redemption date on a
semiannual basis (assuming a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), at the Treasury Rate (as defined in the First Supplemental Indenture) plus 35
basis points, less (b) interest accrued to the redemption date, and (2) 100% of the principal amount of such 5.90% Bonds to be redeemed, plus, in
either case, accrued and unpaid interest on the 5.90% Bonds, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. At any time and from time to time on or
after the 5.90% Bonds Par Call Date, JEGI may redeem the 5.90% Bonds, at its option, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the 5.90% Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, up to, but excluding, the redemption date.

6.35% Bonds, due 2028

On August 18, 2023, JEGI completed an offering of $600 million aggregate principal amount of 6.35% Bonds due 2028 (the “6.35% Bonds”).
The 6.35% Bonds are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the Company (the “Guarantee”). The 6.35% Bonds and the Guarantee were offered
pursuant to a prospectus supplement, dated August 15, 2023, to the prospectus dated February 6, 2023, that forms a part of the Company and
JEGI’s automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-3ASR previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and were issued
pursuant to an Indenture, dated as of February 16, 2023, between JEGI, as issuer, the Company, as guarantor, and the Trustee, as amended and
supplemented by the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 18, 2023 (the “Second Supplemental Indenture”). Interest on the 6.35%
Bonds is payable semi-annually in arrears on each February 18 and August 18, commencing on February 18, 2024, until maturity. The Notes will bear
interest at a rate of 6.35% per annum and will mature on August 18, 2028. The 6.35% Bonds bear interest at 6.35% per annum.

Prior to July 18, 2028 (the “6.35% Bonds Par Call Date”), JEGI may redeem the Notes at its option, in whole or in part, at any time and from
time to time, at the redemption price calculated by JEGI (expressed as a percentage of principal amount and rounded to three decimal places) equal
to the greater of: (1) (a) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the 6.35% Bonds being
redeemed, assuming that such 6.35% Bonds matured on the 6.35% Bonds Par Call Date, discounted to the redemption date on a semiannual basis
(assuming a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), at the Treasury Rate (as defined in the Second Supplemental Indenture) plus 30 basis points,
less (b) interest accrued to the redemption date, and (2) 100% of the principal amount of such 6.35% Bonds to be redeemed, plus, in either case,
accrued and unpaid interest on the 6.35% Bonds, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. At any time and from time to time on or after the
6.35% Bonds Par Call Date, JEGI may redeem the 6.35% Bonds, at its option, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the 6.35% Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date.

Senior Notes, Series A, B and C
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On March 12, 2018, the Company entered into a note purchase agreement (as amended, the "Note Purchase Agreement") with respect to
the issuance and sale in a private placement transaction of $500.0 million in the aggregate principal amount of the Company’s senior notes in three
series (collectively, the “Senior Notes”). In connection with the Holding Company Reorganization, which was completed in August 2022, the Company
launched an offer to repurchase its outstanding Senior Notes at par plus accrued and unpaid interest, and without any make-whole premium. In fiscal
first quarter 2023, the Company repurchased $481 million of Senior Notes held by holders who accepted the offer with proceeds from the Revolving
Credit Facility. In December 2022, the Company repurchased the remaining $19 million of Senior Notes.

We believe the carrying value of the Revolving Credit Facility, the Term Loan Facilities and other debt approximates fair value based on the
interest rates and scheduled maturities applicable to the outstanding borrowings. At September 29, 2023, the fair value of the 5.9% Bonds and the
6.35% Bonds is estimated to be $475.7 million and $598.4 million, respectively, based on Level 2 inputs. The fair value is determined by discounting
future cash flows using interest rates available for issuances with similar terms and average maturities.

Other Arrangements

The Company has issued $0.9 million in letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility, leaving $2.24 billion of available borrowing
capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility at September 29, 2023. In addition, the Company had issued $321.1 million under separate, committed
and uncommitted letter-of-credit facilities for total issued letters of credit of $322.0 million at September 29, 2023. 

During fiscal 2022, the Company entered into two treasury lock agreements with an aggregate notional value of $500.0 million to manage its
expected interest rate exposure in anticipation of issuing up to $500 million of fixed rate debt. On February 13, 2023 and with the issuance of the
5.90% Bonds, the Company settled these treasury lock agreements. See Note 17- Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial
Instruments for more discussion around this transaction.

During fiscal 2020, the Company entered into interest rate and cross currency derivative contracts to swap a portion of our variable rate debt
to fixed rate debt. See Note 17 - Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments for discussion regarding the Company's
derivative instruments.

The following table presents the amount of interest paid by the Company during September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1,
2021 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

$207,604 $88,031 $54,860

10. Leases

The components of lease expense (reflected in selling, general and administrative expenses) for the years ended September 29, 2023,
September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Lease cost
Operating lease cost $ 141,116 $ 151,134 $ 160,026 
Variable lease cost 37,375 36,631 31,727 
Sublease income (17,972) (15,207) (12,359)
Total lease cost $ 160,519 $ 172,558 $ 179,394 
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Supplemental information related to the Company's leases for the years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 was as follows
(in thousands):

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurements of
lease liabilities $ 182,831 $ 229,275 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating
lease liabilities $ 76,210 $ 38,110 
Weighted average remaining lease term - operating leases 5.9 years 6.3 years
Weighted average discount rate - operating leases 3.2% 2.8%

Total remaining lease payments under the Company's leases for each of the succeeding years is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Operating Leases
2024 $ 172,405 
2025 142,232 
2026 118,411 
2027 97,226 
2028 80,278 
Thereafter 156,537 

767,089 
Less Interest (71,782)

$ 695,307 

Right-of-Use and Other Long-Lived Asset Impairment

During fiscal 2023 and 2022, as a result of the Company's transformation initiatives, including the changing nature of the Company's use of
office space for its workforce, the Company evaluated its existing real estate lease portfolio. These initiatives resulted in the abandonment of certain
leased office spaces and the establishment of a formal plan to sublease certain other leased spaces that will no longer be utilized by the Company. In
connection with the Company’s actions related to these initiatives, the Company evaluated certain of its lease right-of-use assets and related
property, equipment and leasehold improvements for impairment under ASC 360.

As a result of the analysis, the Company recognized impairment losses of $48.2 million and $78.3 million for the fiscal years ended
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying
statements of earnings. The impairment losses recorded include $42.2 million and $60.7 million related to right-of-use lease assets and $6.0 million
and $17.7 million related to other long-lived assets, including property, equipment & improvements and leasehold improvements for the fiscal years
ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively.

The fair values for the asset groups relating to the impaired long-lived assets were estimated primarily using discounted cash flow models
(income approach) with Level 3 inputs. The significant assumptions used in estimating fair value include the expected downtime prior to the
commencement of future subleases, projected sublease income over the remaining lease periods and discount rates that reflect the level of risk
associated with receiving future cash flows.

11. Employee Stock Purchase and Stock Incentive Plans

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

Under the Company's stock purchase plans, eligible employees who elect to participate in these plans are granted the right to purchase
shares of the common stock of Jacobs at a discount that is limited to 5% of the per-share market value on the day shares are sold to employees.
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The following table summarizes the stock issuance activity under the plans for the fiscal years ended September 29, 2023, September 30,
2022 and October 1, 2021:
 For the Years Ended

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
   

Aggregate Purchase Price Paid for Shares Sold (in
thousands): $ 40,195 $ 38,648 $ 32,149 

   
Aggregate Number of Shares Sold: 355,007 302,429 287,587 

At September 29, 2023, there remains 2,520,441 shares reserved for issuance under the Company's stock purchase plans.

Stock Incentive Plans

We also sponsor the 2023 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (the "2023 SIP") and the 1999 Outside Director Stock Plan, as
amended and restated (the "1999 ODSP") as well as the StreetLight 2011 Stock Plan (the "StreetLight Plan"). The 2023 SIP provides for the issuance
of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, share appreciation rights ("SARs"), restricted stock and restricted stock units to employees.
The 1999 ODSP provides for awards of shares of common stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units and grants of non-qualified stock options to
our outside (i.e., nonemployee) directors. Together the 2023 SIP and 1999 ODSP plans are known as the "Stock Incentive Plans". The StreetLight
Plan provides for the issuance of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options and restricted stock to employees. The StreetLight Plan is frozen
for new awards effective February 4, 2022. The following table sets forth certain information about the Stock Incentive Plans:
 2023 SIP 1999 ODSP Total
Number of shares authorized 29,850,000 1,100,000 30,950,000 

Number of remaining shares reserved for issuance at September 29, 2023 3,151,532 204,281 3,355,813 
Number of shares relating to outstanding stock options at September 29, 2023 61,125 57,225 118,350 

Number of shares available for future awards:   
At September 29, 2023 3,090,407 147,056 3,237,463 
At September 30, 2022 3,886,740 161,087 4,047,827 

Effective September 28, 2012 until January 23, 2023, all grants of shares under the predecessor to the 2023 SIP were issued on a fungible
basis. An award other than an option or SAR was granted on a 1.92-to-1.00 basis (“Fungible”). An award of an option or SAR is granted on a 1-to-1
basis (“Not Fungible”). Effective January 24, 2023, at which time the 2023 SIP was adopted, all awards are granted on a 1-to-1 basis.

At September 29, 2023, the amount of compensation cost relating to non-vested awards not yet recognized in the financial statements is
approximately $126.3 million. The majority of these unrecognized compensation costs will be recognized by the third quarter of fiscal 2026. The
weighted average remaining contractual term of options currently exercisable is 2.7 years.
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Stock Options

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021:

 Number of Stock Options
Weighted Average

Exercise Price
Outstanding at October 2, 2020 706,489 $ 45.91 
Exercised (130,030) $ 47.07 
Cancelled or expired (2,475) $ 45.18 
Outstanding at October 1, 2021 573,984 $ 45.65 
Granted (1) 150,951 $ 12.79 
Exercised (284,502) $ 43.56 
Cancelled or expired (1,084) $ 21.34 
Outstanding at September 30, 2022 439,349 $ 35.77 
Exercised (215,649) $ 40.61 
Cancelled or expired (6,219) $ 19.73 
Outstanding at September 29, 2023 217,481 $ 31.43 

Included in the fiscal 2022 amounts granted are options issued related to a recent business combination with strike prices lower than the
then-current share price in order to derive a certain value.

Cash received from the exercise of stock options, net of tax remitted, during the year ended September 29, 2023 was $7.5 million.

(1) 
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Stock options outstanding at September 29, 2023 consisted of incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options. The following table
presents the total intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the fiscal years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021
(in thousands):

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

$17,635 $28,149 $9,693

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercisable at September 29, 2023 was approximately $18.4 million. The following table presents
certain other information regarding our 2023 SIP, 1999 OSDP and StreetLight Plan for the fiscal years ended September 29, 2023, September 30,
2022 and October 1, 2021:

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
At fiscal year end:    

Range of exercise prices for options exercisable (1) $5.64–$60.43 $5.64–$60.43 $37.03–$60.43
Number of options exercisable 180,911 367,624 573,984 

For the fiscal year:    
Range of prices relating to options exercised $7.05–$60.43 $11.27-$60.43 $32.51-$60.43

Included in the fiscal 2022 amounts granted are options issued related to a recent business combination with strike prices lower than the
then-current share price in order to derive a certain value.

The following table presents certain information regarding stock options outstanding at September 29, 2023:

 September 29, 2023
 Options Outstanding

Range of Exercise Prices Number

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

Weighted
Average Price

$0.00 - $37.03 99,131 6.49 $ 12.57 
$37.03 - $46.09 71,750 1.88 $ 41.80 
$46.09 - $55.13 31,375 0.65 $ 53.19 
$55.13 - $80.63 15,225 0.42 $ 60.43 
 217,481 3.70 $ 31.43 

The 1999 ODSP, the 2023 SIP, and the StreetLight Plan allow participants to satisfy the exercise price of stock options by tendering shares of
Jacobs common stock that have been owned by the participants for at least six months. Shares tendered are retired, canceled, and shown as
repurchases of common stock in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity. The weighted average remaining contractual
term of options currently exercisable is 2.9 years.

(1) 
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Restricted Stock

The following table presents the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units issued as common stock under the 2023 SIP
and the StreetLight Plan for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021:

 

 For the Years Ended
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Restricted stock — 818 — 
Restricted stock units (service condition) 996,345 290,582 380,722 
Restricted stock units (service and performance conditions) 126,595 176,470 181,132 

The amount of restricted stock units issued for awards with performance conditions in the above table are issued based on performance
against the target amount. The number of shares ultimately issued, which could be greater or less than target, will be based on achieving specific
performance conditions related to the awards as well as achieving the service condition required for the restricted stock units to vest.

The following table presents the fair value of shares of the 2023 SIP and the StreetLight Plan (of restricted stock and restricted stock units)
vested for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):
 For the Years Ended
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units (service condition) $ 32,255 $ 23,077 $ 20,374 
Restricted Stock Units (service, market, and performance conditions
at target) 22,060 22,678 26,495 

Total $ 54,315 $ 45,755 $ 46,869 

The following table presents the number and weighted average grant-date fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units at
September 29, 2023:

Number of Shares
Weighted Average Grant-

Date Fair Value
Outstanding at September 30, 2022 1,375,429 $ 110.64 
Granted 1,192,105 $ 122.41 
Vested (543,827) $ 102.14 
Canceled (133,559) $ 121.89 
Outstanding at September 29, 2023 1,890,148 $ 119.71 

The following table presents the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units canceled and withheld for taxes under the
2023 SIP for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021:

 For the Years Ended
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Restricted stock — — — 
Restricted stock units (service condition) 94,249 57,366 201,967 

Restricted stock units (service and performance conditions) 39,295 31,966 218,520 
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The amount of unvested restricted stock units canceled for awards with service and performance conditions in the above table is based on
the service period achieved and performance against the target amount.

The restrictions attached to restricted stock and restricted stock units generally relate to the recipient’s ability to sell or otherwise transfer the
stock or stock units. There are also restrictions that subject the stock and stock units to forfeiture back to the Company until earned by the recipient
through continued employment or service.

The following table provides the number of restricted stock units outstanding at September 29, 2023 under the 2023 SIP.

 September 29, 2023
Restricted stock — 
Restricted stock units (service condition) 1,341,150 

Restricted stock units (service and performance conditions) 488,588 

The following table presents the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units issued under the 1999 ODSP for the years
ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021:

 

 For the Years Ended
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Restricted stock units (service condition) 14,031 13,785 17,680 

No shares of restricted stock were issued under the 1999 ODSP during such periods.

The following table provides the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units outstanding at September 29, 2023 under the
1999 ODSP:

 September 29, 2023
Restricted stock — 
Restricted stock units (service condition) 60,359 

All shares granted under the 1999 ODSP are issued on a 1-to-1 basis. 

12. Savings and Deferred Compensation Plans

Savings Plans

We sponsor various defined contribution savings plans which allow participants to make voluntary contributions by salary deduction. Such
plans cover substantially all of our domestic, nonunion employees in the U.S. and are qualified under Section 401(k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code. Similar plans outside the U.S. cover various groups of employees of our international subsidiaries and affiliates. Several of these plans allow
the Company to match, on a voluntary basis, a portion of the employee contributions. The following table presents the Company’s contributions to
these savings plans for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
$ 203,438 $ 184,399 $ 132,865 

Deferred Compensation Plans

Our non-qualified deferred compensation programs provide benefits payable to directors, officers, and certain key employees or their
designated beneficiaries at specified future dates, upon retirement, or death. The plans are unfunded; therefore, benefits are paid from the general
assets of the Company. Participants' cash deferrals earn a return based on the participants' selection of investments in several hypothetical
investment options. Participants are also able to defer stock
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based compensation in the plans, which must remain invested in Company stock and are distributed in shares of Jacobs common stock. Since no
investment diversification is permitted, changes in the fair value of Jacobs' common stock are not recognized. For the deferred compensation held in
company stock, the number of shares needed to settle the liability is included in the denominator in both the basic and diluted earnings per share
calculations. The following table presents the amount charged to expense for the Company’s deferred compensation plans for the years ended
September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
$ 4,679 $ 1,697 $ 2,900 

The following table presents the amount relating to assets held as deferred compensation arrangement investments for the years ended
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Deferred compensation arrangement investments $ 168,615 $ 165,118 

Deferred compensation arrangement investments are comprised primarily of the cash surrender value of life insurance policies and pooled-
investment funds. The fair value of the pooled investment funds is derived using Level 2 inputs.

13. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Company-Only Sponsored Plans

We sponsor various defined benefit pension and other post retirement plans covering employees of certain U.S. and international
subsidiaries. The pension plans provide pension benefits that are based on the employee’s compensation and years of service. Our funding policy
varies by country and plan according to applicable local funding requirements and plan-specific funding agreements.

The accounting for pension and other post-retirement benefit plans requires the use of assumptions and estimates in order to calculate
periodic benefit cost and the value of the plans’ assets and benefit obligations. These assumptions include discount rates, investment returns, and
projected salary increases, among others. The discount rates used in valuing the plans' benefit obligations were determined with reference to high
quality corporate and government bonds that are appropriately matched to the duration of each plan's obligations. The expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets is generally based on using country-specific simulation models which select a single outcome for expected return based on the
target asset allocation. The expected long-term rates of return used in the valuation are the annual average returns generated by these assumptions
over a 20-year period for each asset class based on the expected long-term rate of return of the underlying assets.

The following table sets forth the changes in the plans’ combined net benefit obligation (segregated between plans existing within and outside
the U.S.) for the years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

 
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
Net benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $ 299,503 $ 404,820 $ 1,365,466 $ 2,375,640 
Service cost 140 236 6,926 6,480 
Interest cost 15,629 10,350 74,077 42,328 
Participants’ contributions — — 143 249 
Actuarial gains (1) (6,533) (85,067) (176,207) (651,798)
Benefits paid (26,887) (25,565) (76,739) (74,378)
Curtailments/settlements/plan amendments — (5,271) (1,313) (2,641)
Effect of exchange rate changes and other, net — — 107,908 (330,414)
Net benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 281,852 $ 299,503 $ 1,300,261 $ 1,365,466 
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(1) Actuarial gains primarily driven by change in discount rates.

The following table sets forth the changes in the combined Fair Value of the plans’ assets (segregated between plans existing within and
outside the U.S.) for the years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

 
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $ 286,193 $ 385,521 $ 1,297,625 $ 2,203,495 
Actual returns (losses) on plan assets 18,310 (68,585) (103,324) (557,972)
Employer contributions 85 93 28,991 33,032 
Participants’ contributions — — 143 249 
Gross benefits paid (27,005) (25,565) (77,070) (74,378)
Curtailments/settlements/plan amendments — (5,271) (1,313) (2,641)
Effect of exchange rate changes and other, net — — 97,973 (304,160)
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $ 277,583 $ 286,193 $ 1,243,025 $ 1,297,625 

During fiscal 2023 and 2022, the Company incurred combined curtailment and settlement losses on our defined benefit plans of
approximately $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

The following table reconciles the combined funded statuses of the plans recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (segregated between plans existing within and outside the U.S.) (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

 
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
Net benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 281,852 $ 299,503 $ 1,300,261 $ 1,365,466 
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 277,583 286,193 1,243,025 1,297,625 
Underfunded amount recognized at the end of the year $ 4,269 $ 13,310 $ 57,236 $ 67,841 

The following table presents the accumulated benefit obligation at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (segregated between plans
existing within and outside the U.S.) (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

 
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
Accumulated benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 280,956 $ 299,347 $ 1,285,980 $ 1,355,717 
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The following table presents the amounts recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 29, 2023 and
September 30, 2022 (segregated between plans existing within and outside the U.S.) (in thousands): 

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans

 
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022
Prepaid benefit cost included in noncurrent assets $ 758 $ — $ 57,678 $ 54,897 
Accrued benefit cost included in current liabilities 80 83 5,182 4,359 
Accrued benefit cost included in noncurrent liabilities 4,947 13,227 109,732 118,379 
Net amount recognized at the end of the year $ 4,269 $ 13,310 $ 57,236 $ 67,841 

The following table presents the significant actuarial assumptions used in determining the funded statuses and the following year's benefit
cost of the Company’s U.S. plans for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021:

 For the Years Ended

 
September 29,

2023
September 30,

2022 October 1, 2021
Discount rates 5.8% to 5.9% 4.2% to 5.5% 2.3% to 2.8%
Rates of compensation increases 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%
Expected long-term rates of return on assets 4.8% to 7.0% 5.5% to 6.4%   4.7% to 5.1%

The following table presents the significant actuarial assumptions used in determining the funded statuses and the following year's benefit
cost of the Company’s non-U.S. plans for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021:

For the Years Ended

 September 29, 2023
September 30,

2022 October 1, 2021
Discount rates 3.8% to 6.9%  2.4% to 7.4%  0.6% to 6.6%
Rates of compensation increases 2.8% to 9.0%  2.5% to 9.0%  2.4% to 7.5%
Expected long-term rates of return on assets 5.3% to 7.6%  3.3% to 7.5%  2.0% to 7.0%

The following table presents certain amounts relating to our U.S. plans recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (gain) loss at
September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Arising during the period:    

Net actuarial (gains) losses $ (4,032) $ 578 $ (25,109)
Prior service cost — — —
Total (4,032) 578 (25,109)

Reclassification adjustments:    
Net actuarial gains (losses) 1,335 (2,157) (3,204)
Prior service benefit (324) (324) (325)
Total 1,011 (2,481) (3,529)

Total $ (3,021) $ (1,903) $ (28,638)
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The following table presents certain amounts relating to our non-U.S. plans recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (gain) loss at
September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Arising during the period:    

Net actuarial losses (gains) $ 27,188 $ (78,705) $ (65,547)
Prior service cost — — — 
Total 27,188 (78,705) (65,547)

Reclassification adjustments:    
Net actuarial losses (4,802) (5,492) (8,761)
Prior service benefit (1,068) (1,066) (1,219)
Total (5,870) (6,558) (9,980)

Total $ 21,318 $ (85,263) $ (75,527)

The following table presents certain amounts relating to our plans recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss that have not yet been
recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (segregated between U.S. and non-U.S.
plans) (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Net actuarial losses $ 34,940 $ 37,638 $ 269,671 $ 248,716 
Prior service cost 373 697 20,708 20,344 
Total $ 35,313 $ 38,335 $ 290,379 $ 269,060 

The following table presents the amount of accumulated comprehensive income that will be amortized against earnings as part of our net
periodic benefit cost in fiscal 2024 based on 2023 exchange rates (segregated between U.S. and non-U.S. plans) (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
Unrecognized net actuarial (gains) losses $ (1,384) $ 7,261 
Unrecognized prior service cost 431 1,488 
Accumulated comprehensive (gains) losses to be recorded against earnings $ (953) $ 8,749 

We consider various factors in developing the estimates for the expected, long-term rates of return on plan assets. These factors include the
projected, long-term rates of returns on the various types of assets in which the plans invest, as well as historical returns. In general, investment
allocations are determined by each plan’s trustees and/or investment committees. The objectives of the plans’ investment policies are to (i) maximize
returns while preserving capital; (ii) provide returns sufficient to meet the current and long-term obligations of the plan as the obligations become due;
and (iii) maintain a diversified portfolio of assets so as to reduce the risk associated with having a disproportionate amount of the plans’ total assets
invested in any one type of asset, issuer or geography. None of our pension plans hold Jacobs common stock directly (although some plans may hold
shares indirectly through investments in mutual funds). The plans’ weighted average asset allocations at September 29, 2023 and September 30,
2022 (the measurement dates used in valuing the plans’ assets and liabilities) were as follows:
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 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022
Equity securities 3 % 2 % 16 % 15 %
Debt securities 65 % 66 % 50 % 49 %
Real estate investments — % — % 10 % 11 %
Other 32 % 32 % 24 % 25 %

The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s Domestic U.S. plan assets at September 29, 2023, segregated by level of fair
value measurement inputs within the Fair Value hierarchy promulgated by U.S. GAAP (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023
 Fair Value, Determined Using Fair Value Measurement Inputs

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments
measured at Net

Asset Value Total
Equities $ 8,172 $ — $ — $ — $ 8,172 
Domestic bonds 3,803 151,969 — — 155,772 
Overseas bonds — 23,734 — — 23,734 
Cash and equivalents 17,841 — — — 17,841 
Mutual funds 72,064 — — — 72,064 
Total $ 101,880 $ 175,703 $ — $ — $ 277,583 

The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s non-U.S. plan assets at September 29, 2023, segregated by level of fair value
measurement inputs within the Fair Value hierarchy promulgated by U.S. GAAP (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023
 Fair Value, Determined Using Fair Value Measurement Inputs

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments
measured at Net

Asset Value Total
Domestic equities $ — $ 50,243 $ — $ 761 $ 51,004 
Overseas equities — 74,377 — 80,123 154,500 
Domestic bonds — 30,505 — — 30,505 
Overseas bonds — 520,322 — 65,243 585,565 
Cash and equivalents 21,568 434 — — 22,002 
Real estate — 4,145 84,755 35,199 124,099 
Insurance contracts — — 87,160 — 87,160 
Hedge funds — — 78,617 19,130 97,747 
Mutual funds — 90,443 — — 90,443 
Total $ 21,568 $ 770,469 $ 250,532 $ 200,456 $ 1,243,025 
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The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s U.S. plan assets at September 30, 2022, segregated by level of fair value
measurement inputs within the Fair Value hierarchy promulgated by U.S. GAAP (in thousands):

 September 30, 2022
 Fair Value, Determined Using Fair Value Measurement Inputs

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments
measured at Net

Asset Value Total
Equities $ 6,708 $ — $ — $ — $ 6,708 
Domestic bonds 64,396 106,961 — — 171,357 
Overseas bonds — 15,200 — — 15,200 
Cash and equivalents 19,025 — — — 19,025 
Mutual funds 73,903 — — — 73,903 
Total $ 164,032 $ 122,161 $ — $ — $ 286,193 

The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s non-U.S. plan assets at September 30, 2022, segregated by level of fair value
measurement inputs within the Fair Value hierarchy promulgated by U.S. GAAP (in thousands):

 September 30, 2022
 Fair Value, Determined Using Fair Value Measurement Inputs

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Investments
measured at Net

Asset Value Total
Domestic equities $ — $ 42,655 $ — $ 1,539 $ 44,194 
Overseas equities — 74,056 — 76,813 150,869 
Domestic bonds — 38,448 — — 38,448 
Overseas bonds — 532,697 — 64,897 597,594 
Cash and equivalents 9,667 1,835 — — 11,502 
Real estate — 4,076 102,868 36,959 143,903 
Insurance contracts — — 80,231 80,231 
Hedge funds — — 138,603 11,568 150,171 
Mutual funds — 80,713 — — 80,713 
Total $ 9,667 $ 774,480 $ 321,702 $ 191,776 $ 1,297,625 

The following table summarizes the changes in the fair value of the Company’s non-U.S. Pension Plans’ Level 3 assets for the years ended
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 (in thousands):

 Real Estate Insurance Contracts Hedge Funds
Balance at Balance at October 1, 2021 $ 116,936 $ 133,802 $ 231,319 
Net purchases, sales, and settlements (8,686) (6,312) (11,553)
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) 14,701 (24,770) (42,964)
Effect of exchange rate changes (20,083) (22,489) (38,199)
Balance at September 30, 2022 $ 102,868 $ 80,231 $ 138,603 
Net purchases, sales, and settlements (35,119) 8,587 (56,624)
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) 12,842 (13,555) (11,532)
Effect of exchange rate changes 4,164 11,897 8,170 
Balance at September 29, 2023 $ 84,755 $ 87,160 $ 78,617 
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The following table presents the amount of cash contributions we anticipate making into the plans during fiscal 2024 (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
Anticipated cash contributions $ — $ 19,281 

The following table presents the total benefit payments expected to be paid to plan participants during each of the next five fiscal years, and
in total for the five years thereafter (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans
2024 $ 29,761 $ 77,160 
2025 28,452 79,545 
2026 27,682 80,028 
2027 26,269 86,229 
2028 25,568 85,878 
For the periods 2029 through 2033 111,361 441,520 

The following table presents the components of net periodic benefit cost for the Company’s U.S. plans recognized in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Service cost $ 140 $ 236 $ 456 
Interest cost 15,629 10,350 10,221 
Expected return on plan assets (19,496) (16,933) (15,932)
Actuarial (gains) losses (1,770) 2,861 4,249 
Prior service cost 430 430 431 
Net pension income, before special items $ (5,067) $ (3,056) $ (575)
Curtailment expense/Settlement (gains) losses — (206) (64)
Total net periodic pension income recognized $ (5,067) $ (3,262) $ (639)

The following table presents the components of net periodic benefit cost for the Company’s Non-U.S. plans recognized in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Service cost $ 6,926 $ 6,480 $ 6,568 
Interest cost 74,077 42,328 38,907 
Expected return on plan assets (73,387) (71,875) (90,346)
Actuarial losses 6,317 7,147 10,834 
Prior service cost 1,424 1,421 1,519 
Net pension cost (income), before special items $ 15,357 $ (14,499) $ (32,518)
Curtailment expense/Settlement losses 208 329 2,847 
Total net periodic pension cost (income) recognized $ 15,565 $ (14,170) $ (29,671)

The service cost component of net periodic pension income is presented in direct cost of contracts and selling, general and administrative
expenses while all other components are presented in miscellaneous income (expense), net on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the
years presented above.
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Multiemployer Plans

In the U.S. and various other countries, we contribute to trusteed pension plans covering hourly and certain salaried employees under
industry-wide agreements. Contributions are based on the hours worked by employees covered under these agreements and are charged to direct
costs of contracts on a current basis. With respect to these multiemployer plans, the Company's liability to fund these plans is generally limited to the
contributions we are required to make under collective bargaining agreements.

Based on our review of our multiemployer pension plans under the guidance provided in ASU 2011-09— Compensation-Retirement Benefits-
Multiemployer Plans, we have concluded that none of the multiemployer pension plans into which we contribute are individually significant to our
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following table presents the Company’s contributions to these multiemployer plans for the years ended September 29, 2023,
September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

 September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Europe $ 1,530 $ 1,548 $ 1,713 
United States 4,392 11,038 11,316 
Contributions to multiemployer pension plans $ 5,922 $ 12,586 $ 13,029 
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14. PA Consulting Business Combination

Deal Summary, Opening Balance Sheet and Pro Forma Financial Information

On March 2, 2021, Jacobs completed the strategic investment of a 65% interest in PA Consulting, a UK-based leading innovation and
transformation consulting firm. The total consideration paid by the Company was $1.7 billion, funded through cash on hand, proceeds from a new
term loan and draws on the Company's existing Revolving Credit Facility. The remaining 35% interest was acquired by PA Consulting employees,
whose redeemable noncontrolling interests had a fair value of $582.4 million on the closing date, including subsequent purchase accounting
adjustments. PA Consulting is accounted for as a consolidated subsidiary and as a separate operating segment. See Note 9 - Borrowings for more
discussion on the financing for the transaction.

The following summarizes the fair values of PA Consulting's assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in millions):

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 134.9 
Receivables 166.5 
Property, equipment and improvements, net 40.5 
Goodwill 1,454.0 
Identifiable intangible assets 1,004.2 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 9.5 
Miscellaneous long-term assets 84.0 

Total Assets $ 2,893.6 

Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 6.5 
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities 354.8 
Other long-term liabilities 248.0 

Total Liabilities 609.3 
Redeemable Noncontrolling interests 582.4 
Net assets acquired $ 1,701.9 

Goodwill recognized is attributable to a substantial assembled workforce, which does not qualify for separate recognition, as well as expected
future economic benefits. None of the goodwill recognized was deductible for tax purposes. The Company completed its final assessment of the fair
values of PA Consulting's assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Since the initial preliminary estimates reported in the second quarter of fiscal 2021,
the Company updated certain provisional amounts reflected in the final purchase price allocation, as summarized in the estimated fair values of PA
Consulting assets acquired and liabilities assumed above. See below for further discussion on updates to redeemable noncontrolling interests.

Identifiable intangibles are customer relationships, contracts and backlog and trade name and have estimated lives ranging from 9 to 20
years (weighted average life of approximately 12 years).
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The following presents summarized unaudited pro forma operating results of Jacobs from continuing operations assuming that the Company
had the PA Consulting investment at September 28, 2019. These pro forma operating results are presented for illustrative purposes only and are not
indicative of the operating results that would have been achieved had the related events occurred (in millions, except per share data):

For the Year Ended
October 1, 2021

Revenues $ 14,504.3 
Net earnings of the Group $ 695.1 
Net earnings attributable to Jacobs $ 548.0 
Net earnings attributable to Jacobs per share:
Basic earnings per share $ 4.21 
Diluted earnings per share $ 4.17 

Included in the table above are charges relating to transaction expenses, a nonrecurring compensation charge and other items that are
removed from the years ended October 1, 2021 and are reflected in the prior fiscal year due to the assumed timing of the transaction. Also, income
tax expense for the fiscal year pro forma period ended October 1, 2021 was $330.7 million.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

In connection with the PA Consulting investment, the Company recorded redeemable noncontrolling interests, including subsequent purchase
accounting adjustments, representing the noncontrolling interest holders' equity interests in the form of preferred and common shares of PA
Consulting, with substantially all of the value associated with these interests allocable to the preferred shares.

During fiscal 2023 and 2022, the Company repurchased certain shares of the redeemable noncontrolling interest holders for $92.9 million
and $46.1 million, respectively, in cash and issued certain shares of redeemable noncontrolling interest holders for $34.0 million and $49.7 million,
respectively. The difference between the cash purchase prices and the recorded book values of these repurchased and issued interests was recorded
in the Company’s consolidated retained earnings. The Company held 69% and 65% of the outstanding ownership of PA Consulting as of
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively.

During fiscal 2023 the Company recognized approximately $8.3 million in redemption value adjustments associated with redeemable
noncontrolling interests preference share repurchase and reissuance activities concluding in fourth quarter fiscal 2023 that were recorded as an
increase in consolidated retained earnings and a $0.07 increase in earnings per share, the results of which had no impact on the Company’s overall
results of operations, financial position or cash flows. During fiscal 2021, updates to the Company’s preliminary opening balance sheet fair value
estimates of the noncontrolling interests resulted in an offsetting decrease and increase in fair value of the preference share and common share
components of the interests by $57.3 million, respectively, with the corresponding redemption value adjustment associated with the preference share
portion decreasing consolidated retained earnings and earnings per share by $0.44. See Note 4- Earnings Per Share and Certain Related
Information.

Changes in the Company's redeemable noncontrolling interests during the fiscal years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022
are as follows (in thousands):
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September 29, 2023
September 30,

2022
Redeemable noncontrolling interest at the
beginning of the year $ 632,522 $ 657,722 
Accrued Preferred Dividend to Preference
Shareholders 72,891 67,598 
Attribution of Preferred Dividend to Common
Shareholders (72,891) (67,598)
Net earnings attributable to redeemable
noncontrolling interest to Common Shareholders 21,614 34,585 
Redeemable Noncontrolling interests
redemption value adjustment 10,770 27,657 
Repurchase of redeemable noncontrolling
interests (111,005) (53,834)
Issuance of redeemable noncontrolling interests 37,789 54,884 
Cumulative translation adjustment and other 41,289 (88,492)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest at the end of
the year $ 632,979 $ 632,522 

In addition, certain employees and nonemployees of PA Consulting are eligible to receive equity-based incentive compensation under the
terms of the applicable agreements. During the years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, the Company recorded approximately
$0.8 million and $3.3 million, respectively, in expense associated with these agreements which is reflected in selling, general and administrative
expense in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Restricted Cash

The Company, through its investment in PA Consulting, held $2.8 million and $13.7 million at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022,
respectively, in cash that is restricted from general use and is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets.
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15. Other Business Combinations

StreetLight Data, Inc.
On February 4, 2022, the Company acquired StreetLight Data, Inc. ("StreetLight"). StreetLight is a pioneer of mobility analytics who uses its

data and machine learning resources to shed light on mobility and enable users to solve complex transportation problems. The Company paid total
base consideration of approximately $190.8 million in cash and issued $0.9 million in equity and $5.2 million in in-the-money stock options to the
former owners of StreetLight. The Company also paid off StreetLight's debt of approximately $1.0 million simultaneously with the consummation of
the acquisition. The following summarizes the fair values of StreetLight's assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in
millions):

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7.3 
Receivables 5.2 
Property, equipment and improvements, net 0.1 
Goodwill 116.4 
Identifiable intangible assets 105.1 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2.0 

Total Assets $ 236.1 

Liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 23.1 
Other long-term liabilities 16.1 

Total Liabilities 39.2 
Net assets acquired $ 196.9 

Goodwill recognized resulted from a substantial assembled workforce, which does not qualify for separate recognition, as well as expected
future synergies from combining operations. None of the goodwill recognized was deductible for tax purposes. The Company completed its final
assessment of the fair values of StreetLight's assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Since the initial preliminary estimates reported in the second
quarter of fiscal 2022, the Company updated certain amounts reflected in the preliminary purchase price allocation, as summarized in the fair values
of StreetLight's assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date set forth above, the majority of which related to reclassifications
between goodwill and intangibles and for deferred taxes.

Identifiable intangibles are technology, data and customer relationships, contracts and backlog and have estimated lives of 5, 4 and 9 years,
respectively.

No summarized unaudited pro forma results are provided for the StreetLight acquisition due to the immateriality of this acquisition relative to
the Company's consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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BlackLynx
On November 19, 2021, Jacobs acquired BlackLynx, a provider of high-performance software, to complement Jacobs' portfolio of cyber,

intelligence and digital solutions. The Company paid total base consideration of approximately $235.4 million in cash to the former owners of
BlackLynx. In conjunction with the acquisition, the Company also paid off BlackLynx's debt of approximately $5.3 million simultaneously with the
consummation of the acquisition. The following summarizes the fair values of BlackLynx's assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the
acquisition date (in millions):

 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5.1 
Receivables 7.7 
Property, equipment and improvements, net 0.8 
Goodwill 195.8 
Identifiable intangible assets 51.1 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3.2 

Total Assets $ 263.7 

Liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 19.5 
Other long-term liabilities 8.8 

Total Liabilities 28.3 
Net assets acquired $ 235.4 

Goodwill recognized resulted from a substantial assembled workforce, which does not qualify for separate recognition, as well as expected
future synergies from combining operations. None of the goodwill recognized was deductible for tax purposes. The Company completed its final
assessment of the fair values of BlackLynx's assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Since the initial preliminary estimates reported in the first
quarter of fiscal 2021, the Company updated certain amounts reflected in the preliminary purchase price allocation, as summarized in the fair values
of BlackLynx's assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date set forth above, the majority of which related to reclassifications
between goodwill and intangibles and for deferred taxes.

Identifiable intangibles are technology and customer relationships, contracts and backlog and have estimated lives of 8 years and 4 years,
respectively.

No summarized unaudited pro forma results are provided for the BlackLynx acquisition due to the immateriality of this acquisition relative to
the Company's consolidated financial position and results of operations.
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Buffalo Group

On November 24, 2020, a subsidiary of Jacobs completed the acquisition of Buffalo Group, a leader in advanced cyber and intelligence
solutions which allows Jacobs to further expand its cyber and intelligence solutions offerings to government clients. The Company paid total
consideration of $190.1 million, which was comprised of approximately $182.4 million in cash to the former owners of Buffalo Group and contingent
consideration of $7.7 million. The contingent consideration was subsequently recognized in fiscal 2021 as an offset to selling, general and
administrative expense when it was determined no amounts would be paid. In conjunction with the acquisition, the Company assumed the Buffalo
Group's debt of approximately $7.7 million. The Company repaid all of the assumed Buffalo Group debt by the end of the first fiscal quarter of 2021.
The following summarizes the fair values of The Buffalo Group's assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in millions):

 

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8.4 
Receivables 19.2 
Property, equipment and improvements, net 2.3 
Goodwill 130.7 
Identifiable intangible assets 74.0 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6.2 

Total Assets $ 240.8 

Liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 46.9 

Other long-term liabilities 3.8 
Total Liabilities 50.7 
Net assets acquired $ 190.1 

Goodwill recognized is attributable to a substantial assembled workforce, which does not qualify for separate recognition, as well as expected
future synergies from combining operations. All of the goodwill recognized was deductible for tax purposes, given the acquisition was structured as an
asset acquisition for tax purposes. The Company completed its final assessment of the fair values of Buffalo Group's assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. Since the initial preliminary estimates reported in the first quarter of fiscal 2021, the Company updated certain amounts reflected in the final
purchase price allocation, as summarized in the fair values of Buffalo Group's assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date set
forth above.

Identifiable intangibles are customer relationships, contracts and backlog and have estimated lives of 9 years.

No summarized unaudited pro forma results are provided for the Buffalo Group due to the immateriality of this acquisition relative to the
Company's consolidated financial position and results of operations.

16.     Restructuring and Other Charges

During fiscal 2023, the Company implemented certain restructuring and other initiatives relating to the CMS separation and to our investment
in PA Consulting, the activities of which are expected to continue through fiscal 2024 and restructuring activities related to the DVS segment
reorganization that were completed in fiscal 2023.

During fiscal 2022, the Company implemented certain restructuring and integration initiatives relating to the StreetLight and BlackLynx
acquisitions, the activities of which are substantially completed. Also, during fiscal 2022 and continuing into fiscal 2023, the Company implemented
further real estate rescaling efforts that were associated with its
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fiscal 2020 transformation program relating to real estate and other staffing initiatives. These initiatives are substantially completed.

During fiscal 2021, the Company implemented certain integration related activities associated with our PA Consulting investment. These
activities are substantially completed.

Additionally, the Company recorded impairment charges on its investment in AWE ML during fiscal 2021 and 2022. See related discussion in
Note 8- Joint ventures, VIEs and other investments.

During fiscal 2019 and continuing into fiscal 2020, the Company implemented certain restructuring, separation and integration initiatives
associated with the ECR sale and other related cost reduction initiatives. Additionally, in fiscal 2020, the Company implemented certain restructuring
and integration initiatives associated with the acquisition of John Wood Group's nuclear business. The restructuring activities and related costs were
comprised mainly of separation and lease abandonment and sublease programs, while the separation and integration activities and costs were
mainly related to the engagement of consulting services and internal personnel and other related costs dedicated to the Company’s ECR-business
separation. The activities of these initiatives have been substantially completed.

As part of the Company's acquisition of CH2M Hill Companies, Ltd. ("CH2M") during fiscal 2018, the Company implemented certain
restructuring plans that were comprised mainly of severance and lease abandonment programs as well as integration activities involving the
engagement of professional services and internal personnel dedicated to the Company's integration management efforts. The activities of these
initiatives have been substantially completed.

Collectively, the above-mentioned restructuring activities are referred to as “Restructuring and other charges”.

The following table summarizes the impacts of the Restructuring and other charges by operating segment in connection with the CH2M, John
Wood Group's nuclear business, BlackLynx and StreetLight acquisitions, the PA Consulting investment, the ECR sale, the CMS separation, the DVS
segment reorganization and the Company's transformation initiatives relating to real estate and other staffing programs and the impairment and final
exit activities of the AWE ML investment for the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Critical Mission Solutions $ 3,143 $ 5,626 $ 5,079 
People & Places Solutions 55,749 64,204 7,077 
Divergent Solutions 8,307 — — 
PA Consulting 14,706 4,253 15,566 
Corporate 51,130 86,980 71,868 

Total 133,035 161,063 99,590 
Amounts included in:

Operating profit (mainly Selling, General and
Administrative costs (“SG&A") (1) 136,411 173,555 61,042 
Other (Income) Expense, net (2) (3,376) (12,492) 38,548 

$ 133,035 $ 161,063 $ 99,590 

(1) The year ended September 29, 2023 includes $63.4 million of restructuring and other charges across all segments relating to the CMS separation (mainly professional
services and employee separation costs) and $14.3 million in restructuring and other charges relating to the Company's investment in PA Consulting (primarily
employee separation costs). For the year ended September 30, 2022, amounts included $91.3 million pre-tax related to the final settlement of the Legacy CH2M
Matter (as defined in Note 18 - Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations and Insurance), net of previously recorded reserves and approximately $27 million in
third party recoveries was recorded as receivables reducing SG&A. Included in the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 were
$50.7 million, $78.3 million and $2.4 million in charges associated mainly with real estate impairments, the majority of which related to People and Places Solutions.

(2) The years ended September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022 included gains of $3.4 million and $8.7 million, respectively, related to lease terminations. The year
ended October 1, 2021 included $38.5 million in charges related to the impairment of our AWE ML investment.
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The activity in the Company’s accrual for the Restructuring and other charges including the program activities described above for the year
ended September 29, 2023 is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at September 30, 2022 $ 4,137 
Net Charges (1) 85,728 
Payments & Usage (52,547)
Balance at September 29, 2023 $ 37,318 

(1) Excludes $47.3 million in other net charges associated mainly with real estate related impairments and other transformation activities described above during the year
ended September 29, 2023.

The following table summarizes the Restructuring and other charges by major type of costs for the years ended September 29, 2023,
September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021 (in thousands):

September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021
Lease Abandonments and Impairments $ 46,195 $ 69,802 $ 4,282 
Voluntary and Involuntary Terminations 41,435 5,635 15,773 
Outside Services 36,030 22,340 35,210 
Other (1) 9,375 63,286 44,325 

Total $ 133,035 $ 161,063 $ 99,590 

(1) Amounts in the year ended September 29, 2023 are mainly comprised of charges associated with the write off of fixed assets associated with programs that the
Company will no longer continue to pursue in connection with the CMS separation. Amounts in the year ended September 30, 2022 are mainly comprised of
$91.3 million in other charges related to the final pre-tax settlement of the Legacy CH2M Matter, net of previously recorded reserves and approximately $27 million in
third party recoveries was recorded as receivables reducing SG&A. Amounts in the year ended October 1, 2021 are mainly comprised of $38.5 million in charges
related to the impairment of our AWE Management Ltd. investment.

Cumulative amounts incurred to date under our various restructuring and other activities described above and with charges in the periods
presented by each major type of cost as of September 29, 2023 are as follows (in thousands):

Lease Abandonments and Impairments $ 432,724 
Voluntary and Involuntary Terminations 182,191 
Outside Services 347,950 
Other 202,313 

Total $ 1,165,178 

17.     Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk under its variable rate borrowings and additionally, due to the nature of the Company's
international operations, we are at times exposed to foreign currency risk. As such, we sometimes enter into foreign exchange contracts and interest
rate contracts in order to limit our exposure to fluctuating foreign currencies and interest rates.

During fiscal 2022 we entered into two treasury lock agreements which had a total notional value of $500 million to manage our interest rate
exposure to the anticipated issuance of fixed rate debt before December 2023. On February 13, 2023, the Company settled these treasury lock
agreements and issued the 5.90% Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $500 million, which resulted in the receipt of cash and a pre-tax gain of
$37.4 million, which is being amortized to interest expense and recognized over the term of the 5.90% Bonds. See Note 9- Borrowings for further
discussion relating to the terms of the 5.90% Bonds. The fair value of the treasury locks at September 30, 2022 was $40.9 million all of which was
included in current assets within receivables and contract assets on the consolidated balance sheet. The net gain on these instruments was $26.5
million and $30.8 million, net of tax, and is included in accumulated other comprehensive income as of September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022,
respectively.
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In fiscal 2020 we entered into interest rate swap agreements with a notional value of $769.1 million as of September 29, 2023 to manage the
interest rate exposure on our variable rate loans. Additionally, we entered into a cross-currency swap agreement with a notional value of $127.8
million to manage the interest rate and foreign currency exposure on our USD borrowings by a European subsidiary. By entering into the swap
agreements, the Company converted the LIBOR and SONIA rate based liabilities into fixed rate liabilities and, for the cross currency swap, our LIBOR
rate based borrowing in USD to a fixed rate Euro liability, for periods ranging from three and a half to ten years. During fiscal 2023, the aggregate
liability amounts denominated in U.S. dollars transitioned from underlying LIBOR benchmarked rates to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate
("SOFR") and the terms of the swaps were amended accordingly. The swaps were designated as cash-flow hedges in accordance with ASC 815,
Derivatives and Hedging. See Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies for additional discussion related to the application of SOFR and SONIA to
existing hedge contracts.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company paid down the borrowings hedged by the cross currency swap and settled the cross
currency swap agreement. The fair value of the interest rate swaps at September 29, 2023 was $102.6 million, and the fair value of the interest rate
and cross currency swaps at September 30, 2022 was $128.2 million, which are included in miscellaneous other assets on the consolidated balance
sheet. The unrealized net gain on these interest rate swaps as of September 29, 2023 was $77.2 million, net of tax and the unrealized net gain on the
interest rate and cross currency swaps as of September 30, 2022 was $87.5 million, net of tax, and was included in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Additionally, at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, the Company held foreign exchange forward contracts in currencies that
support our operations, including British Pound, Euro, Australian Dollar and other currencies, with notional values of $857.7 million and $298.2 million
at September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, respectively. The length of these contracts currently ranges from one to four months. The fair value
of the foreign exchange contracts at September 29, 2023 was $9.5 million, of which $16.1 million is included within current assets and $(6.6) million is
included within accounts payable on the consolidated balance sheet as of September 29, 2023. The fair value of the contracts as of September 30,
2022 was $(3.2) million, of which $(6.3) million is included within accounts payable, $2.8 million is included within miscellaneous other assets and
$0.3 million is included within current assets on the consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2022. Associated income statement impacts are
included in miscellaneous income (expense) in the consolidated statements of earnings for both comparative periods. During fiscal 2022, the
Company settled $66.7 million in cash related to certain Australian Dollar foreign exchange forward contracts and subsequently entered into a new
Australian Dollar instrument with an equal notional value which was ultimately settled later in fiscal 2022.

The fair value measurements of these derivatives are being made using Level 2 inputs under ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, as the
measurements are based on observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets. We are exposed to risk from credit-related losses resulting
from nonperformance by counterparties to our financial instruments. We perform credit evaluations of our counterparties under forward exchange and
interest rate contracts and expect all counterparties to meet their obligations. We have not experienced credit losses from our counterparties.

Letters of Credit

At September 29, 2023, the Company had issued and outstanding approximately $322.0 million in LOCs and $2.0 billion in surety bonds. Of
the outstanding LOC amount, $0.9 million has been issued under the Revolving Credit Facility and $321.1 million are issued under separate,
committed and uncommitted letter-of-credit facilities.

18.    Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations and Insurance

In the normal course of business, we make contractual commitments (some of which are supported by separate guarantees) and on occasion
we are a party in a litigation or arbitration proceeding. The litigation or arbitration in which we are involved primarily includes personal injury claims,
professional liability claims and breach of contract claims. Where we provide a separate guarantee, it is strictly in support of the underlying
contractual commitment. Guarantees take various forms including surety bonds required by law, or standby letters of credit ("LOC" and also referred
to as “bank guarantees”) or corporate guarantees given to induce a party to enter into a contract with a subsidiary. Standby LOCs are also used as
security for advance payments or in various other transactions. The guarantees have various expiration dates ranging from an arbitrary date to
completion of our work (e.g., engineering only) to completion of the overall project. See Note 17 - Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative
Financial Instruments for more information surrounding LOCs and surety bonds.
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We maintain insurance coverage for most insurable aspects of our business and operations. Our insurance programs have varying coverage
limits depending upon the type of insurance and include certain conditions and exclusions which insurance companies may raise in response to any
claim that is asserted by or against the Company. We have also elected to retain a portion of certain losses, claims and liabilities that occur through
the use of various deductibles, limits, and retentions under our insurance programs and utilize a number of internal financing mechanisms for these
self insurance arrangements including the operation of certain captive insurance entities. As a result, we may be subject to a future liability for which
we are only partially insured or completely uninsured. We intend to mitigate any such future liability by continuing to exercise prudent business
judgment in negotiating the terms and conditions of the contracts which the Company enters with its clients. Our insurers are also subject to business
risk and, as a result, one or more of them may be unable to fulfill their insurance obligations due to insolvency or otherwise.

Additionally, as a contractor providing services to the U.S. federal government we are subject to many types of audits, investigations and
claims by, or on behalf of, the government including with respect to contract performance, pricing, cost allocations, procurement practices, labor
practices and socioeconomic obligations. Furthermore, our income, franchise and similar tax returns and filings are also subject to audit and
investigation by the Internal Revenue Service, most states within the United States, as well as by various government agencies representing
jurisdictions outside the United States.

Our Consolidated Balance Sheets include amounts representing our probable estimated liability relating to such claims, guarantees, litigation,
audits and investigations. We perform an analysis to determine the level of reserves to establish for insurance-related claims that are known and
have been asserted against us, as well as for insurance-related claims that are believed to have been incurred based on actuarial analysis, but have
not yet been reported to our claims administrators as of the respective balance sheet dates. We include any adjustments to such insurance reserves
in our consolidated results of operations. Insurance recoveries are recorded as assets if recovery is probable and estimated liabilities are not reduced
by expected insurance recoveries.

The Company believes, after consultation with counsel, that such guarantees, litigation, U.S. government contract-related audits,
investigations and claims and income tax audits and investigations should not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
statements, beyond amounts currently accrued.

In 2012, CH2M HILL Australia PTY Limited, a subsidiary of CH2M, entered into a 50/50 integrated joint venture with Australian construction
contractor UGL Infrastructure Pty Limited. The joint venture entered into a Consortium Agreement with General Electric and GE Electrical
International Inc. The Consortium was awarded a subcontract by JKC Australia LNG Pty Limited ("JKC") for the engineering, procurement,
construction and commissioning of a 360 MW Combined Cycle Power Plant for INPEX Operations Australia Pty Limited at Blaydin Point, Darwin, NT,
Australia (the "Legacy CH2M Matter"). The subcontract was terminated in January 2017. In or around August 2017, the Consortium commenced an
arbitration. On April 12, 2022, JKC and the Consortium entered into a confidential deed of settlement (“Settlement Agreement”). Under the terms of
the Settlement Agreement, CH2M, as guarantor of CH2M Australia PTY Limited’s obligations with respect to the subcontract with JKC, made a cash
payment to JKC in April 2022 of AUD 640 million (or approximately $475 million using mid-April 2022 exchange rates). As a result of the settlement
agreement, additional pre-tax charges of $91.3 million were recorded during the year ended September 30, 2022 for this matter (over amounts
previously reserved and reported in long-term Other Deferred Liabilities in the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet). The Settlement Agreement
provided for a release of claims between JKC and each member of the Consortium, and in connection with this agreement the members of the
Consortium also waived all claims against each other and their respective parent guarantors relating to the project.

On December 22, 2008, a coal fly ash pond at the Kingston Power Plant of the Tennessee Valley Authority ("TVA") was breached, releasing
fly ash waste into the Emory River and surrounding community. In February 2009, TVA awarded a contract to the Company to provide project
management services associated with the clean-up. All remediation and dredging were completed in August 2013 by other contractors under direct
contracts with TVA. The Company did not perform the remediation, and its scope was limited to program management services. Certain employees of
the contractors performing the cleanup work on the project filed lawsuits against the Company beginning in August 2013, alleging they were injured
due to the Company's failure to protect the plaintiffs from exposure to fly ash, and asserting related personal injuries. The primary case, Greg
Adkisson, et al. v. Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., case No. 3:13-CV-505-TAV-HBG, filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of
Tennessee, consisted of 10 consolidated cases. This case and the related cases involved several hundred plaintiffs that were employees of the
contractors that completed the remediation and dredging work. In the second quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company entered into a settlement
agreement with the plaintiffs whose cases had not been previously dismissed. As of the third quarter of fiscal 2023, all conditions to the settlement
had been satisfied, and the cases dismissed. The amount of the settlement was not material to the Company's business, financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2022, the Company recorded a receivable for certain expected third-party recoveries equal to approximately
$27 million before tax. The Company received the payment during fiscal 2023.

19.    Segment Information

During the first quarter of fiscal 2023, the Company reorganized its operating and reporting structure to report results under a new operating
segment, Divergent Solutions, in addition to the current operating segments. The Company's four operating segments are now comprised of its two
global lines of business ("LOBs"): Critical Mission Solutions ("CMS") and People & Places Solutions ("P&PS"), its business unit Divergent Solutions
("DVS") and its majority investment in PA Consulting. The formation of the DVS operating segment resulted in certain portions of our CMS and P&PS
businesses moving to the new segment.

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) and can evaluate the performance of each of these
segments and make appropriate resource allocations among each of the segments. For purposes of the Company’s goodwill impairment testing, it
has been determined that the Company’s operating segments are also its reporting units based on management’s conclusion that the components
comprising each of its operating segments share similar economic characteristics and meet the aggregation criteria for reporting units in accordance
with ASC 350, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other.

Under this organization, the sales function is managed by segment, and accordingly, the associated cost is embedded in the segments and
reported to the respective head of each segment. In addition, a portion of the costs of other support functions (e.g., finance, legal, human resources,
and information technology) is allocated to each LOB using methodologies which, we believe, effectively attribute the cost of these support functions
to the revenue generating activities of the Company on a rational basis. The cost of the Company’s cash incentive plan, the Leadership Performance
Plan ("LPP"), formerly named the Management Incentive Plan, and the expense associated with the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 2023 Stock
Incentive Plan have likewise been charged to the LOBs except for those amounts determined to relate to the business as a whole (which amounts
remain in other corporate expenses).

Financial information for each segment is reviewed by the CODM to assess performance and make decisions regarding the allocation of
resources. The CODM evaluates the operating performance of our operating segments using segment operating profit, which is defined as
consolidated operating profit less “corporate charges” (e.g., the allocated amounts described above). The Company incurs certain SG&A that relate to
its business as a whole which are not allocated to the segments.

The following tables present total revenues and segment operating profit from continuing operations for each reportable segment (in
thousands) and includes a reconciliation of segment operating profit to total U.S. GAAP operating profit by including certain corporate-level expenses,
Restructuring and other charges (as defined in Note 16-Restructuring and Other Charges) and transaction and integration costs (in thousands).

For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Revenues from External Customers:
Critical Mission Solutions $ 4,693,499 $ 4,376,562 $ 4,251,690 
People & Places Solutions 9,553,857 8,534,650 8,364,640 
Divergent Solutions 946,914 892,317 848,901 
PA Consulting 1,158,144 1,119,296 627,401 
              Total $ 16,352,414 $ 14,922,825 $ 14,092,632 
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For the Years Ended
September 29, 2023 September 30, 2022 October 1, 2021

Segment Operating Profit:
Critical Mission Solutions $ 378,201 $ 355,563 $ 359,001 
People & Places Solutions (1) 957,714 824,834 780,514 
Divergent Solutions 81,768 67,552 88,026 
PA Consulting 237,003 232,225 151,071 

Total Segment Operating Profit 1,654,686 1,480,174 1,378,612 
Other Corporate Expenses (2) (427,053) (364,440) (340,129)
Restructuring, Transaction and Other Charges (3) (152,396) (197,884) (350,394)

Total U.S. GAAP Operating Profit 1,075,237 917,850 688,089 
Total Other (Expense) Income, net (4) (158,558) (41,503) 7,513 

Earnings from Continuing Operations Before Taxes $ 916,679 $ 876,347 $ 695,602 

(1) Includes $19.5 million, net, in charges related to a legal settlement for the year ended October 1, 2021.
(2) Other corporate expenses include intangibles amortization of $203.9 million, $198.6 million and $149.8 million for the years ended

September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1, 2021, respectively, with the comparative increase from fiscal 2021 to fiscal 2022
mainly attributable to higher amortization from the PA Consulting investment. Additionally, fiscal 2023 included approximately $15.0 million in
net favorable impacts from cost reductions compared to the prior year period, which was associated mainly with net favorable impacts during
first quarter from changes in employee benefit programs of $41.0 million offset by approximately $26.0 million in higher spend in company
technology platforms and other personnel and corporate cost increases.

(3) Fiscal 2023 includes $63.4 million relating to the activities (mainly professional services and employee separation costs, spread across all
segments) around the CMS separation and $14.3 million in restructuring and other charges relating to the Company's investment in PA
Consulting (primarily employee separation costs). Included in the years ended September 29, 2023, September 30, 2022 and October 1,
2021 were $48.2 million, $78.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively, in charges associated mainly with real estate impairments. Included in
the year ended September 30, 2022 is $91.3 million pre-tax related to the final settlement of the Legacy CH2M Matter and net of previously
recorded reserves and approximately $27 million in third party recoveries that was recorded as receivables reducing SG&A. Included in the
year ended October 1, 2021 is $297.8 million of costs incurred in connection with the investment in PA Consulting, in part classified as
compensation costs.

(4) The year ended September 30, 2022 included a $13.9 million gain related to a cost method investment sold during the period and a gain of
$8.7 million related to lease terminations. The year ended October 1, 2021 included $34.7 million in fair value adjustments related to our
investment in Worley stock (net of Worley stock dividends) and certain foreign currency revaluations relating to ECR sale proceeds, $(38.5)
million related to impairment of our AWE Management Ltd. investment and $49.6 million in fair value adjustments related to our investment in
C3 stock. The investments in Worley and C3 were sold in fiscal 2021 and therefore there are no comparable amounts in fiscal 2022 or 2023.
Additionally, the increase in net interest expense from fiscal 2021 to fiscal 2022 is primarily due to the higher levels of debt outstanding due to
the funding of the StreetLight and BlackLynx acquisitions and increased borrowings associated with the payment of the Legacy CH2M Matter
settlement in fiscal 2022, in addition to higher interest rates. The increase in net interest expense from fiscal 2022 to fiscal 2023 is due
primarily to higher interest rates.

Included in other corporate expenses in the above table are costs and expenses which relate to general corporate activities as well as
corporate-managed benefit and insurance programs. Such costs and expenses include: (i) those elements of SG&A expenses relating to the
business as a whole; (ii) those elements of our incentive compensation plans relating to corporate personnel whose other compensation costs are not
allocated to the LOBs; (iii) the amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations; (iv) the quarterly variances between the
Company’s actual costs of certain of its self-insured integrated risk and employee benefit programs and amounts charged to the LOBs; and (v) certain
adjustments relating to costs associated with the Company’s international defined benefit pension plans. In addition, other corporate expenses may
also include from time to time certain adjustments to contract margins (both positive and negative) associated with projects, as well as other items,
where it has been determined that such adjustments are not indicative of the performance of the related LOB.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Jacobs Solutions Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Jacobs Solutions Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of September 29, 2023
and September 30, 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of
the three fiscal years in the period ended September 29, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at
September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period
ended September 29, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of September 29, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated November 21, 2023
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing
separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Revenue Recognition for Certain Fixed-Price Engineering, Procurement and Construction Contracts

Description of the
Matter

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognizes engineering, procurement and
construction contract revenue over time, as performance obligations are satisfied, using the percentage-of-completion
method (an input method) based primarily on contract costs incurred to date compared to total estimated contract costs.
Revenue recognition under this method is judgmental, as it requires the Company to prepare estimates of total contract
revenue and total contract costs, including costs to complete in-process contracts.

Auditing the Company’s estimates of total contract revenue and costs used to recognize revenue on certain fixed-price
engineering, procurement and construction contracts which are larger in size involved significant auditor judgment, as it
required the evaluation of subjective factors, such as assumptions related to estimated labor, material and subcontractor
costs. These assumptions involved significant management judgment, which affects the measurement of revenue
recognized by the Company.

How We Addressed
the Matter in Our
Audit

We tested certain of the Company’s controls over the estimation process that affect revenue recognized on fixed-price
engineering, procurement and construction contracts. For example, we tested controls over management’s monitoring and
review of project cost estimates, including the Company’s procedures to validate the completeness and accuracy of the
data used to determine the estimates.

To test the Company’s contract estimates related to revenues recognized on fixed-price engineering, procurement, and
construction projects, our audit procedures included selecting a sample of projects and, among other procedures, we
obtained and inspected related contract agreements, amendments, and change orders to test the existence of customer
arrangements and understand the scope and pricing of the related projects; observed selected project team status
meetings at the Company and interviewed project team personnel to obtain an understanding of the status of operational
performance and progress on the related projects; evaluated the reasonableness of the Company’s estimated costs to
complete by obtaining and analyzing supporting documentation for a sample of cost estimate components; and compared
contract profitability estimates in the current year to historical estimates and actual performance for the same projects.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Description of the
Matter

As of September 29, 2023, the balance of redeemable noncontrolling interest relating to the Company’s PA Consulting
subsidiary was $633.0 million. As discussed in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, the redeemable
noncontrolling interests are subject to remeasurement as of the balance sheet date based on the greater of the redemption
value or the historical value resulting from the original acquisition date fair value plus the impact of any earnings or loss
attribution amounts, including dividends. The redemption value is based on the fair value of PA Consulting, which is
determined using a combination of a discounted cash flow analysis based upon projected financial information and a
multiple of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

Auditing the Company’s redeemable noncontrolling interest balance requires significant judgment, as the valuation of the
redemption value includes subjective estimates and assumptions. In particular, the discounted cash flow analysis used in
determining the redemption value is sensitive to significant assumptions such as projections of revenue and earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. These assumptions are forward looking and could be affected by
future economic conditions.
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How We Addressed
the Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the
Company’s determination of the redemption value, including controls over management’s review of the significant
assumptions described above.

To test the redemption value, our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating the Company's valuation
methodologies, performing recalculations of the model, and testing the significant assumptions described above and the
underlying data used by the Company. We compared the significant assumptions used by management to current industry
trends and historical performance. We performed sensitivity analyses of significant assumptions to evaluate the change in
the redemption value resulting from changes in the significant assumptions. We also involved our valuation specialists to
assist in evaluating the valuation methodologies and certain assumptions used by the Company.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 1987.

Dallas, Texas

November 21, 2023



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Jacobs Solutions Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Jacobs Solutions Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of September 29, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Jacobs Solutions Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of September 29, 2023, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of September 29, 2023 and September 30, 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings,
comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended September 29, 2023, and the
related notes and our report dated November 21, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are
a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas

November 21, 2023



Exhibit 21        

JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC.

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

    The following table sets forth all subsidiaries of the Company but may not include those subsidiaries that, when considered in the aggregate, would
not constitute a significant subsidiary.

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., a corporation of Delaware…………………………………... 100.00%
Jacobs Government Services Company, a corporation of California 100.00%
Jacobs Engineering Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%
Jacobs Group Australia Investments Pty Ltd., a corporation of Australia…………….. 100.00%
Jacobs Australia Holdings Company Pty Ltd., a corporation of Australia 100.00%
Sinclair Knight Merz Management Pty Ltd., a corporation of Australia 100.00%
Jacobs Group Australia Holding Ltd., a corporation of Australia 100.00%
Jacobs Group (Australia) Pty Ltd., a corporation of Australia 100.00%
Aquenta Consulting Pty Ltd., a corporation of Australia……………….. 100.00%
Jacobs E&C Australia Pty Ltd., a corporation of Australia 100.00%
                        Jacobs Project Management Australia Pty Ltd., a corporation of Australia    100.00%
Jacobs Architecture (Australia) Pty Ltd., a corporation of Australia 100.00%
Jacobs (Thailand) Co., Ltd., a corporation of Thailand 49.00%
Jacobs Projects (Philippines) Inc., a corporation of the Philippines 100.00%
Sinclair Knight Merz (Ireland) Ltd., a corporation of the Republic of Ireland.. 100.00%
Sinclair Knight Merz (Kenya) Limited, a corporation of Kenya……….. 100.00%
Jacobs New Zealand Limited, a corporation of New Zealand 100.00%
PT Jacobs Group Indonesia, a corporation of Indonesia 99.50%
                Sinclair Knight Merz International Holdings LLC, a limited liability company of

Delaware…………………………………………………………………………
100.00%

Jacobs Engineering Group Malaysia Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia… 100.00%
Perunding Mahir Bersatu Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia…    .. 100.00%
Jacobs Engineering Services Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia… 100.00%
Jacobs Consulting Services Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia… 100.00%
                Sinclair Knight Merz (Hong Kong) Limited, a corporation of Hong Kong    …. 100.00%
                    Sinclair Knight Merz International (Hong Kong) Ltd, a corporation of Hong Kong        100.00%
Jacobs Korea Limited, a Republic of Korea corporation………………………………… 100.00%
CODE International Assurance Ltd., a corporation of Nevada 100.00%
CODE II International Assurance Ltd., a corporation of Vermont……………………….. 100.00%
Jacobs Engineering España, S.L.U., a corporation of Spain 100.00%
Jacobs Europe Holdco Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%
Jacobs NL B.V., a corporation of the Netherlands……………………………… 100.00%
                           Jacobs Solutions Hellas S.A., a Societas Europaea of Greece………….. 100.00%
Jacobs Services Suomi Oy, a limited liability company of Finland……………. 100.00%
Jacobs Danmark ApS, a Denmark corporation………………………………….. 100.00%
Jacobs UK Holdings Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%
Jacobs Switzerland GmbH, a corporation of Switzerland 100.00%
Jacobs U.K. Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%

    



        

Energy, Safety and Risk Consultants (UK) Limited, a corporation of
                                       England and Wales…………………………………………………..

100.00%

Jacobs Clean Energy International Limited, a corporation of
                                        England and Wales…………………………………………………

100.00%

Jacobs Clean Energy Limited, a corporation of England
                                       and Wales……………………………………………………………. 100.00%
Jacobs E&C Limited, a corporation of England and Wales……… 100.00%
National Nuclear Corporation Limited, a corporation of England
                                            and Wales…………………………………………………………..

100.00%

Jacobs Field Services Limited, a corporation of England and Wales.. 100.00%
Jacobs Solutions India Private Ltd., a corporation of India 100.00%
Jacobs GMBH, a corporation of Germany…………………………. 100.00%
Jacobs Stobbarts Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%
Jacobs Engineering U.K. Ltd., a corporation of England and Wales………. 100.00%
Jacobs One Limited, a corporation of Scotland 100.00%
Jacobs China Limited, a Hong Kong corporation 100.00%
BEAR Scotland Limited, a corporation of Scotland 25.00%
Growing Concern Scotland Limited, a corporation of
                                                     England and Wales…………………………………………

100.00%

                            Ringway Jacobs Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 50.00%
JacobsGIBB Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%
Jacobs Engineering Ireland Limited, a corporation of the Republic of Ireland 100.00%
Jacobs Italia, SpA, a corporation of Italy 100.00%
Jacobs International Limited, a corporation of the Republic of Ireland 100.00%
Jacobs Nucléaire SAS, a corporation of France 100.00%
Jacobs Belgium B.V., a corporation of Belgium………………………………………. 100.00%
Jacobs Brazil Limited Inc. a corporation of Texas 100.00%
JEG Acquisition Company Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%
Defence Contractor Management and Operations Limited, a corporation of England
             and Wales…………………………….

24.50%

    Jacobs Puerto Rico Inc., a corporation of Puerto Rico    100.00%
Jacobs Holdings Singapore Pte. Limited, a corporation of Singapore 100.00%
Jacobs International Consultants Pte. Ltd. a corporation of Singapore……………. 100.00%
Jacobs Canada Holding Company, a corporation of California…………………………. 100.00%
Jacobs Consultancy Canada Inc., a corporation of Canada………………………… 100.00%
Jacobs Advisers, Inc., a corporation of California 100.00%
Jacobs Civil Consultants Inc., a corporation of New York 100.00%
Jacobs Technology Inc., a corporation of Tennessee 100.00%
Blacklynx Inc., a corporation of Delaware………………………………………………… 100.00%
Blue Canopy Group, LLC, a limited liability company of Virginia……………………….. 100.00%
Buffalo Group LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware……………………………... 100.00%
Federal Network Systems LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 100.00%
Jacobs Aerospace Test Operations LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware……. 100.00%
Jacobs Australia Pty limited, a corporation of Australia 100.00%
Jacobs Telecommunications, Inc., a corporation of New Jersey……………………….. 100.00%
The KeyW Holding Corporation, a corporation of Maryland 100.00%
The KeyW Corporation, a corporation of Maryland…………………………………… 100.00%
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Automotive Testing Operations, LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 100.00%
Hanford Progress EcoPartners, LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware………… 35.00%
Jacobs Engineering New York Inc., a corporation of New York 100.00%
Iffland Kavanagh Waterbury, P.L.L.C., a limited liability company of New York 100.00%
Jacobs Project Management Co., a corporation Delaware 100.00%
JE Associates, Inc., a corporation of Missouri 100.00%
Bechtel Jacobs Company LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 40.00%
LeighFisher Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%
LeighFisher Canada Inc., a corporation of Canada 100.00%
LeighFisher Holdings Ltd. a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%
LeighFisher Ltd., a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%
KlingStubbins Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%
Sverdrup Asia Limited, a corporation of India 100.00%
Jacobs Engineering and Construction (Thailand) Limited, a corporation of Thailand……. 99.98%
Mission Support & Test Services, LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware……………. 37.00%
Streetlight Data, Inc., a corporation of Delaware……………………………………………….. 100.00%
CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%
CH2M HILL, Inc., a corporation of Florida 100.00%
CH2M HILL New York, Inc., a corporation of New York………………………. 100.00%
Halcrow, Inc., a corporation of Delaware….…………………………………… 100.00%
CH2M HILL Constructors, Inc., a corporation of Delaware………………………………… 100.00%
CH2M Facility Support Services, LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware… 100.00%
CH2M HILL Plateau Remediation Company, a corporation of Washington…… 100.00%
CH2M HILL International, Ltd., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%
CH2M HILL (India) Private Limited, a corporation of India..…………………… 90.00%
CH2M HILL International Engineering, Inc., a corporation of Delaware…….. 100.00%
CH2M HILL One Limited, a corporation of England and Wales....……………. 100.00%
CH2M HILL Holdings Limited, a corporation of England and Wales…..………. 100.00%
CH2M HILL Europe Limited, a corporation of England and Wales…..…... 100.00%
Halcrow Holdings Limited, a corporation of England and Wales……. 100.00%
Halcrow Consulting Limited, a corporation of England
                                             and Wales…….……………………………………………………

100.00%

Halcrow Group Limited, a corporation of England and
                                                Wales………..…………………………………………………..

100.00%

Halcrow International Limited, a corporation of England
                                                and Wales……..………………………………………………….

100.00%

Halcrow Consulting India Pvt Limited, a corporation of India…. 62.94%
CHNG B.V., a corporation of the Netherlands……………………………..… 100.00%
CH2M HILL Netherlands Holding B.V., a corporation of the
                                        Netherlands……………………………………………………………..

100.00%

CH2M HILL Canada Limited, a corporation of Canada…………… 100.00%
CH2M HILL International B.V., a corporation of the Netherlands.. 100.00%
CH2M HILL Arabia Co. Ltd., a limited liability company of Saudi
                                               Arabia……………………………………………………………..

90.00%

CH2M Saudi Limited, a limited liability company of Saudi
                                                Arabia……………………………………………………………

75.00%

CH2M HILL International Nuclear Services Limited……………. 100.00%

    



        

CH2M HILL Singapore Pte. Ltd., a corporation of Singapore…………… 100.00%
CH2M HILL United Kingdom, a corporation of England and Wales..……. 100.00%
Jacobs Sverige Aktiebolag, a corporation of Sweden……………… 100.00%
CH2M HILL International Services, Inc., a corporation of Oregon……………………. 100.00%
Operations Management International, Inc., a corporation of California………….....… 100.00%
CH2M HILL Global, Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%
                     CH2M HILL Engineers, Inc., a corporation of Delaware    100.00%
Jacobs Solutions Puerto Rico, Inc., a corporation of Delaware………………. 100.00%
CH2M HILL Constructors International, Inc., a corporation of Delaware………………. 100.00%
PA Holdings Limited, a corporation of England and Wales……………………………………. 65.00%



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-269605) of Jacobs Solutions Inc.
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-264663) pertaining to Jacobs Solutions Inc. (StreetLight) 2011 Stock

Plan, as amended and restated,
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-195708, 333-187677, 333-107344, 333-123448, 333-157014, and

333-38974) pertaining to the Jacobs Solutions Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated,
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-38984 and 333-209860) pertaining to the Jacobs Solutions Inc.

1999 Outside Director Stock Plan, as amended and restated,
(5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-157015, 333-216176, 333-01317, 333-72977 and 333-60296)

pertaining to the Jacobs Solutions Inc. 1989 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated, and
(6) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-222084) pertaining to the CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. Amended

and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended.

of our reports dated November 21, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Jacobs Solutions Inc. and
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Jacobs Solutions Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-
K) for the year ended September 29, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Dallas, Texas
November 21, 2023

        



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Bob Pragada, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Jacobs Solutions Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/Robert V. Pragada
Robert V. Pragada
Chief Executive Officer
 
November 21, 2023



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Claudia Jaramillo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Jacobs Solutions Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/Claudia Jaramillo
Claudia Jaramillo
Chief Financial Officer
 
November 21, 2023



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Jacobs Solutions Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended September 29, 2023
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Bob Pragada, Chief Executive Officer of the Company
(principal executive officer), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the information contained
in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/Robert V. Pragada
Robert V. Pragada
Chief Executive Officer
 
November 21, 2023

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Jacobs Solutions Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended September 29, 2023
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Claudia Jaramillo, Chief Financial Officer of the Company
(principal financial officer), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the information contained
in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/Claudia Jaramillo
Claudia Jaramillo
Chief Financial Officer
November 21, 2023

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 97

JACOBS SOLUTIONS INC.
EXECUTIVE CLAWBACK POLICY

I. BACKGROUND

    Jacobs Solutions Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this policy (this “Policy”) to provide for the recovery or “clawback” of certain incentive compensation
in the event of a Restatement (as defined below). This Policy is intended to comply with, and will be interpreted to be consistent with, the requirements of
Section 303A.14 of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) Listed Company Manual. Certain terms used in this Policy are defined in Section VIII below.

II. STATEMENT OF POLICY

    The Company shall recover reasonably promptly the amount of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation in the event that the Company is
required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the
securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously
issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current
period (a “Restatement”).

    The Company shall recover erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation in compliance with this Policy except to the extent provided under
Section V below.

III. SCOPE OF POLICY

    A. Covered Persons and Recovery Period. This Policy applies to Incentive-Based Compensation received by a person:

• after beginning service as an Executive Officer,
• who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the performance period for that Incentive-Based Compensation,
• while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange, and
• during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement (the “Recovery

Period”).

    Notwithstanding this look-back requirement, the Company is only required to apply this Policy to Incentive-Based Compensation received on or after
September 30, 2023.

    For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation shall be deemed “received” in the Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial
Reporting Measure (as defined herein) specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the Incentive-Based
Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

    B. Transition Period. In addition to the Recovery Period, this Policy applies to any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal
year) within or immediately following the Recovery Period (a “Transition Period”), provided that a Transition Period between the last day of the Company’s
previous fiscal year end and the first day of the Company’s new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine to 12 months will be deemed a completed fiscal
year.

    C. Determining Recovery Period. For purposes of determining the relevant Recovery Period, the date that the Company is required to prepare the
Restatement is the earlier to occur of:
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• the date the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”), a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take
such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement,
and

• the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare a Restatement.

    For clarity, the Company’s obligation to recover erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation under this Policy is not dependent on if or when a
Restatement is filed.

IV. AMOUNT SUBJECT TO RECOVERY

    A. Recoverable Amount. The amount of Incentive-Based Compensation subject to recovery under this Policy is the amount of Incentive-Based
Compensation received that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have been received had it been determined based on
the restated amounts, computed without regard to any taxes paid.

    B. Covered Compensation Based on Stock Price or TSR. For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return (“TSR”),
where the amount of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in a
Restatement, the recoverable amount shall be determined based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the stock price or TSR upon
which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received. In such event, the Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable
estimate and provide such documentation to NYSE.

V. EXCEPTIONS

    The Company shall recover erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation in compliance with this Policy except to the extent that the conditions set
out below are met and the Human Resource and Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Committee”) has made a
determination that recovery would be impracticable:

    A. Direct Expense Exceeds Recoverable Amount. The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the amount to be
recovered; provided, however, that before concluding it would be impracticable to recover any amount of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based
Compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company shall make a reasonable attempt to recover such erroneously awarded Incentive-Based
Compensation, document such reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and provide that documentation to NYSE.

    C. Recovery from Certain Tax-Qualified Retirement Plans. Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits
are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

VI. PROHIBITION AGAINST INDEMNIFICATION

    Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification arrangement or insurance policy with any individual covered by this Policy, the Company shall not
indemnify any Executive Officer or former Executive Officer against the loss of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation, including any
payment or reimbursement for the cost of insurance obtained by any such covered individual to fund amounts recoverable under this Policy.

VII. DISCLOSURE

    The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy and recoveries under this Policy in accordance with the requirements of the U.S. Federal
securities laws,
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including the disclosure required by the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings.

VIII. DEFINITIONS

    Unless the context otherwise requires, the following definitions apply for purposes of this Policy:
    
    “Executive Officer” means the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the
controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any
other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar policymaking functions for the Company. Executive officers
of the Company’s subsidiaries are deemed Executive Officers of the Company if they perform such policy-making functions for the Company. Policy-
making function is not intended to include policymaking functions that are not significant. Identification of an Executive Officer for purposes of this Policy
will include at a minimum executive officers identified pursuant to 17 CFR 229.401(b).

    “Financial Reporting Measures” means any of the following: (i) measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles
used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures, (ii) stock price and (iii) TSR.
A Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC.

    “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial
Reporting Measure.

IX. ADMINISTRATION; AMENDMENT; TERMINATION.

    All determinations under this Policy will be made by the Committee, including determinations regarding how any recovery under this Policy is effected.
Any determinations of the Committee will be final, binding and conclusive and need not be uniform with respect to each individual covered by this Policy.

    The Committee may amend this Policy from time to time and may terminate this Policy at any time, in each case in its sole discretion.

X. EFFECTIVENESS; OTHER RECOUPMENT RIGHTS

    This Policy shall be effective as of September 30, 2023. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies
or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates under applicable law or pursuant to the terms of any similar
policy or similar provision in any employment agreement, equity award agreement or similar agreement.

    -3-


